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MINUTES OF THE  
SENATE COMMITTEE ON FINANCE 

 
Seventy-fourth Session 

May 4, 2007 
 
 
The Senate Committee on Finance was called to order by 
Chair William J. Raggio at 8:44 a.m. on Friday, May 4, 2007, in Room 2134 of 
the Legislative Building, Carson City, Nevada. Exhibit A is the Agenda. Exhibit B 
is the Attendance Roster. All exhibits are available and on file in the Research 
Library of the Legislative Counsel Bureau. 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Senator William J. Raggio, Chair 
Senator Bob Beers, Vice Chair 
Senator Dean A. Rhoads 
Senator Barbara K. Cegavske 
Senator Bob Coffin 
Senator Dina Titus 
Senator Bernice Mathews 
 
 
GUEST LEGISLATORS PRESENT: 
 
Senator Terry Care, Clark County Senatorial District No. 7 
Senator Steven A. Horsford, Clark County Senatorial District No. 4 
 
STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Gary L. Ghiggeri, Senate Fiscal Analyst 
Cynthia Clampitt, Committee Secretary 
 
OTHERS PRESENT: 
 
Jean Gunter, Manager, Office of Vital Records, Bureau of Health Planning and 

Statistics, Health Division, Department of Health and Human Services    
Louise Bush, Chief, Child Support Enforcement, Division of Welfare and 

Supportive Services, Department of Health and Human Services  
Lawrence Casey, Executive Director, Nevada Commission on Homeland Security 
Morgan Baumgartner, Nevada Resort Association 
Tom Porta, P.E., Deputy Administrator, Division of Environmental Protection, 

State Department of Conservation and Natural Resources 
Richard J. Yeoman, Administrative Services Officer, Nevada Department of 

Transportation 
Paul Sawyer, Oregon, Nevada, California Emigrant Trail Association 
Acting Major Mark Woods, Executive Officer, Division of Parole and Probation, 

Department of Public Safety  
Tray Abney, Legislative Director, Office of the Governor 
Andrew Clinger, Director, Department of Administration 
Leo Drozdoff, P.E., Administrator, Division of Environmental Protection, State 

Department of Conservation and Natural Resources   
Gary Stagliano, Deputy Administrator, Program and Field Operations, Division of 

Welfare and Supportive Services, Department of Health and Human 
Services 
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Senate Committee on Finance 
May 4, 2007 
Page 5 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
Is the amendment you are discussing already incorporated into the first reprint 
of S.B. 90, or would this be an additional amendment? 
 
MR. CASEY: 
The amendment is not included in the first reprint. It is my understanding it was 
sent to the Legislative Counsel Bureau by Senator Nolan's staff yesterday. 
 
GARY L. GHIGGERI (Senate Fiscal Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division, Legislative 

Counsel Bureau): 
I received a copy of the amendment last evening during a meeting. I have not 
had an opportunity to review its contents. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
The original fiscal note was nominal. It requested $11,400 annually. We will 
await staff's review and report to the Committee as to whether or not the fiscal 
note is removed in its entirety. It is only fair the nonvoting members should 
receive at least some compensation. 
 
I hereby close the hearing on S.B. 90 and open the hearing on S.B. 123. This 
measure was heard in the Senate Committee on Government Affairs. We are 
reviewing a first reprint of the bill. 
 
SENATE BILL 123 (1st Reprint): Makes various changes to provisions relating to 

public records. (BDR 19-462) 
 
SENATOR CARE: 
The focus of S.B. 123 is found in sections 1 through 10. Sections 11 and 
forward make reference to section 6 which provides that after 30 years, with 
the exception of gaming documents, there is a presumption the records would 
be open to public inspection. It is a rebuttal presumption, that the holder of the 
records can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the court, the records should 
remain sealed. That language affects a number of entities and is the reason for 
the length of the measure. 
 
Senators Beers, Townsend and I sat on a subcommittee that took public 
testimony twice on this bill. It was again discussed during a work session of the 
Senate Committee on Government Affairs. The measure was passed in its 
amended form. 
 
A number of entities participated in the hearings. Many fears concerning the 
original language of the bill had to be alleviated. To my knowledge, the fears 
have been addressed and the measure now has the approval of most of those 
entities. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
At the time the Senate Committee on Government Affairs passed S.B. 123, it 
was well accepted. Is this the bill that excludes the application for licensing 
under the Gaming Control Board from being opened after 30 years? 
 
SENATOR CARE: 
Yes, sir. That is found in section 6, subsection 3. 
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Senate Committee on Finance 
May 4, 2007 
Page 6 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
I believe there is a request for an amendment to S.B. 123. Was the sponsor of 
the bill informed of the minor amendment proposed? 
 
SENATOR CARE: 
Yes, sir.  
 
MORGAN BAUMGARTNER (Nevada Resort Association): 
This is a simple amendment to section 6 of S.B. 123 (1st Reprint). The 
language in the first reprint only excluded that information submitted pursuant 
to an application being submitted. It would not cover a license holder and all 
currently confidential information as specified in NRS 463.120. The amendment 
would ensure all gaming control records currently considered confidential would 
remain confidential. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
The amendment under section 6, subsection 3, would read, "The provisions of 
subsection 1 do not apply to any book or record declared confidential pursuant 
to subsection 4 of NRS 463.120." 
 
MS. BAUMGARTNER: 
That is correct. Chapter 463 of the NRS is the gaming control chapter. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
The amendment would include not only applicants but persons who are 
licensed? 
 
MS. BAUMGARTNER: 
There is an articulated list of confidential information in NRS 463.120. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
Is the proposed amendment acceptable to the sponsor of S.B. 123? 
 
SENATOR CARE: 
I concur. That is consistent with the sentiment of the original committee. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
Does the bill involve the Legislature in any way? 
 
SENATOR CARE: 
It does not. This bill does not change in any way the status of documents 
already deemed confidential.  
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
My next question is concerning board memberships consisting of private and 
public entities. Have we drawn in any organizations such as Las Vegas Events, 
development authorities and others?  
 
SENATOR CARE: 
I have had discussions previously about Las Vegas Events. It is not a 
governmental entity, or a private entity, that holds a contract to perform a 
governmental service. Those documents would not be available for public 
inspection. This bill does not implicate, in any way, the Open Meeting Law. 
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Senate Committee on Finance 
May 4, 2007 
Page 7 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
The Committee will consider the fiscal notes if the measure is passed. There are 
a number of fiscal notes attached to the original bill. One by the 
Nevada Commission on Homeland Security was minimal. The Office of 
the Attorney General and the Office of the Secretary of State had substantial 
fiscal notes. The Department of Health and Human Services indicated 
substantial loss of revenue as a result of S.B. 123. 
 
TOM PORTA, P.E. (Deputy Administrator, Division of Environmental Protection, 

Department of Conservation and Natural Resources):   
The amendments that have been provided allow the Division of Environmental 
Protection to withdraw our fiscal note. 
 
RICHARD J. YEOMAN (Administrative Services Officer, Nevada Department of 

Transportation): 
I am the custodian of records for the Nevada Department of Transportation 
(NDOT). We worked with Senator Care and the subcommittee which alleviated 
many of our concerns. However, our fiscal note is minor. We feel two additional 
positions will be needed to address the bill requirements. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
Has the NDOT submitted a new fiscal note to that effect? 
 
MR. YEOMAN: 
The original fiscal note from the NDOT includes that request. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
Staff, please contact the other agencies that have submitted fiscal notes on this 
measure, and who are not present at this hearing, to determine the status of 
their fiscal notes with the first reprint of S.B. 123. 
 
I hereby close the hearing on S.B. 123 and open the hearing on S.B. 215. This 
bill requests an appropriation to Elko County for acquisition and maintenance of 
exhibits for the California Trail Interpretive Center.  
 
SENATE BILL 215: Makes an appropriation to Elko County for the acquisition 

and maintenance of exhibits for the California Trail Interpretive Center. 
(BDR S-884) 

 
SENATOR RHOADS: 
I am pleased to tell the Committee the California Trail Interpretive Center is 
under construction. Mr. Paul Sawyer, the inspiration for the project, is present. 
 
PAUL SAWYER (Oregon, Nevada, California Emigrant Trail Association):  
I have provided a packet of information (Exhibit D) in support of the request in 
S.B. 215. The bill relates to the funding of some of the interpretive exhibits for 
the California Trail Interpretive Center located approximately eight miles west of 
Elko. 
 
Currently, the site improvements, the infrastructure items and building are under 
construction on a 40-acre site, and a road easement has been donated by the 
Bill Searle family of the Maggie Creek Ranch. The underlying mineral estates 
have also been donated by several parties. The contract for this portion of the 
project is $9.4 million and it is being fulfilled by the West Coast Contractors of 
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MINUTES OF THE  
SENATE COMMITTEE ON JUDICIARY 

 
Seventy-fourth Session 

May 11, 2007 
 
 
The Senate Committee on Judiciary was called to order by 
Chair Mark E. Amodei at 9:06 a.m. on Friday, May 11, 2007, in Room 2149 of 
the Legislative Building, Carson City, Nevada. The meeting was 
videoconferenced to the Grant Sawyer State Office Building, Room 4412, 
555 East Washington Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada. Exhibit A is the Agenda. 
Exhibit B is the Attendance Roster. All exhibits are available and on file in the 
Research Library of the Legislative Counsel Bureau. 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Senator Mark E. Amodei, Chair 
Senator Maurice E. Washington, Vice Chair 
Senator Mike McGinness 
Senator Dennis Nolan 
Senator Valerie Wiener 
Senator Terry Care 
Senator Steven A. Horsford 
 
GUEST LEGISLATORS PRESENT: 
 
Assemblywoman Valerie E. Weber, Assembly District No. 5 
 
STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Linda J. Eissmann, Committee Policy Analyst 
Brad Wilkinson, Chief Deputy Legislative Counsel 
Gale Maynard, Committee Secretary 
 
OTHERS PRESENT: 
 
Ken Lightfoot, Director of Loss Prevention, Scolari's Food and Drug Company 
Lea Lipscomb, Retail Association of Nevada 
Samuel P. McMullen, Retail Association of Nevada 
Jesse Wadhams, American Insurance Association 
Jeanette K. Belz, Property Casualty Insurers Association of America 
Ray Bacon, Nevada Manufacturers Association 
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Senate Committee on Judiciary 
May 11, 2007 
Page 9 
 
item out of the store. The people involved in the ring might be involved in acts 
beyond taking the property in their hands. As to whether persons include 
juveniles, I believe it would. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Under that scenario, two children who are with their parent and commit this 
"retail theft ring" could be charged with a Category B felony if the value is as 
high as the bill states? 
 
MR. WILKINSON: 
The children will have to be willing participants in the ring, fall under the juvenile 
court system and not be subject to adult penalties; the adult will be charged 
with a Category B felony. I do not know if other states that have this law have 
faced this kind of situation. 
 
SENATOR WIENER: 
In my first session, we passed law that if an adult used a child in a commission 
of a crime, there was an enhancement for the adult. That would be a substantial 
inducement not to use a juvenile. How would that law play in the scenario 
Senator Horsford gave? 
 
MR. WILKINSON: 
I believe you are correct. It would fall under enhancements statute and there 
would be an additional penalty. 
 
CHAIR AMODEI: 
Is there anyone else to testify on A.B. 421? We will close the hearing and 
reopen the hearing on A.B. 519. 
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 519 (1st Reprint): Enacts provisions concerning the sealing of 

certain court documents. (BDR 1-1404) 
 
JESSE WADHAMS (American Insurance Association): 
A letter was submitted (Exhibit C) to cover the points we would like to make. 
We oppose this bill. 
 
MR. MCMULLEN: 
I oppose A.B. 519. Many of us believe the sealing of court records would drive 
a supreme court to look at that issue comprehensively. It ought to be given a 
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Senate Committee on Judiciary 
May 11, 2007 
Page 10 
 
chance to work. This has been a continuous issue. If you look at this law, the 
important point is no record would ever be sealed. 
 
Testimony by Kathy A. Hardcastle, Chief District Judge, Department 4,  
Eighth Judicial District, showed how this language is broad and reasons were 
given for keeping information open. If we look at the process and take a case 
such as a slip and fall, it would affect businesses, retail or restaurant 
establishments and could be a public hazard. As part of the settlement, 
depositions and other evidence in the records were sealed. The process 
envisioned on page 2 of Exhibit C takes an individual case and its costs for 
litigation. Other people will participate and cause costs and a lot of disruption of 
judicial economy. I do not know the fiscal impact on the judicial system. If the 
attorney prosecuting a case has to decide whether records should be sealed, 
this adds a different process and costs to the case. This would be an interesting 
point for the Committee to consider in terms of whether it is the right thing to 
enhance the settlement of these cases. 
 
A lot happens in litigation; people want to know about them and sometimes 
profit from them. Cases get resolved, sometimes through settlement; this is a 
feature of the judicial system. When you change that, you change the playing 
field for bargaining and balance. 
 
SENATOR CARE: 
It has been framed in terms of all or nothing. By that, I mean a case is sealed or 
it is not sealed. Let me use the analogy from my public records bill,  
Senate Bill (S.B.) 123. Under state law, the government may refuse to produce 
a document if it contains confidential information. Senate Bill 123 would say, 
no, you redact the confidential information and produce the rest of the 
document. The only documents we are talking about would be those documents 
filed with the courts and the exhibits attached to those documents, not the 
settlement agreement or the deposition transcripts unless they are attached to a 
particular motion. 
 
What would be wrong in a products liability case, for example, with saying the 
case may not be sealed except for trade secrets, proprietary and confidential 
information and such? I am trying to imagine the rationale for sealing a products 
liability case. 
 

145145

RA211

wolfley
Underline



Senate Committee on Judiciary 
May 11, 2007 
Page 11 
 
MR. MCMULLEN: 
That question was addressed in past legislative hearings. In a general sense, 
most of these cases, whether a slippery tile or a chair that breaks, are products 
liability cases. A blanket allowance of all of those might have a great effect on 
settlement and judicial economy. The litigation and disclosure systems are not 
perfect, but the point is it does work and there is a balance with plaintiffs 
gaining settlement on difficult cases without a lot of court costs because of the 
opportunity to settle. 
 
We are talking about depositions filed which contain a large amount of 
testimony about processes and such. I am not sure redaction would work in 
those cases, but it might. It is far-ranging testimony of very probing questions 
about products liability, manufacturing processes, business processes and care 
and control processes. That is a lot of information. Unfortunately, we have 
found these depositions marketed on the Internet and other places, and people 
try to use them in fostering other cases. Having a blanket opening of that kind 
of information under the theory that products liability should be out in front of 
the world might be much more damaging. We do not know the effect of this; it 
sounds great, but it could be a serious disruption of existing processes. 
 
CHAIR AMODEI: 
Is there anything else for these testifiers from the Committee? 
 
JEANETTE K. BELZ (Property Casualty Insurers Association of America): 
I have a letter from my client, Sam Sorich, Vice President and Regional 
Manager, Property Casualty Insurers Association of America (Exhibit D). This bill 
burdens the court, drains judicial resources and discourages settlements. We 
urge this judicial body to allow the Nevada Supreme Court to do its job. 
 
RAY BACON (Nevada Manufacturers Association): 
We also oppose A.B. 519. 
 
CHAIR AMODEI: 
Senator Care, you had a proposed amendment from the Nevada Supreme Court; 
can you bring us up to date? 
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MINUTES OF THE  
SENATE COMMITTEE ON FINANCE 

 
Seventy-fourth Session 

May 15, 2007 
 
 
The Senate Committee on Finance was called to order by 
Chair William J. Raggio at 4:23 p.m. on Tuesday, May 15, 2007, in Room 2134 
of the Legislative Building, Carson City, Nevada. Exhibit A is the Agenda. 
Exhibit B is the Attendance Roster. All exhibits are available and on file in the 
Research Library of the Legislative Counsel Bureau. 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Senator William J. Raggio, Chair 
Senator Bob Beers, Vice Chair 
Senator Dean A. Rhoads 
Senator Barbara K. Cegavske 
Senator Bob Coffin 
Senator Dina Titus 
Senator Bernice Mathews 
 
GUEST LEGISLATORS PRESENT: 
 
Joseph J. Heck, Clark County Senatorial District No. 5 
Randolph J. Townsend, Washoe County Senatorial District No. 4 
 
STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Bob Atkinson, Senior Program Analyst 
Sarah Coffman, Program Analyst 
Joi Davis, Program Analyst 
Jeffrey A. Ferguson, Program Analyst 
Gary L. Ghiggeri, Senate Fiscal Analyst 
Eric King, Program Analyst 
Melinda Martini, Program Analyst 
Michael Bohling, Committee Secretary 
 
OTHERS PRESENT: 
 
Hatice Gecol, Ph.D., Director, Nevada State Office of Energy 
Rose McKinney-James, Clark County School District  
Scott Craigie, Arizona Public Service Energy Services Company 
Carole A. Vilardo, Nevada Taxpayers Association 
Patrick Cates, Administrative Officer, Division of Health Care Financing and 

Policy, Department of Health and Human Services 
Steven W. Kondrup, Acting Commissioner, Division of Financial Institutions, 

Department of Business and Industry 
Ted J. Olivas, City of Las Vegas 
David K. Morrow, Administrator, Division of State Parks, State Department of 

Conservation and Natural Resources 
Allen Biaggi, Director, State Department of Conservation and Natural Resources 
Kenneth E. Mayer, Director, Department of Wildlife 
Gloria P. Dopf, Deputy Superintendent for Instructional, Research and Evaluative 

Services, Department of Education 
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Senate Committee on Finance 
May 15, 2007 
Page 15 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
We will close the hearing on S.B. 38 and open the hearing on S.B. 71. 
 
SENATE BILL 71 (1st Reprint): Enacts certain provisions of the Uniform 

Parentage Act. (BDR 11-719) 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
Were any amendments proposed on this bill? 
 
MR. GHIGGERI: 
An amendment was proposed by a representative of Child Support Enforcement. 
At that hearing, the Committee requested that Senator Terry Care provide a 
copy of the proposed amendment to whoever requested the legislation. I have 
attached a copy of the amendment and a response provided for the 
Committee's review as well as a revised fiscal note for the bill as amended 
(Exhibit F). The implementation cost for the Health Division is approximately 
$9,800 in FY 2007-2008 and an estimated loss to the General Fund for vital 
statistics fees of $69,000 each fiscal year of the biennium. 
 
It appears there is a conflict between the suggested amendment from Child 
Support Enforcement and the information provided by Senator Care. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
Senator Care is not present. We will hold this until we can hear from him. 
 
We will close the hearing on S.B. 71 and open the hearing on S.B. 123. 
 
SENATE BILL 123 (1st Reprint): Makes various changes to provisions relating to 

public records. (BDR 19-462) 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
Senate Bill 123 was first heard in the Senate Committee on Government Affairs, 
then in this Committee. We have an updated fiscal note (Exhibit G), and 
I believe there was a significant amendment. We received a subsequent letter 
from the Division of Parole and Probation indicating concerns and a response 
from Senator Care. In deference to Senator Care, we will hold this bill until he 
and others concerned with the issue are here. 
 
We will close the hearing on S.B. 123 and open the hearing on S.B. 186. 
 
SENATE BILL 186: Makes an appropriation to the Office of the Governor to 

purchase replacement computer hardware and software and to purchase 
office furniture and machines. (BDR S-1202) 

 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
Senate Bill 186 is an appropriation in the budget to purchase replacement 
computers; there is a proposed amendment which changes the amount of the 
appropriation (Exhibit H). 
 
MR. GHIGGERI: 
This legislation was heard in this Committee on March 28, 2007. A revised 
recommendation from the Governor is in Exhibit H. We have updated the 
Governor's revised recommendation with current prices for the equipment. This 
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MINUTES OF THE  
 

SENATE COMMITTEE ON FINANCE 
 

Seventy-fourth Session 
May 21, 2007 

 
 
The Senate Committee on Finance was called to order by 
Chair William J. Raggio at 8:10 a.m. on Monday, May 21, 2007, in Room 2134 
of the Legislative Building, Carson City, Nevada. Exhibit A is the Agenda. 
Exhibit B is the Attendance Roster. All exhibits are available and on file in the 
Research Library of the Legislative Counsel Bureau. 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Senator William J. Raggio, Chair 
Senator Bob Beers, Vice Chair 
Senator Dean A. Rhoads 
Senator Barbara K. Cegavske 
Senator Bob Coffin 
Senator Dina Titus 
Senator Bernice Mathews 
 
GUEST LEGISLATORS PRESENT: 
 
Senator Terry Care, Clark County Senatorial District No. 7  
Assemblyman John W. Marvel, Assembly District No. 32 
 
STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Michael J. Chapman, Senior Program Analyst 
Sarah Coffman, Program Analyst 
Rick Combs, Program Analyst 
Laura Freed, Program Analyst 
Gary L. Ghiggeri, Senate Fiscal Analyst 
Robin Hager, Program Analyst 
Eric King, Program Analyst 
Mark Krmpotic, Senior Program Analyst 
Larry L. Peri, Principal Deputy Fiscal Analyst 
H. Pepper Sturm, Chief Deputy Research Director 
Michael Archer, Committee Secretary 
 
OTHERS PRESENT: 
 
Gaylyn Spriggs, Nevada Taxpayers Association  
James Richardson, Nevada Faculty Alliance 
Martin Bibb, Retired Public Employees of Nevada 
George Ross, Las Vegas Chamber of Commerce 
Kimberly M. Surratt, Nevada Trial Lawyers Association 
Nancy K. Ford, Administrator, Division of Welfare and Supportive Services, 

Department of Health and Human Services 
Alexander Haartz, M.P.H., Administrator, Health Division, Department of Health 

and Human Services  
Lori Bagwell, Chief of Fiscal Services, Department of Corrections 
Keith Rheault, Ph.D., Superintendent of Public Instruction, Department of 

Education   
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Senate Committee on Finance 
May 21, 2007 
Page 7 
 
MR. HAARTZ: 
The language in S.B. 67, section 18 indicates there should not be fees charged 
for providing search information. This sets up a conflict with the 
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 440.700 which provides the fees for vital 
records. Currently the statute says "For establishing and filing a record of 
paternity (other than a hospital-based paternity) and providing a certified copy  
of the new record." the statute calls for a $20 fee.  
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
If the Office of Vital Records will still be charging a fee, why are you 
anticipating a loss of revenue? 
 
MR. HAARTZ: 
There may be a conflict which will require clarification. In S.B. 67, section 18, 
subsection 2, the law allows a fee of $8 for making a file search for one name 
with no copies made.  
 
However, S.B. 71 is where we are more concerned about the revenue loss. In 
section 41 of the first reprint, the Registrar of Vital Statistics may not charge a 
fee in a filing for either an acknowledgement or denial of paternity. The loss of 
this fee revenue would cost $69,394 in each year of the upcoming biennium. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
We will close the hearing on S.B. 67 and S.B. 71 and open the hearing on 
S.B. 123. 
 
SENATE BILL 123 (1st Reprint): Makes various changes to provisions relating to 

public records. (BDR 19-462) 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
The fiscal note indicates a cost of $208,157 in the first year of the upcoming 
biennium and $256,973 in the second year. 
 
SENATOR CARE: 
Senate Bill 123 is a public policy issue. I do not feel its passage will increase the 
number of requests for copies of public records.  
 
SENATOR BEERS: 
Unless these costs represent something other than employee time, will this bill 
result in an increase in State spending?  
 
MR. GHIGGERI: 
The only two agencies who have reported a need are the Health Division, for 
two positions, and the Department of Corrections (DOC) for two positions. 
Please see the handout entitled "Fiscal Note for Summary for S.B. 123" 
(Exhibit F). 
 
SENATOR BEERS: 
I would like to exempt those two agencies for two years. The Health Division 
will be getting their data warehouse and may not need the positions, and the 
DOC will have their data system fully implemented in two years. 
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Senate Committee on Finance 
May 21, 2007 
Page 8 
 
SENATOR TITUS: 
We need an independent body to provide these fiscal notes. I agree that these 
computer systems will soon allow greater accessibility and accountability. 
 
SENATOR BEERS: 
Is there an outside time limit during which these compliances must be met? 
 
SENATOR CARE: 
No. If, within the five days, they cannot comply with an Open Meeting Law 
request, or the document will not be provided, the agency must notify the 
requester. If the requester believes he or she has not been dealt with fairly, they 
can, under current law, seek legal redress. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
Whether we like the process or not, the Legislature set up the process to require 
fiscal notes on these bills and, in preparing a budget, we must utilize the fiscal 
notes. 
 
SENATOR BEERS: 
I would like to know from these two agencies specifically how they would be 
affected by not getting these positions.  
 
MR. HAARTZ: 
I will provide that information after I review the first reprint of this bill and check 
with my staff.  
 
LORI BAGWELL (Chief of Fiscal Services, Department of Corrections): 
The DOC reviewed the first reprint of S.B. 123 and determined we would need 
two staff positions, one in northern Nevada and one in Southern Nevada, to 
respond to these requests. Statute now requires us to redact many documents. 
This is labor intensive. The DOC does not have a position dedicated to 
responding to requests for public information. To comply with such requests, 
we use existing staff members.  
 
SENATOR CARE: 
The Board of Parole Commissioners has submitted a letter (Exhibit G) with some 
concerns about S.B. 123. I would agree to exempt the 30-year time limit for 
victims.  
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
We will close the hearing on S.B. 123 and open the hearing on S.B. 540. 
 
SENATE BILL 540: Revises provisions governing the system of public education 

in this State. (BDR 34-113) 
 
H. PEPPER STURM (Chief Deputy Research Director, Research Division, Fiscal 
 Division, Legislative Counsel Bureau):  
Proposed amendments to S.B. 540 are described in the handout entitled 
“Mock-up: Proposed Amendment to Senate Bill 540” (Exhibit H, original is on 
file in the Research Library).  
 
The State Board of Education retains its current regulatory and policy role by 
deletions of various sections throughout the original bill. The proposed 
amendment deletes those sections of the bill that made the State Board of 
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MINUTES OF THE  
SENATE COMMITTEE ON FINANCE 

 
Seventy-fourth Session 

May 26, 2007 
 
 
The Senate Committee on Finance was called to order by 
Chair William J. Raggio at 11:19 a.m. on Saturday, May 26, 2007, in 
Room 2134 of the Legislative Building, Carson City, Nevada. Exhibit A is the 
Agenda. Exhibit B is the Attendance Roster. All exhibits are available and on file 
in the Research Library of the Legislative Counsel Bureau. 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Senator William J. Raggio, Chair 
Senator Bob Beers, Vice Chair 
Senator Dean A. Rhoads 
Senator Barbara K. Cegavske 
Senator Bob Coffin 
Senator Dina Titus 
Senator Bernice Mathews 
 
STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Bob Atkinson, Senior Program Analyst 
Gary L. Ghiggeri, Senate Fiscal Analyst 
Anne Vorderbruggen, Committee Secretary 
 
OTHERS PRESENT: 
 
Roger K. Maillard, American Federation of State, County and Municipal 

Employees Retiree Chapter No. 4041 
James T. Richardson, J.D., Ph.D., Nevada Faculty Alliance 
Terry Hickman, Nevada State Education Association 
Martin Bibb, Retired Public Employees of Nevada 
Rose E. McKinney-James, Clark County School District 
Michael R. Alastuey, Nevada Association of School Superintendents 
Leslie A. Johnstone, Executive Officer, Public Employees' Benefits Program 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
The Assembly Committee on Judiciary has sent two bills back to our Committee 
with amendments. In both cases, I will recommend the Committee not concur. 
The first is Senate Bill (S.B.) 131 which was first heard in this Committee on 
April 25, 2007.  
 
SENATE BILL 131 (3rd Reprint): Makes various changes regarding certain court 

fees charged by county clerks. (BDR 2-385) 
 
In Amendment 964, the Assembly Committee on Judiciary removed the 
proposed fee increases. The bill has a provision for an additional fee of $5 that 
may be charged by the county clerks. This is more of a policy matter, and 
I suggest we not concur, and let the Senate Committee on Judiciary review the 
bill and make a decision on it. 
 

SENATOR BEERS MOVED TO NOT CONCUR WITH AMENDMENT 964 
TO S.B. 131. 
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bill with that provision. This bill has some significant revenue loss. I do not 
know if we can process the bill. I will discuss it with Senator Care and bring it 
back to the Committee at our next meeting.  
 
SENATE BILL 71 (1st Reprint): Enacts certain provisions of the Uniform 

Parentage Act. (BDR 11-719) 
 
Senator Rhoads introduced S.B. 73. This bill provides a Legislator with a travel 
allowance if they are in a large legislative district. The bill needs an amendment 
to include a provision for the travel allowance to be paid for meetings of any 
political subdivision. 
 
SENATE BILL 73: Provides for allowances for certain travel expenses incurred 

by Legislators during the legislative interim. (BDR 17-265) 
 

SENATOR BEERS MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS S.B. 73. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
***** 

 
Senate Bill 123 is a public records bill brought to us by Senator Care. It has 
been previously heard in the Senate Committee on Government Affairs. This bill 
has a significant fiscal note. 
 
SENATE BILL 123 (1st Reprint): Makes various changes to provisions relating to 

public records. (BDR 19-462) 
 
MR. GHIGGERI: 
The Department of Corrections indicated they would need two public 
information officers to carry out the provisions of this bill. Their projected cost 
is about $275,000 for the 2007-2009 biennium. The Department of Motor 
Vehicles has a fiscal impact note of approximately $16,200. That is for 
reprogramming costs for their computer system. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
There was a request to amend section 6, subsection 3 of S.B. 123 to read as 
follows: "3. The provisions of subsection 1 do not apply to any book or record: 
(a) declared confidential pursuant to subsection 4 of NRS 463.120." 
 
Where did that amendment come from? 
 
SENATOR BEERS: 
There was discussion in the Committee regarding the collection of sensitive 
information about applicants by the State Gaming Control Board and the Nevada 
Gaming Commission. This was designed to keep that information out of the 
open records of government. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
Does this bill exempt the State Gaming Control Board from the 30-year period? 
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MR. GHIGGERI: 
There is an issue which relates to the Division of Parole and Probation. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
If the Committee passes this bill, we would have to amend it with this 
amendment and as approved by Senator Care. The records of the Division of 
Parole and Probation should also be exempted. 
 

SENATOR BEERS MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS S.B. 123 WITH 
THE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 6, SUBSECTION 3; AND TO EXEMPT 
THE RECORDS OF THE DIVISION OF PAROLE AND PROBATION IN 
ADDITION TO THE LANGUAGE EXEMPTING THE RECORDS OF THE 
STATE GAMING CONTROL BOARD. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
***** 

 
This Committee heard S.B. 229 on May 4, 2007. The bill deals with the 
registration and regulation of warrantors of vehicle protection products. 
Mr. Dan Reaser from the law firm of Lionel Sawyer & Collins testified, 
representing the people who provide these kind of warranties. There is no 
additional General Fund required by this bill. Approximately $30,000 would be 
required which would be paid from contract fees.  
 
SENATE BILL 229 (1st Reprint): Provides for the registration and regulation of 

warrantors of vehicle protection products and related sellers and warranty 
administrators of such products. (BDR 57-1137) 

 
MR. GHIGGERI: 
In FY 2007-2008, the program would be self-supporting. However, in 
FY 2008-2009, there would not be sufficient funds in the reserve for this 
account to continue the operation of the program. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
Does the Committee wish to process this bill? 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
The testimony we received regarding this bill, particularly from the Division of 
Insurance, was reassuring that the reserve pool that would be built would be 
sufficient to cover any problems that may occur. 
 

SENATOR COFFIN MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 229. 
 
SENATOR RHOADS SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 
SENATOR BEERS: 
My notes from the hearing indicate the fees cover only half the cost of this 
program.  
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MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
OF THE 

ASSEMBLY COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT AFFAIRS 
 

Seventy-Fourth Session 
June 2, 2007 

 
 
The Committee on Government Affairs was called to order by  
Chair Marilyn K. Kirkpatrick at 3:33 p.m., on Saturday, June 2, 2007, in  
Room 3143 of the Legislative Building, 401 South Carson Street,  
Carson City, Nevada.  Copies of the minutes, including the Agenda (Exhibit A), 
the Attendance Roster (Exhibit B), and other substantive exhibits are available 
and on file in the Research Library of the Legislative Counsel Bureau and on the 
Nevada Legislature's website at www.leg.state.nv.us/74th/committees/.  
In addition, copies of the audio record may be purchased through the Legislative 
Counsel Bureau's Publications Office (email: publications@lcb.state.nv.us; 
telephone: 775-684-6835). 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 

 
Assemblywoman Marilyn K. Kirkpatrick, Chair 
Assemblywoman Peggy Pierce, Vice Chair 
Assemblyman Kelvin Atkinson 
Assemblyman Bob Beers 
Assemblyman David Bobzien 
Assemblyman Chad Christensen 
Assemblyman Jerry D. Claborn 
Assemblyman Pete Goicoechea 
Assemblyman Ruben Kihuen 
Assemblyman Harvey J. Munford 
Assemblywoman Bonnie Parnell 
Assemblyman James Settelmeyer 
Assemblyman Lynn D. Stewart 
 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS ABSENT: 
 
Assemblywoman RoseMary Womack 
 

GUEST LEGISLATORS PRESENT: 
 
Senator Terry Care, Clark County Senatorial District No. 7 
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STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 

 
Amber Joiner, Committee Policy Analyst 
Scott McKenna, Committee Counsel 
Cheryl Williams, Committee Secretary 
Olivia Lloyd, Committee Assistant 
 

OTHERS PRESENT: 
 
Barry Smith, Executive Director, Nevada Press Association, Inc. 
 

[Quorum present.] [Roll call.]   
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Welcome Senator Care, and thank you for doing this on the quick rebound. 
 
Senate Bill 123 (2nd Reprint):  Makes various changes to provisions relating to 

public records. (BDR 19-462) 
 
Senator Terry Care, Clark County Senatorial District No. 7: 
The bill was introduced on the 20th of February and was amended in the 
second reading on the 20th of April, was rereferred to the Senate Finance 
Committee and stayed there until recently.  We just got it out of the Senate 
yesterday [June 1, 2007].  We had a subcommittee appointed by  
Chairman Hardy in Government Affairs.  We had not only the original hearing on 
the bill, but we had two hearings through the subcommittee, then the work 
session, then the bill went to the Floor, and then to Finance.  I testified on the 
bill twice before the Senate Finance Committee.   
 
I am not going to say that everybody is agreeable to all of the language in the 
bill, but I will tell you the bill got a thorough work over.  We solicited testimony 
from everyone we could think of who seemed to express an interest in the bill.  
That would largely be cities, counties, and governments that would be the 
source for any request for a public record.   
 
This bill does not change the status of any document that is already confidential 
or nonconfidential.  I want to emphasize that we are not changing anything, 
except arguably 30 years down the road, and I will explain that when I get to 
that section of the bill. 
 
As most of you know, I was a journalist in my prior career, and I had made 
requests to governmental agencies and had not received quick responses.  The 
law says if you make a request for a public document that is nonconfidential, as 
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a matter of law, then you are entitled to get it; but there is no mechanism in the 
law that goes beyond that, except if you think you are being "jacked" around.   
Then you can seek redress.  However, there is nothing in the law that says if 
you do make the request, how soon the government has to respond.  What if 
the government needs some time to respond, what about an oral request as 
opposed to a written request, and what about redaction of a document?  
Currently, if the document contains confidential information then the document 
does not have to be produced.  Per the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), if 
you request a document that contains confidential information, the federal 
government will redact the confidential information, but you are still entitled to 
the reminder of the document.   These are the reasons I brought this bill 
forward.   
 
Section 2 is more or less a declaration that the provisions of Chapter 239 in the 
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) must be construed liberally; and then in 
subsection 3, any exemption, exception, or balancing of interests which limits 
or restricts access to public books and records by a member of the public must 
be construed narrowly.  There is a presumption here that if someone requests a 
document, and there is some doubt as to whether it is a public document or 
not, the presumption is that it should be public.  We are emphasizing with this 
language that the public has an interest in their right to see those documents 
which they are entitled to see.   
 
Section 3 pertains to a nongovernmental entity.  We worked this over quite a 
bit.  Sometimes you may find a situation where a city contracts with a private 
company to perform a governmental service, such as operating an ambulance 
service or running a jail.  This language is intended to say if a nongovernmental 
entity is conducting a governmental function, then the documents that it 
generates in the course of performing those governmental affairs would also be 
considered public documents.  Note the language in subsection 2 of Section 3.  
This section does not apply to the financial or other proprietary records of a 
non-governmental entity.  In other words, I do not think a reporter has the right 
to see personnel files, your financials, and that sort of thing.  Maybe you would 
like to know about the number of runs that an ambulance company has made in 
the course of a month, or maybe there has been an incident in the jail.   
The government should not be able to say, "We cannot give you that 
information; we would love to, but we have a company over here that is 
running the jail for us, so you will have to go talk to them."  The private 
company says, "We are not the government, you cannot request a document 
from us."  Section 3 is intended to capture those circumstances where you may 
have a private party performing a governmental function. 
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Section 4 describes the procedural way this bill would work.  You will note that 
it says, ". . . if a governmental entity receives a written request to inspect or 
copy a public book or record, the governmental entity must, within 5 business 
days after the date on which the person who has legal custody or control of the 
book or record".  It was a legitimate objection.  Suppose someone in Hawthorne 
goes to a state office in Hawthorne and makes the request for a public 
document.  We do not want the person to say, "I am entitled to a response 
within five business days," because it may very well be that the office in 
Hawthorne has a clerk who must submit the request to the proper supervisory 
person in Carson City, who makes the decision on whether that document 
should be produced.  That is what we mean when we say "fifth business day"; 
you get some kind of response, but the clock does not start ticking until the 
proper supervisory person who can make that decision has the request in hand.   
 
In Section 4 it says, "(a) Allow the person to inspect or copy the public book or 
record.  ". . . (b) If the governmental entity does not have legal custody or 
control of the public book or record, . . . ."  The government may say that it 
cannot fully respond within five days, but will tell you it is still trying to decide; 
or has decided to give you the document or documents, but is going to make 
some redactions; or is going to give you the documents, but some of the 
documents are in boxes in Las Vegas, and some are in Carson City, and it needs 
some additional time to gather those documents.  This subsection says if the 
entity cannot or will not produce the document in five days, the entity has to let 
the requester know what he has run into.  Then the governmental entity has to 
provide a time when they think they can respond to the request. 
 
Subsection (d) says if the governmental entity has decided it is not going to 
produce the documents, then it must cite a specific statute or legal authority 
upon which it is basing its denial.  There is no provision like that in the law 
today.  In other words, they are not going to give the document to you because 
it is confidential and here is why it is confidential.  It is confidential pursuant to 
statute, or it is confidential pursuant to case law, and then they must cite the 
case.  They must give a reason why they are telling you that legally you are not 
entitled to see the document.  Also, Section 4, subsection 2 allows for an oral 
request.  This is because sometimes a reporter has a relationship with a 
governmental entity, such that the reporter is going to know the person from 
the government office and ask to see a copy of "such and such."   
Because there is a relationship, the entity can say you made an oral request, but 
we still do not understand what it is that you are asking for.  Could you put it in 
writing and specify exactly what it is that you are looking for? 
 
Section 5 of the bill says if there is any question about the production of the 
document the burden is on the governmental entity to demonstrate that the 
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document is a confidential document, and the standard is preponderance of the 
evidence.  The governmental entity would have to demonstrate, more likely than 
not, that the document is confidential.   
 
Section 6 would be new to Nevada law.  Basically, it says if a document is 
confidential and that document has been confidential for 30 years, or if a 
document pertains to a natural person and that person has been dead for  
30 years, then the document may be made public.  Whichever event occurs 
later in the case of a natural person, 30 years or 30 years after the person's 
death, prevails.  When I testified about that on the Senate side, the example  
I used was Howard Hughes.  Howard Hughes is no longer going to apply to this 
bill, but you get the point.  There may be some historian or professor or writer 
who has an interest in events that happened decades ago.  The way the law is 
now the government can say those documents are confidential.  This, however, 
says that after a 30-year period they are not, but the bill contains a refutable 
presumption.  The government can say that if somebody makes that request 
after 30 years, the entity holding the document can go before a judge, and 
argue that although 30 years have passed, this document should still be 
confidential and here is the reason why.  Again, there is nothing like that in 
existing law.   
 
There are two exemptions to that provision.  I mentioned Howard Hughes 
because of the numerous hearings that we had on the Senate side before we 
came to a consensus.  The exemptions would be all documents declared 
confidential pursuant to subsection 4 of NRS 463.120.  Those are gaming files 
and files that pertain to applicants and current licensees for gaming licenses, so 
you would never get a Howard Hughes or a Frank Sinatra.  The argument for 
exemption was that when people apply for a gaming license, those license 
applications are extensive and may include all manner of hearsay and potentially 
damaging information that may or may not be true.   
 
The second exemption is contained in subsection 3(b).  You will note that it 
says, "Containing personal information pertaining to a victim of crime that has 
been declared by law to be confidential."  That is at the request of the Board of 
Parole Commissioners, and is intended to mean statements made by victims 
either before the Parole Commission or other such entities.  The theory here is 
that those statements can be so gut-wrenching that it has a deep personal 
effect.  So, if the person who made those statements is still living after  
30 years, it could still have an impact on that person's well-being.  These are 
the two exemptions to the 30-year rule. 
 
Only Section 7 includes the definition of governmental entity as used in  
Section 8 of the bill, and that is "any other person or nongovernmental entity 
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that administers, manages, or regulates an activity . . . ."  That gets back to the 
private entity that is performing the governmental function. 
 
Section 8, subsection 2 is new language that does not exist in Nevada Law.  
This is what I discussed earlier, that if the document has confidential 
information in it, the governmental entity has to redact the confidential 
information, but provide or allow for inspection of the remainder of the 
document.  The reason that the bill is so thick is because you have all these 
statutes that pertain to confidential information, so naturally they all have to be 
amended because of the language in Section 6 of the bill, which is the 30-year 
rule. 
 
I do have the Press Association with me to testify in support of the bill.   
 
Assemblyman Settelmeyer: 
Have you amended this bill in any way that would remove any of the fiscal 
notes as of yet? 
 
Senator Care: 
That is the reason this bill was hung up in the Senate Finance Committee.   
The bill was amended and I am not sure what the fiscal note would be today.   
I recall a gentleman from the Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) 
testified that NDOT would have to hire two people to respond to requests for 
public documents.  If the government is already responding to requests for 
public documents, I do not know why the new positions would be needed.   
 
There came a time when the Senate Finance Committee thought it was okay for 
this bill to come out. 
 
Assemblyman Settelmeyer: 
What I was trying to get at, the Department of Training and Rehabilitation said 
the bill, as drafted, conflicts with federal law and regulations governing 
confidentiality of information, which will result in the loss of federal funds 
amounting to $34 million a year.  The Health and Human Services budget will 
be a billion dollars for fiscal year 2007-2008.  I was just wondering if there are 
any amendments to help correct that. 
 
Senator Care: 
I cannot speak for Senator Raggio, but with a fiscal note like that, this bill would 
have never received a hearing.   
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I have to agree with the Senator. 
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Assemblyman Christensen: 
You had mentioned a federal standard early in your explanation of the bill, and I 
was curious how this is similar or dissimilar to whatever the federal standard 
may be. 
 
Senator Care: 
What I meant was that under the FOIA, if you request documents from the 
Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, you are 
entitled to those records except for those certain documents that may, under 
federal law, contain confidential information.  On the federal level they have the 
practice of redacting that information, but allowing you to see the remainder of 
the document.  In many cases, when you can get that document, so much has 
been redacted that you cannot really determine its purpose.  It is a practice 
currently used by the federal government. 
 
Assemblyman Christensen: 
So, you are saying that this would follow along those same lines of 
confidentiality, and that confidential information could be pulled out of the 
documents being requested.  In regard to Section 4, subsection 1 of the bill, "no 
later than the end of the fifth business day," do other states follow this time 
frame?  Does the federal guideline follow the end of the fifth day rule? 
 
Senator Care: 
The federal government can actually take a lengthy period of time before you 
hear back from them.  The bill originally came back with "two days," which I 
agreed was unacceptable.  We looked at the seventh business day, and as it 
turned out, both Washoe County and the City of Reno have similar policies, but 
not ordinances.  One of them used three days and the other used five days, but 
we all agreed that there must be a response of some sort, so the fifth business 
day was a compromise. 
 
Assemblyman Christensen: 
That helps me understand the relation to the fiscal notes and how this all comes 
together.  Is there a model that has been successful elsewhere?  You mentioned 
your journalism background, and I am always curious whenever we hear the 
genesis of certain bills and bill drafts, where it came from.  What was the 
genesis here?  Was it your experience and things you were hearing out there, a 
bill by request, or did the press approach you to ask for this to be put in place? 
 
Senator Care: 
No, the press did not request this bill.  I have always been interested in this 
discussion, and I am big on transparency.  That is what led three years ago to 
the revision of the Open Meeting Law.  I was not the only one concerned with 
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the contentious abuse of the Open Meeting Law.  A lot of people thought with 
the Board of Regents and matters relating to the community college that this 
law was not being followed.  I know there were a lot of reporters frustrated 
with that, as well.  I have been out of journalism now for 20 years, but I have 
always followed this issue with some interest. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
This bill did pass out of the Senate 21-0.   
 
Assemblyman Bobzien: 
Following along with how this interfaces with different federal laws related to 
privacy, I am thinking in terms of a scenario that I am familiar with, which is the 
Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), and also in Section 8, 
subsection 2, the discussion of the public book or record.  I think more and 
more we are not talking about a book containing these records, but more along 
the lines of electronic files, databases, and spreadsheets.  Would such a file be 
consistent with what you are getting at with a record?  Is that more or less the 
definition of a record, a computer file? 
 
Senator Care: 
I think so.  When I read "public book or record," I think in terms of documents 
or information for that subject matter.   
 
Assemblyman Bobzien: 
I guess along with that, I am wondering if there was any discussion on the 
federal side.  This would be one scenario in which the federal law would trump 
what you are proposing here:  the FERPA says I cannot release these 
educational records, I cannot release the enrollment database of all my students, 
all their information, and all their grades.  There is no redacting about it.  I just 
simply cannot release the records.  I do not know if that is something that has 
been discussed before, or if it has come up. 
 
Senator Care: 
I would agree with that and I will put that on the record.  Federal law would 
trump whatever we may have in place.   
 
Assemblyman Bobzien: 
I guess that explains some of these fiscal notes that were attached.  They are 
talking about a loss of revenue when federal law trumps it and those practices.   
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Are there any other questions?  [There were none.]   
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Barry Smith, Executive Director, Nevada Press Association: 
We are in support of this bill.   We have followed it through the process.   
There have been quite a few changes.  It clarifies a lot about how agencies 
handle record requests.  I polled a number of newspapers after the bill was 
introduced to see what problems there were.  Generally, there are not a lot of 
problems.  Record requests are handled promptly and well.  It is the requests 
that disappear forever that are the problem; there is just no response.  There 
was nothing in the law that said how you handle that.  So, this bill does cover 
that.  
 
If I could comment on the fiscal notes, I checked to see if there were any 
updates, because all of those were written when the bill was introduced and it 
had a two-day deadline.  There was quite a bit of consternation over the  
two-day deadline, so that was one of the compromises—to give the agencies 
more time.  
 
Also, originally the language said if you do not comply by the deadline, it 
automatically becomes a public record.  That led to some of those concerns 
regarding coming into conflict with federal law or having other laws overrule.  
That language and the bill has changed, but the fiscal notes have not. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Are there any questions for Mr. Smith?  [There were none.]  Is there anyone 
else who would like to testify in favor of S.B. 123 (R2)?  [There were none.]   
Is there anyone who is neutral on S. B. 123 (R2)?  [There were none.]  Is there 
anyone who is in opposition to S.B. 123 (R2)?  [There were none.]   
 
Assemblyman Christensen: 
Mr. Smith mentioned that he followed some of the changes.  What were some 
of the changes that you saw from the original bill to where it is now? 
 
Senator Care: 
I got the bill draft back and, as we all like to do, we reviewed the bill draft 
before we introduced the bill.  There was a feeling early on in the Session that 
we were not introducing the bills quickly enough.  On the evening that  
United States Senator Harry Reid spoke to the Joint Session, I came back to the 
Senate Chamber and there was a note stating that we already had a motion to 
introduce the bill, and because we had been told that we had to get these bills 
introduced, I went ahead and introduced it.  I made the disclaimer when I 
introduced it that I did not necessarily agree with the language contained in the 
bill draft, and a lot of people did not pick up on that.  Once the bill was 
introduced I was immediately flooded with all kinds of calls, but what Mr. Smith 
just said is correct.  There was language stating the document would 
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automatically become public after two days.  I believe there was language in 
there about the liability of government worker who does not comply with the 
requirements of the bill.  In the two hearings that we had before the 
subcommittee, there were a lot of people there—mostly the counties, cities, and 
the State—to voice their concerns about this bill.  We have gotten it down now 
to where it is workable. 
 
Assemblyman Christensen: 
That helps a lot.  That is why I asked the question.  I want to be sensitive to 
governmental entities' concerns such as those expressed by NDOT.  Is the bill 
too far-reaching?  Some entities are very effective and efficient and can respond 
to requests really fast, while other entities may struggle with that a little bit 
more. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Does anyone else have any other questions?  [There were none.]   I will close 
the public hearing on Senate Bill 123 (2nd Reprint).   
 

ASSEMBLYMAN ATKINSON MOVED TO DO PASS  
SENATE BILL 123 (2ND REPRINT). 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN BOBZIEN SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 

Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Is there any other discussion? 
 
Assemblyman Settelmeyer: 
I will vote yes, but I reserve my right to change my vote on the Floor.  I would 
like to follow up on these fiscal notes. 
 
[Assemblyman Beers stated that he also would like to reserve the right to 
change his vote on the Floor.] 
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Chair Kirkpatrick: 
So noted and I will try to get with Senator McGinness, as well.  

 
THE MOTION PASSED.  (ASSEMBLYWOMAN WOMACK WAS 
ABSENT FOR THE VOTE.) 
 

The meeting is adjourned [at 4:02 p.m.]. 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

 
 
 

  
Cheryl Williams 
Committee Secretary 
 
 
______________________________ 
Rachelle Myrick 
Transcribing Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED BY: 
 
 
 
  
Assemblywoman Marilyn K. Kirkpatrick, Chair 
 
 
DATE:  
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MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
OF THE 

ASSEMBLY COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS 
 

Seventy-Fourth Session 
June 4, 2007 

 
 
The Committee on Ways and Means was called to order by 
Chair Morse Arberry Jr. at 8:09 a.m., on Monday, June 4, 2007, in Room 3137 
of the Legislative Building, 401 South Carson Street, Carson City, Nevada.  
Copies of the minutes, including the Agenda (Exhibit A), the Attendance Roster 
(Exhibit B), and other substantive exhibits are available and on file in the 
Research Library of the Legislative Counsel Bureau and on the Nevada 
Legislature's website at www.leg.state.nv.us/74th/committees/. In addition, 
copies of the audio record may be purchased through the Legislative Counsel 
Bureau's Publications Office (email: publications@lcb.state.nv.us; telephone: 
775-684-6835). 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 

 
Assemblyman Morse Arberry Jr., Chair 
Assemblywoman Sheila Leslie, Vice Chair 
Assemblywoman Barbara E. Buckley 
Assemblyman Mo Denis 
Assemblywoman Heidi S. Gansert 
Assemblyman Tom Grady 
Assemblyman Joseph P. (Joe) Hardy 
Assemblyman Joseph Hogan 
Assemblywoman Ellen Koivisto 
Assemblyman John W. Marvel 
Assemblywoman Kathy McClain 
Assemblyman David R. Parks 
Assemblywoman Debbie Smith 
Assemblywoman Valerie E. Weber 
 
 

GUEST LEGISLATORS PRESENT: 
 
Senator Terry Care, Clark County Senate District No. 7 
Senator Dina Titus, Clark County Senate District No. 7 
 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Mark W. Stevens, Assembly Fiscal Analyst 
Carol Thomsen, Committee Secretary 
Patricia Adams, Committee Assistant 
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Chairman Arberry indicated that the Committee would hear testimony on 
S.B. 123 (R2). 

 
Senate Bill 123 (2nd Reprint):  Makes various changes to provisions relating to 

public records.  (BDR 19-462) 
 
Senator Terry Care, Clark County District No. 7, stated that S.B. 123 (R2) had 
quite a history.  The bill was introduced on February 20, 2007, and it was now 
in its second reprint.  Senator Care said the bill had previously been heard by 
four committees and one subcommittee.   
 
According to Senator Care, the bill dealt with the way the government was 
supposed to respond, and what could be done when the government failed to 
respond to a request for documents that the requestor believed to be public 
record.  Existing law in the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) addressed that 
situation to some degree, but Senator Care did not believe that current law was 
sufficient.   
 
Senator Care noted that S.B. 123 (R2) was quite lengthy, but the only sections 
of concern were Sections 2 through 8.  The bill stated that if the requestor 
made a request to the appropriate person from a governmental agency, there 
must be a response by the fifth business day after the request.  Senator Care 
indicated that the response could be a refusal to release the information, 
in which case the governmental entity must site the specific legal authority or 
NRS that it relied upon in refusing the request.  After five days, the entity could 
advise the requestor that it needed additional time to review the documents and 
determine whether the documents required redaction prior to release or whether 
the documents would be released.  Senator Care stated that the stipulations of 
the bill would at least provide some type of response to the request within 
five working days.   
 
Continuing his presentation, Senator Care noted that S.B. 123 (R2) included 
a provision that stipulated that the mandates of the bill would also apply to 
private entities, but only to the extent that they were performing 
a governmental function.  For example, if a city hired a contractor to administer 
a jail facility or an ambulance service, Section 3, subsection 2, of the bill made 
it absolutely clear that proprietary personnel records and financial data of the 
contractor would be off limits, and only those documents generated in the 
course of conducting the governmental function would be considered public 
documents, though held by a private entity. 
 
Senator Care explained that redaction was not included in current law, and 
there was a provision in the bill that stated if the governmental entity deemed 
that the document contained confidential information under the provisions of the 
bill the entity could redact the confidential information prior to release of the 
document.  Senator Care noted that action was similar to what occurred under 
the Freedom of Information Act on the federal level.    
 
Senator Care pointed out that S.B. 123 (R2) included a provision that indicated 
after a confidential document had been in the legal custody or control of one or 
more governmental entities for 30 years, a person could apply to the appropriate 
district court for an order allowing the person to review the document.  
However, the holder of the document could determine that the reason the 
document was made confidential still existed.  If the requestor went to court, 
the holder of the document was entitled to make a case for the document to 
remain confidential.  Senator Care stated that there was no provision in NRS 
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that addressed confidential records, and the bill would benefit historians or 
writers who requested access to confidential records after a period of 30 years.   
 
According to Senator Care, there were two exceptions to the confidentiality of 
records contained in Section 6, subsections 3(a) and (b), which indicated that: 
“The provisions of subsection 1 do not apply to any book or record: (a) Declared 
confidential pursuant to subsection 4 of NRS 463.120, (b) Containing personal 
information pertaining to a victim of crime that has been declared by law to be 
confidential.”  Senator Care explained that NRS 463.120 pertained to the 
records of the Gaming Control Board regarding gaming applicants and gaming 
licensees.  The information pertaining to a victim remaining confidential was 
requested by the Nevada Board of Parole Commissioners.  The Parole Board 
believed that statements made by victims regarding parole hearings should not 
be made public.   
 
Senator Care referenced Exhibit C, “Fiscal Note Summary for S.B. 123,” which 
indicated that the fiscal note on the original bill was $1,053,896,828 for 
FY 2007-08, $1,089,894,153 for FY 2008-09, and $2,179,757,583 for future 
biennia.  However, after the first reprint of the bill, the figures were reduced to 
$208,157 for FY 2007-08, $256,973 for FY 2008-09, and $281,188 for future 
biennia.  With the exemption of statements by victims to the Board of Parole 
Commissioners, Senator Care believed that the fiscal note on the second reprint 
might have decreased yet again.  
 
Assemblyman Hardy asked whether S.B. 123 (R2) included records that had 
been sealed for various reasons by the courts.  Senator Care replied that the bill 
would not change the status of documents that had already been determined 
confidential or not confidential, with the exception of confidential records held 
for over 30 years.  Senator Care said that one concern voiced about the bill was 
that confidential documents would become public.  He reiterated that the bill 
would not change the status of documents. 
 
Dr. Hardy asked whether the status of sealed documents would be changed 
going forward.  Senator Care said the bill might change the sealing of 
documents held over 30 years, but he believed that because there was nothing 
specific in the bill pertaining to the courts that the status would not change.  
Court documents determined confidential or which had been sealed could 
contain proprietary or confidential information, which was usually the reason the 
documents were sealed.  Senator Care did not believe that the status of such 
documents would change. 
 
Assemblywoman Leslie asked about documents held by local governments.  
She noted that lawsuits had been filed in Washoe County.  Other issues had 
arisen over public access to documents, and she asked about the effect of the 
bill on local governmental entities. 
 
Senator Care replied that the provisions of the bill would apply to every 
governmental entity in the State.  He pointed out that the original bill included 
a two-day response period and stated that if the entity failed to respond, the 
documents would be deemed public.  Senator Care indicated that he had 
worked with city and county entities, and Washoe County and the city of Reno 
had written policies pertaining to requests for the release of documents. 
 
Assemblywoman Smith asked how S.B. 123 (R2) connected to the redaction bill 
that was passed by the 2005 Session and the clean-up bill passed by the 
current Session regarding the redaction of Social Security numbers and 
limitations of access to personal records.   
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Senator Care said that if a person made a request for a document and the entity 
believed the document should be made public, but the document contained 
Social Security numbers along with other personal identifying information that 
would fall under state law, the bill would allow the entity to request more than 
five days to respond in order to redact personal identifying information in the 
bill. 
 
Assemblyman Marvel asked about the rationale for the bill.  Senator Care replied 
that the rationale for the bill was that many states had an apparatus in place 
similar to S.B. 123 (R2), and current Nevada law indicated that a person was 
entitled to request a document.  Senator Care indicated that as a former 
journalist, he was familiar with the frustration that came with requesting 
a document, being told that the document would be available in a few days, and 
then never receiving the document.  Senator Care noted that most requests for 
documents were honored, but failure to provide documents to a requestor still 
occurred.   
 
Senator Care stated that he had worked with the Nevada Press Association and 
was familiar with the issue, and he believed in transparency of records.  
Senator Care noted that during the 2005 Session, he had supported revisions to 
the Open Meeting Law, and he believed that access to public records was the 
next step in the process.  Generally speaking, governmental entities honored 
requests for public documents, and oftentimes when entities failed to respond, 
it was because the documents were embarrassing to the entity.   
 
Assemblywoman Gansert said her concerns were with Section 2, subsection 2, 
which read, “The provisions of this chapter must be construed liberally to carry 
out this important purpose,” and subsection 3, “Any exemption, exception or 
balancing of interests which limits or restricts access to public books and 
records by members of the public must be construed narrowly.”  Ms. Gansert 
stated that she was concerned about court cases and information that had been 
sealed; she commented that she did not believe 30 years was a sufficient 
amount of time. 
 
Senator Care indicated that Section 2 was intended to be a preamble to 
S.B. 123 (R2), emphasizing that if there was any doubt, the doubt should be 
resolved in favor of the requestor of the document.   
 
Assemblyman Parks commended Senator Care for his hard work on 
S.B. 123 (R2), and having worked in the public sector for many years, he 
believed it was a very good bill.  Mr. Parks stated that he would offer his 
support to the bill. 
 
Barry Smith, Executive Director, Nevada Press Association, testified that the 
Association supported S.B. 123 (R2).  As mentioned by Senator Care, the bill 
had been heard by several committees and much work had been done to make 
revisions in the bill that dramatically reduced the fiscal note.  Mr. Smith voiced 
support for the bill. 
 
Assemblywoman Buckley said her concern was with Section 3 of the bill about 
nongovernmental entities, and she asked Senator Care which entities he 
envisioned as being included in that category.   
 
Senator Care explained that Section 3 would address the situation in which 
a request was made to a governmental entity, and the governmental entity had 
contracted with a private contractor to perform that governmental function and, 
therefore, could not help the requestor secure the information.   
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Senator Care noted that under the mandates of Section 3 of S.B. 123 (R2), the 
nongovernmental entity would be required to consider the request for public 
records.   
 
According to Senator Care, the bill had been amended in such a fashion that the 
language in Section 3 did not apply to financial or other proprietary records of 
nongovernmental entities.  The language was intended to mean that only 
documents that the governmental entity itself would generate while performing 
the governmental function would be made available to the public by the 
nongovernmental entity. 
 
Ms. Buckley asked, if Opportunity Village had a contract with the State to 
provide services for developmentally disabled persons, whether the language of 
Section 3 would apply to Opportunity Village.   
 
Senator Care said the first question would be whether Opportunity Village was 
performing a governmental function.  He pointed out that programs operating 
under 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Service were recognized as nonprofit 
organizations.  The language of the bill addressed contractors, such as 
ambulance companies, that contracted with a local governmental entity to 
provide services.   
 
Ms. Buckley asked whether a private ambulance company would be subject to 
the open records law if that company was not contracting with a local 
governmental entity.   
 
Senator Care said that if a private ambulance company contracted with a local 
governmental entity to perform a governmental function, the ambulance 
company would be subject to the mandates of S.B. 123 (R2).  Senator Care 
pointed out that many fire departments offered ambulance service, which was 
considered a governmental function, but there might be a private company that 
had a contract with a governmental entity, and in such cases, the mandates of 
the bill would apply.     
 
Ms. Buckley stated that she was concerned about Section 3.  She voiced 
support for the other sections of the bill, but foresaw significant litigation about 
contractors performing traditional governmental functions, such as contractors 
for garbage collection, attorneys contracting for criminal defense services, 
or conflict attorneys.  Ms. Buckley indicated that perhaps Section 3 could be 
reworded about governmental entities that had privatized certain governmental 
functions. 
 
Senator Care stated that he would have no objection to rewording Section 3.  
The Senate Committee on Government Affairs had discussed the issue using the 
example of a county hiring an accountant, whose private records would not be 
subject to public record laws.  Senator Care explained that there were privileges 
attached to private companies, even when those companies entered into 
governmental contracts.  In the case of a contract attorney, the attorney-client 
privilege would apply.  Senator Care stated that he appreciated the point 
brought forward by Assemblywoman Buckley and he was open to suggestions 
regarding the language of Section 3. 
 
Chairman Arberry asked whether there was further testimony to come before 
the Committee regarding S.B. 123 (R2), and there being none, the Chairman 
declared the hearing closed. 
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MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
OF THE 

ASSEMBLY COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS 
 

Seventy-Fourth Session 
June 4, 2007 

 
 
Chairman Morse Arberry Jr. adjourned the previous Committee on Ways and 
Means hearing that recessed at 8:37 a.m. and called a new hearing of the 
Committee on Ways and Means to order at 9:55 a.m., on Monday, June 4, 
2007, in Room 3137 of the Legislative Building, 401 South Carson Street, 
Carson City, Nevada.  Copies of the minutes, including the Agenda (Exhibit A), 
the Attendance Roster (Exhibit B), and other substantive exhibits are available 
and on file in the Research Library of the Legislative Counsel Bureau and on the 
Nevada Legislature's website at www.leg.state.nv.us/74th/committees/. In 
addition, copies of the audio record may be purchased through the Legislative 
Counsel Bureau's Publications Office (email: publications@lcb.state.nv.us; 
telephone: 775-684-6835). 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 

 
Assemblyman Morse Arberry Jr., Chair 
Assemblywoman Sheila Leslie, Vice Chair 
Assemblywoman Barbara E. Buckley 
Assemblyman Mo Denis 
Assemblywoman Heidi S. Gansert 
Assemblyman Tom Grady 
Assemblyman Joseph P. (Joe) Hardy 
Assemblyman Joseph Hogan 
Assemblywoman Ellen Koivisto 
Assemblyman John W. Marvel 
Assemblywoman Kathy McClain 
Assemblyman David R. Parks 
Assemblywoman Debbie Smith 
Assemblywoman Valerie E. Weber 
 

GUEST LEGISLATORS PRESENT: 
 
Assemblyman Kelvin Atkinson, Assembly District No. 17 
Senator B. Warren Hardy, Senate District No. 12 
Senator Dennis Nolan, Senate District No. 9 
 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Mark W. Stevens, Assembly Fiscal Analyst 
Connie Davis, Committee Secretary 
Patricia Adams, Committee Assistant 

 
Senate Bill 301 (1st Reprint):  Revises various provisions governing the 

Fort Mohave Valley Development Law.  (BDR 26-1317) 
 
Chairman Arberry opened the hearing on Senate Bill 301 (R1). 
 
Senator Warren B. Hardy, representing Clark County, Senate District No. 12, 
testified in support of S.B. 301 (R1), a bill that revised provisions governing the 
Fort Mohave Valley Development Law.  The bill was jointly sponsored by 
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the State Board of Education to review multicultural educational requirements 
and instruction pertinent to the Constitution of the United States and the 
government of the State of Nevada. 
 

ASSEMBLYMAN MARVEL MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS 
AMENDED A.B. 434. 
 
ASSEMBLYWOMAN LESLIE SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
THE MOTION CARRIED.  (Assemblywoman Smith was not present 
for the vote.) 
 

***** 
 
Senate Bill 123 (2nd Reprint):  Makes various changes to provisions relating to 

public records.  (BDR 19-462) 
 
Chairman Arberry called for the Committee to vote on Senate Bill 123 (R2), a 
bill that would make various changes to provisions relating to public records.  
Senator Care sponsored the legislation. 
 
Assemblywoman Buckley proposed to remove the language in Section 3 and the 
definition pertaining to Section 3 on page 5, lines 10 through 13.   
Assemblywoman Buckley defined the language in Section 3 and on page 5 as 
"imperfect" and advised that Senator Care agreed to delete the language, which 
would be reviewed again during the 2009 Legislative Session. 
 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN BUCKLEY MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS 
AS AMENDED S.B. 123 (R2). 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN PARKS SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
THE MOTION CARRIED.  (Assemblywoman Smith was not present 
for the vote.  Assemblywoman Gansert, Assemblyman Hardy, 
Assemblywoman Weber voted nay.) 
 

***** 
 
Senate Bill 166 (1st Reprint):  Requires payment of increased salaries to certain 

school employees holding national certification.  (BDR 34-1149) 
 
Chairman Arberry called for the Committee to vote on Senate Bill 166 (R1), a 
bill that required payment of increased salaries to certain school employees 
holding national certification. 
 
Mark Stevens, Assembly Fiscal Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division,  
Legislative Counsel Bureau, advised the Committee that the bill, if approved, 
would require school districts to pay increased salaries to certain professional 
school librarians who hold certain national certification. 
 

ASSEMBLYMAN DENIS MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 166 (R1). 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN HOGAN SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
THE MOTION CARRIED.  (Assemblywoman Smith was not present 
for the vote.) 
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MINUTES OF THE  
SENATE COMMITTEE ON FINANCE 

 
Seventy-fourth Session 

June 4, 2007 
 
 
The Senate Committee on Finance was called to order by 
Chair William J. Raggio at 8:37 a.m. on Monday, June 4, 2007, in Room 2134 
of the Legislative Building, Carson City, Nevada. Exhibit A is the Agenda. 
Exhibit B is the Attendance Roster. All exhibits are available and on file in the 
Research Library of the Legislative Counsel Bureau. 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Senator William J. Raggio, Chair 
Senator Bob Beers, Vice Chair 
Senator Dean A. Rhoads 
Senator Barbara K. Cegavske 
Senator Bob Coffin 
Senator Dina Titus 
Senator Bernice Mathews 
 
GUEST LEGISLATORS PRESENT: 
 
Assemblywoman Debbie Smith, Washoe County Assembly District No. 30 
 
STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Bob Atkinson, Senior Program Analyst 
Gary L. Ghiggeri, Senate Fiscal Analyst 
Melinda Martini, Program Analyst 
Joe McCoy, Senior Research Analyst 
Larry L. Peri, Principal Deputy Fiscal Analyst 
Tracy Raxter, Senior Program Analyst 
Carol M. Stonefield, Principal Research Analyst 
H. Pepper Sturm, Chief Deputy Research Director 
Cynthia Clampitt, Committee Secretary 
 
OTHERS PRESENT: 
 
Samuel P. McMullen, Las Vegas Chamber of Commerce 
Julie Whitacre, Nevada State Education Association 
Keith Rheault, Ph.D, Superintendent of Public Instruction, Department of 

Education 
Michael R. Alastuey, Nevada Association of School Superintendents 
Susan Martinovich, P.E., Director, Nevada Department of Transportation 
Mark H. Fiorentino, The Focus Property Group 
Andrew Clinger, Director, Department of Administration 
Keith Wells, Administrator, State Motor Pool, Department of Administration 
Lonnie Shields, Clark County Association of School Administrators and 

Professional Technical Employees 
Tim Crowley, The Grow Network 
Ronald P. Dreher, Peace Officers Research Association of Nevada 
Rusty McAllister, Professional Firefighters of Nevada 
Michael Fischer, D.D.S., Director, Department of Cultural Affairs 
Robert A. Ostrovsky, State Board of Museums and History 
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SENATE BILL 123 (3rd Reprint):  Makes various changes to provisions relating 

to public records. (BDR 19-462) 
 
This bill was introduced by Senator Terry Care, Clark County Senatorial 
District 7. It makes changes with respect to provisions relating to public 
records. The Assembly has requested we concur with Amendment No. 1161 to 
this bill. The bill came to this Committee from the Senate Committee on 
Government Affairs. I have reviewed this amendment with the Chair of that 
Committee who has recommended we concur with the Assembly amendment. 
 
SENATOR TITUS: 
I can speak to this amendment. The original language applied to a governmental 
entity or a nongovernmental agency that was related to a governmental 
function. Senator Care originally said if the government contracted with a 
private firm, they could not respond. As a private company, they did not have 
to disclose records. 
 
The Assembly felt that was broad. The amendment narrows the language to 
apply only to governmental entities. 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
I am not aware of any objections from Senator Care to Amendment No. 1161. 
 
SENATOR TITUS: 
He has none.  
 
 SENATOR TITUS MOVED TO CONCUR IN ASSEMBLY AMENDMENT 
 NO.1161 TO S.B. 123. 
 
 SENATOR COFFIN SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
 THE MOTION CARRIED. (SENATOR CEGAVSKE WAS ABSENT FOR THE 
 VOTE.) 
 

***** 
 

MR. GHIGGERI: 
The next item for consideration is S.B. 73. This was Senator Rhoads' bill that 
has been amended. 
 
SENATE BILL 73:  Provides for allowances for certain travel expenses incurred 

by Legislators during the legislative interim. (BDR 17-265) 
 
CHAIR RAGGIO: 
This was the bill that allows a legislator to travel within his or her 
legislative district and receive compensation for travel expenses. The Assembly 
amendment provides a legislator could travel within the State rather than 
limiting it to their legislative district. Is the Committee willing to concur? 
 
 SENATOR RHOADS MOVED TO CONCUR WITH ASSEMBLY 
 AMENDMENT NO. 1159 TO S.B. 73. 
 
 SENATOR MATHEWS SECONDED THE MOTION. 
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 APRIL 23, 2007 — DAY 78 1 

THE SEVENTY-EIGHTH DAY 

CARSON CITY (Monday), April 23, 2007 

 Senate called to order at 12:27 p.m. 
 President Krolicki presiding. 
 Roll called. 
 All present. 
 Prayer by the Chaplain, Marie Hanson. 
 I invite you to join with me and everyone in this room, in this building, in this city, in this 
State, in this Nation, in this world everywhere, for we are one. 
 Let us now let go of all it took to be here this afternoon. Give this moment to the light and joy 
and peace that abides in you. Know the light and joy and peace that abides in you comes forward 
in all your activities today. 
 May you recognize only the light and joy and peace that abides in your brothers and sisters. 
Allow it to move through each thought, each word you write, each word you speak today and 
every day. For you are the light and joy and peace, and so it is. 

AMEN.

 Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

 Senator Raggio moved that further reading of the Journal be dispensed 
with, and the President and Secretary be authorized to make the necessary 
corrections and additions. 
 Motion carried. 

REPORTS OF COMMITTEES 
Mr. President:
 Your Committee on Human Resources and Education, to which was referred Senate Bill 
No. 52, has had the same under consideration, and begs leave to report the same back with the 
recommendation: Amend, and do pass as amended.

MAURICE E. WASHINGTON, Chair

Mr. President:
 Your Committee on Judiciary, to which were referred Senate Bills Nos. 45, 216, 232, 242, 
302, 380, 471, has had the same under consideration, and begs leave to report the same back 
with the recommendation: Amend, and do pass as amended.

MARK E. AMODEI, Chair

Mr. President:
 Your Committee on Transportation and Homeland Security, to which were referred Senate 
Bills Nos. 62, 293, 434, has had the same under consideration, and begs leave to report the same 
back with the recommendation: Amend, and do pass as amended. 

DENNIS NOLAN, Chair

MESSAGES FROM THE ASSEMBLY 
ASSEMBLY CHAMBER, Carson City, April 17, 2007 

To the Honorable the Senate:
 I have the honor to inform your honorable body that the Assembly on this day concurred in 
the Senate Amendment No. 26 to Assembly Bill No. 9. 
 LUCINDA BENJAMIN
 Assistant Chief Clerk of the Assembly
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of section 6, 7 or 8 of this act, to a civil penalty in an amount not to exceed 
[$25,000] $250,000 for each violation. 
 Sec. 14. NRS 453.5533 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 453.5533 1. A civil action brought pursuant to NRS 453.553 must be 
brought within 3 years after the conduct in violation of the provisions of 
NRS 453.011 to 453.552, inclusive, and sections 2 to 11, inclusive, of this act 
occurs.
 2. Such a civil action is not barred by a prior acquittal of the defendant in 
a criminal action arising out of the same act, transaction or occurrence. A 
final judgment or decree rendered in favor of the State in any criminal 
proceeding arising out of the same act, transaction or occurrence estops the 
defendant in a subsequent civil action from denying the essential allegations 
of the criminal offense. 
 Senator Washington moved the adoption of the amendment. 
 Remarks by Senator Washington. 
 Amendment adopted. 
 Bill ordered reprinted, engrossed and to third reading. 

 Senate Bill No. 123. 
 Bill read second time. 
 The following amendment was proposed by the Committee on 
Government Affairs: 
 Amendment No. 415. 
 "SUMMARY—Makes various changes to provisions relating to public 
records. (BDR 19-462)" 
 "AN ACT relating to public records; providing that certain records of a 
nongovernmental entity are public books or records under certain 
circumstances; requiring a governmental entity to take certain action [within 
a certain period] in response to a written request to inspect or copy a public 
book or record; making various changes regarding the confidentiality of 
records; [providing in skeleton form a mechanism pursuant to which]
authorizing a person [may] to apply to a district court for an order to allow 
the person to inspect or copy [a] certain confidential public [book] books or 
[record] records that [has] have been in the custody of a governmental entity 
for [at least 10 years;] a certain period; and providing other matters properly 
relating thereto." 
Legislative Counsel's Digest: 
 Under existing law, all public books and records of a governmental entity, 
the contents of which are not otherwise declared by law to be confidential [,]
or which the governmental entity determines pursuant to a balancing test 
must not be disclosed, must be open at all times during office hours for 
inspection and copying. (NRS 239.010 [)] ; Donrey v. Bradshaw, 106 Nev. 
630 (1990)) 
 Section 4 of this bill provides that if a governmental entity receives a 
written request to inspect or copy a public book or record, the governmental 
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entity must, within [2] 5 business days after the date on which the person 
who has legal custody or control of the book or record has received the 
request [was received,] : (1) allow the requester to inspect or copy the public 
book or record [, or provide to the requester written notice to explain why the 
public book or record may not presently be inspected or copied. If a 
governmental entity is unable to release a public book or record to a 
requester because it has been declared by law to be confidential and the 
governmental entity fails within 2 business days to provide notice of that fact 
to the requester, the governmental entity shall be deemed to have waived its 
right to claim that the book or record is confidential, and must allow the 
requester to inspect or copy that public book or record. If a person is 
proximately harmed by such a deemed waiver of confidentiality, the person 
may bring an action for damages against the governmental entity.
 Section] ; (2) if the governmental entity does not have legal custody or 
control of the public book or record, notify the requester of that fact and 
where, if known, the public book or record is located; (3) if the governmental 
entity cannot make the public book or record available within 5 business 
days, notify the requester of the date and time when the book or record will 
be available; or (4) if the public book or record is confidential, notify the 
requester of that fact in writing, including a citation to the legal authority that 
makes the book or record confidential. 
 With the exception of public books or records pertaining to applicants for 
gaming licenses, section 6 of this bill provides that, notwithstanding any 
provision of law that has declared a public book or record, or a part thereof, 
to be confidential, once [the] a public book or record has been in the legal 
custody or control of one or more governmental entities for a period of at 
least [10] 30 years, a person may apply to the appropriate district court for an 
order allowing him to inspect or copy the public book or record. If the public 
book or record pertains to a natural person, a person may not apply for such a 
court order until 30 years after the book or record has been in the legal 
custody or control of a governmental entity or the death of the person to 
whom the book or record pertains, whichever is later. Section [10] 218 of this 
bill [provides] clarifies that a person may [not] apply for such an order [until 
October 1, 2017, thus beginning the 10-year waiting period] on or after 
October 1, 2007, the effective date of the bill [.] , to inspect or copy public 
books or records that already meet the conditions set forth in section 6. 
 Section 5 of this bill provides that in any judicial or administrative 
proceeding in which the confidentiality of a public book or record is at issue 
and the governmental entity that has legal custody or control of the public 
book or record asserts that the public book or record is confidential, the 
governmental entity has the burden of proving such confidentiality. 
 Sections 3 and 7 of this bill provide that although a nongovernmental 
entity which performs certain functions for or on behalf of a governmental 
entity is considered a governmental entity for the purposes of Nevada's 
public records law (chapter 239 of NRS), the records of a nongovernmental 195195
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entity [are public records that must be open for inspection and copying only 
if such records: (1) are created, obtained, maintained or preserved in the 
course of administering, managing or regulating] that are directly related to 
the administration, management or regulation of an activity, program, 
institution or facility for or on behalf of a governmental entity [; and 
(2) would otherwise be considered public records within the meaning of 
NRS 239.010.] are public records that must be open for inspection and 
copying. Section 3 specifically excludes financial or other proprietary records 
of a nongovernmental entity from this requirement. 
 Section 8 of this bill provides that a governmental entity shall not deny a 
request to inspect or copy a public book or record because the public book or 
record contains information that [has been declared by law to be] is 
confidential if the governmental entity can redact the confidential 
information.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, REPRESENTED IN 
SENATE AND ASSEMBLY, DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS: 

 Section 1. Chapter 239 of NRS is hereby amended by adding thereto the 
provisions set forth as sections 2 to 6, inclusive, of this act. 
 Sec. 2. The Legislature hereby finds and declares that: 

1. The purpose of this chapter is to foster democratic principles by 
providing members of the public with access to inspect and copy public 
books and records to the extent permitted by law; 

2. The provisions of this chapter must be construed liberally to carry out 
this important purpose; and 

3. Any exemption, exception or balancing of interests which limits or 
restricts access to public books and records by members of the public must 
be construed narrowly. 
 Sec. 3. [Records]

1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, records of a 
nongovernmental entity [are public records that must be open for inspection 
and copying only if such records:

1. Are created, obtained, maintained or preserved by the 
nongovernmental entity in the course of administering, managing or 
regulating] that are directly related to the administration, management or 
regulation of an activity, program, institution or facility by the 
nongovernmental entity for or on behalf of a governmental entity [; and

2. Would otherwise be considered public records within the meaning of 
NRS 239.010 if the records were created, obtained, maintained or preserved 
by a governmental entity that is described in paragraphs (a) to (d), inclusive, 
of subsection 4 of NRS 239.005.] are public records that must be open for 
inspection and copying.

2. This section does not apply to the financial or other proprietary 
records of the nongovernmental entity. 
 Sec. 4. 1. Not later than the end of the [second] fifth business day after 
the date on which [it] the person who has legal custody or control of a public 196196
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book or record of a governmental entity receives a written request from a 
person to inspect or copy [a] the public book or record, a governmental 
entity shall do one of the following, as applicable: 

(a) Allow the person to inspect or copy the public book or record. 
(b) If the governmental entity does not have legal custody or control of the 

public book or record, provide to the person, in writing: 
(1) Notice of that fact; and 
(2) The name and address of the governmental entity that has legal

custody or control of the public book or record, if known. 
(c) [If extraordinary circumstances exist which make it impossible for]

Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (d), if the governmental entity is 
unable to [allow the person to inspect or copy] make the public book or 
record available by the end of the [second] fifth business day after the date 
on which the [person made his] person who has legal custody or control of 
the public book or record received the request, provide to the person, in 
writing:

(1) Notice of that fact; and 
(2) A date and time after which the public book or record will be 

available for the person to inspect or copy. [Such date and time must be not 
later than the end of the 10th business day after the date on which the notice 
described in this paragraph is provided by the governmental entity.] If the 
public book or record is not available to the person to inspect or copy by that 
date and time, the person may inquire regarding the status of the request.

(d) If the governmental entity must deny the person's request to inspect or 
copy the public book or record because the public book or record, or a part 
thereof, [has been declared by law to be] is confidential, provide to the 
person, in writing: 

(1) Notice of that fact; and 
(2) A citation to the specific statute or other legal authority that 

[declares] makes the public book or record, or a part thereof, [to be]
confidential.

2. [If a governmental entity must deny a person's request to inspect or 
copy a public book or record because the public book or record, or a part 
thereof, has been declared by law to be confidential but the governmental 
entity fails to comply with the provisions of paragraph (d) of subsection 1, 
the governmental entity shall be deemed to have waived its right to claim that 
the public book or record is confidential and must allow the person to inspect 
or copy the public book or record, or a part thereof, unless the governmental 
entity or the administrative head of the governmental entity, as applicable, 
determines that:

(a) The failure of the governmental entity to comply with the provisions of 
paragraph (d) of subsection 1 was due to excusable neglect; or

(b) Allowing the person to inspect or copy the public book or record, or a 
part thereof, would adversely affect personal privacy rights.
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3. Any decision made pursuant to subsection 2 by a governmental entity 
or the administrative head of a governmental entity, as applicable, is a final 
decision for the purposes of judicial review. A person aggrieved by such a
final decision is entitled to judicial review of the decision in the manner 
provided in NRS 233B.130 to 233B.150, inclusive, for the review of decisions 
of administrative agencies in contested cases.

4. If, pursuant to subsection 2, a governmental entity is deemed to have 
waived its right to claim that a public book or record is confidential and a 
person suffers injury as the proximate result of the release of that public 
book or record, or a part thereof, the person may bring an action against the 
governmental entity in a court of competent jurisdiction for the recovery of 
his actual damages and any punitive damages which the facts may warrant.]
The provisions of this section must not be construed to prohibit an oral 
request to inspect or copy a public book or record.
 Sec. 5. Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, if: 

1. The confidentiality of a public book or record, or a part thereof, is at 
issue in a judicial or administrative proceeding; and 

2. The governmental entity that has legal custody or control of the public 
book or record asserts that the public book or record, or a part thereof, is 
confidential,

 the governmental entity has the burden of proving by a preponderance of 
the evidence that the public book or record, or a part thereof, is confidential. 
 Sec. 6. 1. [Notwithstanding] Except as otherwise provided in this 
subsection and subsection 3, notwithstanding any provision of law that has 
declared a public book or record, or a part thereof, to be confidential, if a 
public book or record has been in the legal custody or control of one or more 
governmental entities for at least [10] 30 years, a person may apply to the 
district court of the county in which [is located] the governmental entity that 
currently has legal custody or control of the public book or record is located 
for an order directing that governmental entity to allow the person to inspect 
or copy the public book or record, or a part thereof. If the public book or 
record pertains to a natural person, a person may not apply for an order 
pursuant to this subsection until the public book or record has been in the 
legal custody or control of one or more governmental entities for at least 
30 years or until the death of the person to whom the public book or record 
pertains, whichever is later.

2. There is a rebuttable presumption that a person who applies for an 
order as described in subsection 1 is entitled to inspect or copy the public 
book or record, or a part thereof, that he seeks to inspect or copy. 

3. The provisions of subsection 1 do not apply to any public book or 
record pertaining to an applicant that has been declared confidential 
pursuant to subsection 4 of NRS 463.120. As used in this subsection, 
"applicant" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 463.0135.
 Sec. 7. NRS 239.005 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 239.005 As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires: 198198
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 1. "Actual cost" means the direct cost related to the reproduction of a 
public record. The term does not include a cost that a governmental entity 
incurs regardless of whether or not a person requests a copy of a particular 
public record. 
 2. "Committee" means the Committee to Approve Schedules for the 
Retention and Disposition of Official State Records. 
 3. "Division" means the Division of State Library and Archives of the 
Department of Cultural Affairs. 
 4. "Governmental entity" means: 
 (a) An elected or appointed officer of this State or of a political 
subdivision of this State; 
 (b) An institution, board, commission, bureau, council, department, 
division, authority or other unit of government of this State or of a political 
subdivision of this State; 
 (c) A university foundation, as defined in NRS 396.405; [or]
 (d) An educational foundation, as defined in NRS 388.750, to the extent 
that the foundation is dedicated to the assistance of public schools [.] ; or 

(e) Any other person or nongovernmental entity that administers, manages 
or regulates an activity, program, institution or facility for or on behalf of a 
governmental entity described in paragraphs (a) to (d), inclusive, of this 
subsection.
 Sec. 8. NRS 239.010 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 239.010 1. [All] Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, all 
public books and public records of a governmental entity, the contents of 
which are not otherwise declared by law to be confidential, must be open at 
all times during office hours to inspection by any person, and may be fully 
copied or an abstract or memorandum may be prepared from those public 
books and public records. Any such copies, abstracts or memoranda may be 
used to supply the general public with copies, abstracts or memoranda of the 
records or may be used in any other way to the advantage of the 
governmental entity or of the general public. This section does not supersede 
or in any manner affect the federal laws governing copyrights or enlarge, 
diminish or affect in any other manner the rights of a person in any written 
book or record which is copyrighted pursuant to federal law. 
 2. A governmental entity that has legal custody or control of a public 
book or record shall not deny a request made pursuant to subsection 1 to 
inspect or copy a public book or record on the basis that the requested public 
book or record contains information that [has otherwise been declared by 
law to be] is confidential if the governmental entity can redact, delete, 
conceal or separate the confidential information from the information 
included in the public book or record that [has] is not otherwise [been 
declared by law to be] confidential. 

3. A governmental entity may not reject a book or record which is 
copyrighted solely because it is copyrighted. 
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 [3.] 4. A person may request a copy of a public record in any medium in 
which the public record is readily available. An officer, employee or agent of 
a governmental entity who has legal custody or control of a public record 
shall not refuse to provide a copy of that public record in a readily available 
medium because he has already prepared or would prefer to provide the copy 
in a different medium. 

Sec. 9. NRS 239.0105 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 239.0105 1. Records of a local governmental entity are confidential 
and not public books or records within the meaning of NRS 239.010 if: 
 (a) The records contain the name, address, telephone number or other 
identifying information of a natural person; and 
 (b) The natural person whose name, address, telephone number or other 
identifying information is contained in the records provided such information 
to the local governmental entity for the purpose of: 
  (1) Registering with or applying to the local governmental entity for the 
use of any recreational facility or portion thereof that the local governmental 
entity offers for use through the acceptance of reservations; or 
  (2) On his own behalf or on behalf of a minor child, registering or 
enrolling with or applying to the local governmental entity for participation 
in an instructional or recreational activity or event conducted, operated or 
sponsored by the local governmental entity. 
 2. The records described in subsection 1 must be disclosed by a local 
governmental entity only pursuant to: 
 (a) A subpoena or court order, lawfully issued, requiring the disclosure of 
such records; 
 (b) An affidavit of an attorney setting forth that the disclosure of such 
records is relevant to an investigation in anticipation of litigation; [or]
 (c) A request by a reporter or editorial employee for the disclosure of such 
records, if the reporter or editorial employee is employed by or affiliated with 
a newspaper, press association or commercially operated, federally licensed 
radio or television station [.] ; or

(d) The provisions of section 6 of this act.
 3. Except as otherwise provided by specific statute or federal law, a 
natural person shall not provide, and a local governmental entity shall not 
require, the social security number of any natural person for the purposes 
described in subparagraphs (1) and (2) of paragraph (b) of subsection 1. 
 4. As used in this section, unless the context otherwise requires, "local 
governmental entity" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 239.121. 
 [Sec. 9.] Sec. 10. [NRS 239.012 is hereby amended to read as follows:
 239.012 [A] Except as otherwise provided in subsection 4 of section 4 of 
this act, a public officer or employee who acts in good faith in disclosing or 
refusing to disclose information , and his employer , are immune from 
liability for damages, either to the requester or to the person whom the 
information concerns.] (Deleted by amendment.) 

Sec. 11. NRS 239C.140 is hereby amended to read as follows: 200200
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 239C.140 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsections 2 and 3, the 
Commission shall comply with the provisions of chapter 241 of NRS and all 
meetings of the Commission must be conducted in accordance with that 
chapter.
 2. The Commission may hold a closed meeting to:
 (a) Receive security briefings; 
 (b) Discuss procedures for responding to acts of terrorism and related 
emergencies; or 
 (c) Discuss deficiencies in security with respect to public services, public 
facilities and infrastructure, 

 if the Commission determines, upon a majority vote of its members, that 
the public disclosure of such matters would be likely to compromise, 
jeopardize or otherwise threaten the safety of the public. 
 3. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all 
information and materials received or prepared by the Commission during a 
meeting closed pursuant to subsection 2 and all minutes and audiovisual or 
electronic reproductions of such a meeting are confidential, not subject to 
subpoena or discovery, and not subject to inspection by the general public. 

Sec. 12. NRS 239C.250 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 239C.250 1. Each political subdivision shall adopt and maintain a 
response plan. Each new or revised plan must be filed within 10 days after 
adoption or revision with: 
 (a) The Division; and 
 (b) Each response agency that provides services to the political 
subdivision.
 2. The response plan required by subsection 1 must include: 
 (a) A drawing or map of the layout and boundaries of the political 
subdivision;
 (b) A drawing or description of the streets and highways within, and 
leading into and out of, the political subdivision, including any approved 
routes for evacuation; 
 (c) The location and inventory of emergency response equipment and 
resources within the political subdivision; 
 (d) The location of any unusually hazardous substances within the 
political subdivision; 
 (e) A telephone number that may be used by residents of the political 
subdivision to receive information and to make reports with respect to an act 
of terrorism or related emergency; 
 (f) The location of one or more emergency response command posts that 
are located within the political subdivision; 
 (g) A depiction of the location of each police station, sheriff's office and 
fire station that is located within the political subdivision; 
 (h) Plans for the continuity of the operations and services of the political 
subdivision, which plans must be consistent with the provisions of 
NRS 239C.260; and 201201
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 (i) Any other information that the Commission may determine to be 
relevant.
 3. [A] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, a plan filed 
pursuant to the requirements of this section, including any revisions adopted 
thereto, is confidential and must be securely maintained by the entities with 
whom it is filed pursuant to subsection 1. An officer, employee or other 
person to whom the plan is entrusted by the entity with whom it is filed shall 
not disclose the contents of such a plan except: 
 (a) Upon the lawful order of a court of competent jurisdiction; [or]
 (b) As is reasonably necessary in the case of an act of terrorism or related 
emergency [.] ; or

(c) Pursuant to the provisions of section 6 of this act.
Sec. 13. NRS 239C.270 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 239C.270 1. Each utility shall: 
 (a) Conduct a vulnerability assessment in accordance with the 
requirements of the federal and regional agencies that regulate the utility; and 
 (b) Prepare and maintain an emergency response plan in accordance with 
the requirements of the federal and regional agencies that regulate the utility. 
 2. Each utility shall: 
 (a) As soon as practicable but not later than December 31, 2003, submit its 
vulnerability assessment and emergency response plan to the Division; and 
 (b) At least once each year thereafter, review its vulnerability assessment 
and emergency response plan and, as soon as practicable after its review is 
completed but not later than December 31 of each year, submit the results of 
its review and any additions or modifications to its emergency response plan 
to the Division. 
 3. [Each] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, each 
vulnerability assessment and emergency response plan of a utility and any 
other information concerning a utility that is necessary to carry out the 
provisions of this section is confidential and must be securely maintained by 
each person or entity that has possession, custody or control of the 
information.
 4. A person shall not disclose such information, except: 
 (a) Upon the lawful order of a court of competent jurisdiction; 
 (b) As is reasonably necessary to carry out the provisions of this section or 
the operations of the utility, as determined by the Division; [or]
 (c) As is reasonably necessary in the case of an emergency involving 
public health or safety, as determined by the Division [.] ; or

(d) Pursuant to the provisions of section 6 of this act.
 5. If a person knowingly and unlawfully discloses such information or 
assists, solicits or conspires with another person to disclose such information, 
the person is guilty of: 
 (a) A gross misdemeanor; or 
 (b) A category C felony and shall be punished as provided in 
NRS 193.130 if the person acted with the intent to: 202202
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  (1) Commit, cause, aid, further or conceal, or attempt to commit, cause, 
aid, further or conceal, any unlawful act involving terrorism or sabotage; or 
  (2) Assist, solicit or conspire with another person to commit, cause, aid, 
further or conceal any unlawful act involving terrorism or sabotage. 

Sec. 14. NRS 240.007 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 240.007 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, information 
and documents filed with or obtained by the Secretary of State pursuant to 
NRS 240.001 to 240.169, inclusive, are public information and are available 
for public examination. 
 2. Except as otherwise provided in subsections 3 and 4 [,] and in 
section 6 of this act, information and documents obtained by or filed with the 
Secretary of State in connection with an investigation concerning a possible 
violation of the provisions of NRS 240.001 to 240.169, inclusive, are not 
public information and are confidential. 
 3. The Secretary of State may submit any information or evidence 
obtained in connection with an investigation concerning a possible violation 
of the provisions of NRS 240.001 to 240.169, inclusive, to the appropriate 
district attorney for the purpose of prosecuting a criminal action. 
 4. The Secretary of State may disclose any information or documents 
obtained in connection with an investigation concerning a possible violation 
of the provisions of NRS 240.001 to 240.169, inclusive, to an agency of this 
State or a political subdivision of this State. 

Sec. 15. NRS 1.4683 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 1.4683 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section and NRS 1.4693
[,] and section 6 of this act, all proceedings of the Commission must remain 
confidential until the Commission makes a determination pursuant to 
NRS 1.467 and the prosecuting attorney files a formal statement of charges. 
 2. The confidentiality required pursuant to subsection 1 also applies to all 
information and materials, written or oral, received or developed by the 
Commission or its staff in the course of its work and relating to the alleged 
misconduct or incapacity of a judge. 
 3. The Commission shall disclose: 
 (a) The report of a proceeding before the Commission; and 
 (b) All testimony given and all materials filed in connection with such a 
proceeding,

 if a witness is prosecuted for perjury committed during the course of that 
proceeding.
 4. If the Commission determines at any stage in a disciplinary 
proceeding that there is an insufficient factual or legal basis to proceed, the 
Commission shall dismiss the complaint and may, at the request of the justice 
or judge named in the complaint, publicly issue an explanatory statement. 
 5. The Commission may issue press releases and other public statements 
to:
 (a) Explain the nature of its jurisdiction; 
 (b) Explain the procedure for filing a complaint; 203203
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 (c) Explain limitations upon its powers and authority; and 
 (d) Report on the conduct of its affairs. 

 Such releases and statements must not, without the consent of the justice 
or judge concerned, disclose by name, position, address or other information 
the identity of a justice or judge or other person involved in a proceeding 
then pending before the Commission or that has been resolved without an 
order of censure, removal or retirement, unless formal charges have been 
filed after a determination pursuant to NRS 1.467. 
 6. The Commission may, without disclosing the name of or any details 
that may identify the justice or judge involved, disclose the existence of a 
proceeding before it to the State Board of Examiners and the Interim Finance 
Committee to obtain additional money for its operation from the Contingency 
Fund established pursuant to NRS 353.266. 
 7. No record of any medical examination, psychiatric evaluation or other 
comparable professional record made for use in an informal resolution 
pursuant to subsection 1 of NRS 1.4665 may be made public at any time 
without the consent of the justice or judge concerned. 

Sec. 16. NRS 62D.440 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 62D.440 1. The prosecuting attorney shall disclose to the victim of an 
act committed by a child the disposition of the child's case regarding that act 
if:
 (a) The victim requests such a disclosure; or 
 (b) If the victim is less than 18 years of age, the parent or guardian of the 
victim requests such a disclosure. 
 2. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all personal
information pertaining to the victim or the parent or guardian of the victim, 
including, but not limited to, a current or former address, which is obtained 
by the prosecuting attorney pursuant to this section, is confidential and must 
not be used for a purpose other than that provided for in this section. 

Sec. 17. NRS 62E.620 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 62E.620 1. The juvenile court shall order a delinquent child to undergo 
an evaluation to determine whether the child is an abuser of alcohol or other 
drugs if the child committed: 
 (a) An unlawful act in violation of NRS 484.379, 484.3795 or 484.37955; 
 (b) The unlawful act of using, possessing, selling or distributing a 
controlled substance; or 
 (c) The unlawful act of purchasing, consuming or possessing an alcoholic 
beverage in violation of NRS 202.020. 
 2. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 3, an evaluation of the 
child must be conducted by: 
 (a) An alcohol and drug abuse counselor who is licensed or certified or an 
alcohol and drug abuse counselor intern who is certified pursuant to 
chapter 641C of NRS to make that classification; or 
 (b) A physician who is certified to make that classification by the Board of 
Medical Examiners. 204204
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 3. If the child resides in this State but the nearest location at which an 
evaluation may be conducted is in another state, the court may allow the 
evaluation to be conducted in the other state if the person conducting the 
evaluation:
 (a) Possesses qualifications that are substantially similar to the 
qualifications described in subsection 2; 
 (b) Holds an appropriate license, certificate or credential issued by a 
regulatory agency in the other state; and 
 (c) Is in good standing with the regulatory agency in the other state. 
 4. The evaluation of the child may be conducted at an evaluation center. 
 5. The person who conducts the evaluation of the child shall report to the 
juvenile court the results of the evaluation and make a recommendation to the 
juvenile court concerning the length and type of treatment required for the 
child.
 6. The juvenile court shall: 
 (a) Order the child to undergo a program of treatment as recommended by 
the person who conducts the evaluation of the child. 
 (b) Require the treatment facility to submit monthly reports on the 
treatment of the child pursuant to this section. 
 (c) Order the child or the parent or guardian of the child, or both, to the 
extent of their financial ability, to pay any charges relating to the evaluation 
and treatment of the child pursuant to this section. If the child or the parent or 
guardian of the child, or both, do not have the financial resources to pay all 
those charges: 
  (1) The juvenile court shall, to the extent possible, arrange for the child 
to receive treatment from a treatment facility which receives a sufficient 
amount of federal or state money to offset the remainder of the costs; and 
  (2) The juvenile court may order the child, in lieu of paying the charges 
relating to his evaluation and treatment, to perform community service. 
 7. After a treatment facility has certified a child's successful completion 
of a program of treatment ordered pursuant to this section, the treatment 
facility is not liable for any damages to person or property caused by a child 
who:
 (a) Drives, operates or is in actual physical control of a vehicle or a vessel 
under power or sail while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or a 
controlled substance; or 
 (b) Engages in any other conduct prohibited by NRS 484.379, 484.3795, 
484.37955, subsection 2 of NRS 488.400, NRS 488.410, 488.420 or 488.425 
or a law of any other jurisdiction that prohibits the same or similar conduct. 
 8. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the juvenile court from: 
 (a) Requiring an evaluation to be conducted by a person who is employed 
by a private company if the company meets the standards of the Health 
Division of the Department of Health and Human Services. The evaluation 
may be conducted at an evaluation center. 
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 (b) Ordering the child to attend a program of treatment which is 
administered by a private company. 
 9. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all 
information relating to the evaluation or treatment of a child pursuant to this 
section is confidential and, except as otherwise authorized by the provisions 
of this title or the juvenile court, must not be disclosed to any person other 
than:
 (a) The juvenile court; 
 (b) The child; 
 (c) The attorney for the child, if any; 
 (d) The parents or guardian of the child; 
 (e) The district attorney; and 
 (f) Any other person for whom the communication of that information is 
necessary to effectuate the evaluation or treatment of the child. 
 10. A record of any finding that a child has violated the provisions of 
NRS 484.379, 484.3795 or 484.37955 must be included in the driver's record 
of that child for 7 years after the date of the offense. 

Sec. 18. NRS 62H.220 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 62H.220 1. For each child adjudicated delinquent for an unlawful act 
that would have been a sexual offense if committed by an adult, the Division 
of Child and Family Services shall collect from the juvenile courts, local 
juvenile probation departments and the staff of the youth correctional 
services, as directed by the Department of Health and Human Services: 
 (a) The information listed in NRS 62H.210; 
 (b) The name of the child; and 
 (c) All information concerning programs of treatment in which the child 
participated that: 
  (1) Were directly related to the delinquent act committed by the child; 
or
  (2) Were designed or utilized to prevent the commission of another such 
act by the child in the future. 
 2. The Division of Child and Family Services shall provide the 
information collected pursuant to subsection 1 to the Central Repository for 
use in the program established pursuant to NRS 179A.270, 179A.280 and 
179A.290.
 3. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all 
information containing the name of the child and all information relating to 
programs of treatment in which the child participated is confidential and 
must not be used for a purpose other than that provided for in this section and 
NRS 179A.290. 
 4. As used in this section, "sexual offense" means: 
 (a) Sexual assault pursuant to NRS 200.366; 
 (b) Statutory sexual seduction pursuant to NRS 200.368; 
 (c) Battery with intent to commit sexual assault pursuant to NRS 200.400; 
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 (d) An offense involving pornography and a minor pursuant to 
NRS 200.710 to 200.730, inclusive; 
 (e) Incest pursuant to NRS 201.180; 
 (f) Solicitation of a minor to engage in acts constituting the infamous 
crime against nature pursuant to NRS 201.195; 
 (g) Open or gross lewdness pursuant to NRS 201.210; 
 (h) Indecent or obscene exposure pursuant to NRS 201.220; 
 (i) Lewdness with a child pursuant to NRS 201.230; 
 (j) Sexual penetration of a dead human body pursuant to NRS 201.450; 
 (k) Luring a child using a computer, system or network pursuant to 
NRS 201.560, if punished as a felony; 
 (l) Annoyance or molestation of a minor pursuant to NRS 207.260; 
 (m) An attempt to commit an offense listed in paragraphs (a) to (l), 
inclusive;
 (n) An offense that is determined to be sexually motivated pursuant to 
NRS 175.547; or 
 (o) An offense committed in another jurisdiction that, if committed in this 
State, would have been an offense listed in this subsection. 

Sec. 19. NRS 90.730 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 90.730 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, information 
and records filed with or obtained by the Administrator are public 
information and are available for public examination. 
 2. Except as otherwise provided in subsections 3 and 4 [,] and section 6 
of this act, the following information and records do not constitute public 
information under subsection 1 and are confidential: 
 (a) Information or records obtained by the Administrator in connection 
with an investigation concerning possible violations of this chapter; and 
 (b) Information or records filed with the Administrator in connection with 
a registration statement filed under this chapter or a report under NRS 90.390 
which constitute trade secrets or commercial or financial information of a 
person for which that person is entitled to and has asserted a claim of 
privilege or confidentiality authorized by law. 
 3. The Administrator may submit any information or evidence obtained 
in connection with an investigation to the: 
 (a) Attorney General or appropriate district attorney for the purpose of 
prosecuting a criminal action under this chapter; and 
 (b) Department of Taxation for its use in carrying out the provisions of 
chapter 363A of NRS. 
 4. The Administrator may disclose any information obtained in 
connection with an investigation pursuant to NRS 90.620 to the agencies and 
administrators specified in subsection 1 of NRS 90.740 but only if disclosure 
is provided for the purpose of a civil, administrative or criminal investigation 
or proceeding, and the receiving agency or administrator represents in 
writing that under applicable law protections exist to preserve the integrity, 
confidentiality and security of the information. 207207
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 5. This chapter does not create any privilege or diminish any privilege 
existing at common law, by statute, regulation or otherwise. 

Sec. 20. NRS 91.160 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 91.160 1. This chapter must be administered by the Administrator of 
the Securities Division of the Office of the Secretary of State. 
 2. It is unlawful for the Administrator or any employee of the 
Administrator to use for personal benefit any information which is filed with 
or obtained by the Administrator and which is not made public. It is unlawful 
for the Administrator or any employee of the Administrator to conduct any 
dealings regarding a security or commodity based upon any such 
information, even though made public, if there has not been a sufficient 
period of time for the securities or commodity markets to assimilate such 
information.
 3. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 4, all information and 
materials collected, assembled or maintained by the Administrator are public 
records.
 4. [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the 
following information is confidential: 
 (a) Information obtained in private investigations pursuant to NRS 91.300; 
and
 (b) Information obtained from federal agencies which may not be 
disclosed under federal law. 
 5. The Administrator in his discretion may disclose any information 
made confidential under subsection 4 to persons identified in subsection 1 of  
NRS 91.170. 
 6. No provision of this chapter either creates or derogates any privilege 
which exists at common law, by statute or otherwise when any record or 
other evidence is sought under subpoena directed to the Administrator or any 
employee of the Administrator. 

Sec. 21. NRS 116.757 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 116.757 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a written affidavit filed with the Division pursuant to 
NRS 116.760, all documents and other information filed with the written 
affidavit and all documents and other information compiled as a result of an 
investigation conducted to determine whether to file a formal complaint with 
the Commission are confidential. 
 2. A formal complaint filed with the Commission and all documents and 
other information considered by the Commission or a hearing panel when 
determining whether to impose discipline or take other administrative action 
pursuant to NRS 116.745 to 116.795, inclusive, are public records. 

Sec. 22. NRS 116A.270 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 116A.270 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Division alleging a violation 
of this chapter or chapter 116 of NRS, all documents and other information 
filed with the complaint and all documents and other information compiled 208208
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as a result of an investigation conducted to determine whether to initiate 
disciplinary action are confidential. 
 2. The complaint or other charging documents filed with the Commission 
to initiate disciplinary action and all documents and other information 
considered by the Commission or a hearing panel when determining whether 
to impose discipline are public records. 

Sec. 23. NRS 118B.026 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 118B.026 1. The Administrator may, upon receiving a complaint 
alleging a violation of this chapter or any regulation adopted pursuant 
thereto, investigate the alleged violation. The Administrator or his 
representative shall, upon request, furnish identification during an 
investigation. [Any] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
any information obtained by the Administrator or his representative in the 
investigation of a complaint, including the name of the complainant, is 
confidential and must not be disclosed unless so ordered by the 
Administrator or a court of competent jurisdiction. 
 2. If the Administrator finds a violation of the provisions of this chapter 
or of any regulation adopted pursuant thereto, he may issue a notice of 
violation to the person who he alleges has violated the provision. The notice 
of violation must set forth the violation which the Administrator alleges with 
particularity and specify the corrective action which is to be taken and the 
time within which the action must be taken. 
 3. If the person to whom a notice of violation is directed fails to take the 
corrective action required, the Administrator may: 
 (a) Extend the time for corrective action; 
 (b) Request the district attorney of the county in which the violation is 
alleged to have occurred to prepare a complaint and procure the issuance of a 
summons to the person for the violation; or 
 (c) Apply to the district court for the judicial district in which the violation 
is alleged to have occurred for an injunction and any other relief which the 
court may grant to compel compliance. In an action brought pursuant to this 
section, the court may award costs and reasonable attorney's fees to the 
prevailing party. 

 The Administrator may, in addition to or in lieu of any action authorized 
by paragraph (a), (b) or (c), impose a fine pursuant to NRS 118B.251. 
 4. Any person who violates a provision of this chapter, or a regulation 
adopted pursuant thereto, shall pay for the cost incurred by the division in 
enforcing the provision. 

Sec. 24. NRS 119.260 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 119.260 1. The Administrator may issue orders directing persons to 
desist and refrain from engaging in activities for which they are not licensed 
under this chapter or conducting activities in a manner not in compliance 
with the provisions of this chapter. 
 2. A person who has violated any of the provisions of this chapter shall 
not engage in any activity for which a license issued pursuant to this chapter 209209
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is required after receiving an order in writing from the Administrator 
directing him to desist and refrain from so doing. 
 3. Within 30 days after the receipt of such an order, the person may file a 
verified petition with the Administrator for a hearing. 
 4. The Administrator shall hold a hearing within 30 days after the 
petition has been filed. If the Administrator fails to hold a hearing within 
30 days, or does not render a written decision within 45 days after the final 
hearing, the cease and desist order is rescinded. 
 5. If the decision of the Administrator after a hearing is against the 
person ordered to cease and desist, he may appeal that decision by filing, 
within 30 days after the date on which the decision was issued, a petition in 
the district court for the county in which he conducted the activity. The 
burden of proof in the appeal is on the appellant. The court shall consider the 
decision of the Administrator for which the appeal is taken and is limited 
solely to a consideration and determination of the question of whether there 
has been an abuse of discretion on the part of the Administrator in making 
the decision. 
 6. In lieu of issuing an order to cease and desist, if the developer is 
conducting activities in a manner not in compliance with the provisions of 
this chapter, the Administrator may enter into an agreement with the 
developer in which the developer agrees to: 
 (a) Discontinue the activities that are not in compliance with this chapter; 
 (b) Pay all costs incurred by the Division in investigating the developer's 
activities and conducting any necessary hearing; and 
 (c) Return to the purchasers any money or property which he acquired 
through such activities. 

 [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the terms of 
such an agreement are confidential unless violated by the developer. 

Sec. 25. NRS 119A.280 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 119A.280 1. The Administrator may issue an order directing a 
developer to cease engaging in activities for which the developer has not 
received a permit under this chapter or conducting activities in a manner not 
in compliance with the provisions of this chapter or the regulations adopted 
pursuant thereto. 
 2. The order to cease must be in writing and must state that, in the 
opinion of the Administrator, the developer has not been issued a permit for 
the activity or the terms of the permit do not allow the developer to conduct 
the activity in that manner. The developer shall not engage in any activity 
regulated by this chapter after he receives such an order. 
 3. Within 30 days after receiving such an order, a developer may file a 
verified petition with the Administrator for a hearing. The Administrator 
shall hold a hearing within 30 days after the petition has been filed. If the 
Administrator fails to hold a hearing within 30 days, or does not render a 
written decision within 45 days after the final hearing, the cease and desist 
order is rescinded. 210210
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 4. If the decision of the Administrator after a hearing is against the 
person ordered to cease and desist, he may appeal that decision by filing, 
within 30 days after the date on which the decision was issued, a petition in 
the district court for the county in which he conducted the activity. The 
burden of proof in the appeal is on the appellant. The court shall consider the 
decision of the Administrator for which the appeal is taken and is limited 
solely to a consideration and determination of the question of whether there 
has been an abuse of discretion on the part of the Administrator in making 
the decision. 
 5. In lieu of the issuance of an order to cease such activities, the 
Administrator may enter into an agreement with the developer in which the 
developer agrees to: 
 (a) Discontinue the activities that are not in compliance with this chapter; 
 (b) Pay all costs incurred by the Division in investigating the developer's 
activities and conducting any necessary hearings; and 
 (c) Return to the purchasers any money or property which he acquired 
through such violations. 

 [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the terms of 
such an agreement are confidential unless violated by the developer. 

Sec. 26. NRS 119B.370 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 119B.370 1. The Administrator may issue an order directing a 
developer to cease engaging in activities for which the developer has not 
received a permit under this chapter or conducting activities in a manner not 
in compliance with the terms of his permit. 
 2. The order to cease must be in writing and must state that, in the 
opinion of the Administrator, the developer has not been issued a permit for 
the activity or the terms of the permit do not allow the developer to conduct 
the activity in that manner. The developer shall not engage in any activity 
regulated by this chapter after he receives such an order. 
 3. Within 30 days after receiving such an order, a developer may file a 
verified petition with the Administrator for a hearing. The Administrator 
shall hold a hearing within 30 days after the petition is filed. If the 
Administrator fails to hold a hearing within 30 days, or does not render a 
written decision within 45 days after the final hearing, the order to cease is 
rescinded.
 4. If the decision of the Administrator after a hearing is against the 
person ordered to cease, he may obtain judicial review from that decision by 
filing, within 30 days after the date on which the decision was issued, a 
petition in the district court for the county in which he conducted the activity. 
The burden of proof is on the petitioner. The court shall consider the decision 
of the Administrator which is being reviewed and shall consider and 
determine solely whether there has been an abuse of discretion on the part of 
the Administrator in making the decision. 
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 5. In lieu of the issuance of an order to cease such activities, the 
Administrator may enter into an agreement with the developer in which the 
developer agrees to: 
 (a) Discontinue the activities that are not in compliance with this chapter; 
 (b) Pay all costs incurred by the administrator in investigating the 
developer's activities and conducting any necessary hearings; and 
 (c) Return to the purchasers any money or property which he acquired 
through such violations. 

 [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the terms of 
such an agreement are confidential unless violated by the developer. 

Sec. 27. NRS 126.061 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 126.061 1. If, under the supervision of a licensed physician and with 
the consent of her husband, a wife is inseminated artificially with semen 
donated by a man not her husband, the husband is treated in law as if he were 
the natural father of a child thereby conceived. The husband's consent must 
be in writing and signed by him and his wife. The physician shall certify their 
signatures and the date of the insemination, and file the husband's consent 
with the Health Division of the Department of Health and Human Services, 
where , except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, it must be kept 
confidential and in a sealed file. The physician's failure to do so does not 
affect the father and child relationship. All papers and records pertaining to 
the insemination, whether part of the permanent record of a court or of a file 
held by the supervising physician or elsewhere, are subject to inspection only 
upon an order of the court for good cause shown. 
 2. The donor of semen provided to a licensed physician for use in 
artificial insemination of a married woman other than the donor's wife is 
treated in law as if he were not the natural father of a child thereby 
conceived.

Sec. 28. NRS 127.057 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 127.057 1. Any person to whom a consent to adoption executed in this 
State or executed outside this State for use in this State is delivered shall, 
within 48 hours after receipt of the executed consent to adoption, furnish a 
true copy of the consent, together with a report of the permanent address of 
the person in whose favor the consent was executed to the agency which 
provides child welfare services. 
 2. Any person recommending in his professional or occupational 
capacity, the placement of a child for adoption in this State shall immediately 
notify the agency which provides child welfare services of the impending 
adoption.
 3. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all 
information received by the agency which provides child welfare services 
pursuant to the provisions of this section is confidential and must be 
protected from disclosure in the same manner that information is protected 
under NRS 432.035. 
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 4. Any person who violates any of the provisions of this section is guilty 
of a misdemeanor. 

Sec. 29. NRS 127.140 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 127.140 1. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
all hearings held in proceedings under this chapter are confidential and must 
be held in closed court, without admittance of any person other than the 
petitioners, their witnesses, the director of an agency, or their authorized 
representatives, attorneys and persons entitled to notice by this chapter, 
except by order of the court. 
 2. The files and records of the court in adoption proceedings are not open 
to inspection by any person except: 
 (a) Upon an order of the court expressly so permitting pursuant to a 
petition setting forth the reasons therefor; 
 (b) If a natural parent and the child are eligible to receive information 
from the State Register for Adoptions; or 
 (c) As provided pursuant to subsections 3, 4 and 5. 
 3. An adoptive parent who intends to file a petition pursuant to 
NRS 127.1885 or 127.1895 to enforce, modify or terminate an agreement 
that provides for postadoptive contact may inspect only the portions of the 
files and records of the court concerning the agreement for postadoptive 
contact.
 4. A natural parent who intends to file a petition pursuant to 
NRS 127.1885 to prove the existence of or to enforce an agreement that 
provides for postadoptive contact or to file an action pursuant to NRS 41.509 
may inspect only the portions of the files or records of the court concerning 
the agreement for postadoptive contact. 
 5. The portions of the files and records which are made available for 
inspection by an adoptive parent or natural parent pursuant to subsection 3 or 
4 must not include any confidential information, including, without 
limitation, any information that identifies or would lead to the identification 
of a natural parent if the identity of the natural parent is not included in the 
agreement for postadoptive contact. 

Sec. 30. NRS 127.2817 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 127.2817 1. The Division, in consultation with each agency which 
provides child welfare services, shall adopt regulations setting forth the 
criteria to be used by an agency which provides child welfare services or a 
child-placing agency for determining whether a prospective adoptive home is 
suitable or unsuitable for the placement of a child for adoption. 
 2. Upon the completion of an investigation conducted by an agency 
which provides child welfare services or a child-placing agency pursuant to 
NRS 127.120 or 127.2805, the agency which provides child welfare services 
or child-placing agency shall inform the prospective adoptive parent or 
parents of the results of the investigation. If, pursuant to the investigation, a 
determination is made that a prospective adoptive home is unsuitable for 
placement or detrimental to the interest of the child, the agency which 213213
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provides child welfare services or child-placing agency shall provide the 
prospective adoptive parent or parents with an opportunity to review and 
respond to the investigation with the agency which provides child welfare 
services or child-placing agency before the issuance of the results of the 
investigation. [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the 
identity of those persons who are interviewed or submit information 
concerning the investigation must remain confidential. 

Sec. 31. NRS 159.044 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 159.044 1. Except as otherwise provided in NRS 127.045, a proposed 
ward, a governmental agency, a nonprofit corporation or any interested 
person may petition the court for the appointment of a guardian. 
 2. To the extent the petitioner knows or reasonably may ascertain or 
obtain, the petition must include, without limitation: 
 (a) The name and address of the petitioner. 
 (b) The name, date of birth and current address of the proposed ward. 
 (c) A copy of one of the following forms of identification of the proposed 
ward which must be placed in the records relating to the guardianship 
proceeding and, except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act or as 
otherwise required to carry out a specific statute, maintained in a confidential 
manner:
  (1) A social security number; 
  (2) A taxpayer identification number; 
  (3) A valid driver's license number; 
  (4) A valid identification card number; or 
  (5) A valid passport number. 

 If the information required pursuant to this paragraph is not included with 
the petition, the information must be provided to the court not later than 
60 days after the appointment of a guardian or as otherwise ordered by the 
court.
 (d) If the proposed ward is a minor, the date on which he will attain the 
age of majority and: 
  (1) Whether there is a current order concerning custody and, if so, the 
state in which the order was issued; and 
  (2) Whether the petitioner anticipates that the proposed ward will need 
guardianship after attaining the age of majority. 
 (e) Whether the proposed ward is a resident or nonresident of this State. 
 (f) The names and addresses of the spouse of the proposed ward and the 
relatives of the proposed ward who are within the second degree of 
consanguinity.
 (g) The name, date of birth and current address of the proposed guardian. 
If the proposed guardian is a private professional guardian, the petition must 
include proof that the guardian meets the requirements of NRS 159.0595. If 
the proposed guardian is not a private professional guardian, the petition 
must include a statement that the guardian currently is not receiving 
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compensation for services as a guardian to more than one ward who is not 
related to the person by blood or marriage. 
 (h) A copy of one of the following forms of identification of the proposed 
guardian which must be placed in the records relating to the guardianship 
proceeding and, except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act or as 
otherwise required to carry out a specific statute, maintained in a confidential 
manner:
  (1) A social security number; 
  (2) A taxpayer identification number; 
  (3) A valid driver's license number; 
  (4) A valid identification card number; or 
  (5) A valid passport number. 
 (i) Whether the proposed guardian has ever been convicted of a felony 
and, if so, information concerning the crime for which he was convicted and 
whether the proposed guardian was placed on probation or parole. 
 (j) A summary of the reasons why a guardian is needed and recent 
documentation demonstrating the need for a guardianship. The 
documentation may include, without limitation: 
  (1) A certificate signed by a physician who is licensed to practice 
medicine in this State stating the need for a guardian; 
  (2) A letter signed by any governmental agency in this State which 
conducts investigations stating the need for a guardian; or 
  (3) A certificate signed by any other person whom the court finds 
qualified to execute a certificate stating the need for a guardian. 
 (k) Whether the appointment of a general or a special guardian is sought. 
 (l) A general description and the probable value of the property of the 
proposed ward and any income to which the proposed ward is or will be 
entitled, if the petition is for the appointment of a guardian of the estate or a 
special guardian. If any money is paid or is payable to the proposed ward by 
the United States through the Department of Veterans Affairs, the petition 
must so state. 
 (m) The name and address of any person or care provider having the care, 
custody or control of the proposed ward. 
 (n) The relationship, if any, of the petitioner to the proposed ward and the 
interest, if any, of the petitioner in the appointment. 
 (o) Requests for any of the specific powers set forth in NRS 159.117 to 
159.175, inclusive, necessary to enable the guardian to carry out the duties of 
the guardianship. 
 (p) Whether the guardianship is sought as the result of an investigation of 
a report of abuse or neglect that is conducted pursuant to chapter 432B of 
NRS by an agency which provides child welfare services. As used in this 
paragraph, "agency which provides child welfare services" has the meaning 
ascribed to it in NRS 432B.030. 
 (q) Whether the proposed ward is a party to any pending criminal or civil 
litigation. 215215
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 (r) Whether the guardianship is sought for the purpose of initiating 
litigation.
 (s) Whether the proposed ward has executed a durable power of attorney 
for health care, a durable power of attorney for financial matters or a written 
nomination of guardian and, if so, who the named agents are for each 
document.

Sec. 32. NRS 176.156 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 176.156 1. The Division shall disclose to the prosecuting attorney, the 
counsel for the defendant and the defendant the factual content of the report 
of:
 (a) Any presentence investigation made pursuant to NRS 176.135 and the 
recommendations of the Division. 
 (b) Any general investigation made pursuant to NRS 176.151. 

 The Division shall afford an opportunity to each party to object to factual 
errors in any such report and to comment on any recommendations. 
 2. Unless otherwise ordered by a court, upon request, the Division shall 
disclose the content of a report of a presentence investigation or general 
investigation to a law enforcement agency of this State or a political 
subdivision thereof and to a law enforcement agency of the Federal 
Government for the limited purpose of performing their duties, including, 
without limitation, conducting hearings that are public in nature. 
 3. Unless otherwise ordered by a court, upon request, the Division shall 
disclose the content of a report of a presentence investigation or general 
investigation to the Division of Mental Health and Developmental Services 
of the Department of Health and Human Services for the limited purpose of 
performing its duties, including, without limitation, evaluating and providing 
any report or information to the Division concerning the mental health of: 
 (a) A sex offender as defined in NRS 213.107; or 
 (b) An offender who has been determined to be mentally ill. 
 4. Unless otherwise ordered by a court, upon request, the Division shall 
disclose the content of a report of a presentence investigation or general 
investigation to the State Gaming Control Board for the limited purpose of 
performing its duties in the administration of the provisions of chapters 462 
to 467, inclusive, of NRS. 
 5. Except for the disclosures required by subsections 1 to 4, inclusive, 
and except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, a report of a 
presentence investigation or general investigation and the sources of 
information for such a report are confidential and must not be made a part of 
any public record. 

Sec. 33. NRS 176A.630 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 176A.630 If the probationer is arrested, by or without warrant, in another 
judicial district of this state, the court which granted the probation may 
assign the case to the district court of that district, with the consent of that 
court. The court retaining or thus acquiring jurisdiction shall cause the 
defendant to be brought before it, consider the standards adopted pursuant to 216216
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NRS 213.10988 and the recommendation, if any, of the Chief Parole and 
Probation Officer. Upon determining that the probationer has violated a 
condition of his probation, the court shall, if practicable, order the 
probationer to make restitution for any necessary expenses incurred by a 
governmental entity in returning him to the court for violation of his 
probation. The court may: 
 1. Continue or revoke the probation or suspension of sentence; 
 2. Order the probationer to a term of residential confinement pursuant to  
NRS 176A.660; 
 3. Order the probationer to undergo a program of regimental discipline 
pursuant to NRS 176A.780; 
 4. Cause the sentence imposed to be executed; or 
 5. Modify the original sentence imposed by reducing the term of 
imprisonment and cause the modified sentence to be executed. The court 
shall not make the term of imprisonment less than the minimum term of 
imprisonment prescribed by the applicable penal statute. If the Chief Parole 
and Probation Officer recommends that the sentence of a probationer be 
modified and the modified sentence be executed, he shall provide notice of 
the recommendation to any victim of the crime for which the probationer was 
convicted who has requested in writing to be notified and who has provided 
his current address to the Division. The notice must inform the victim that he 
has the right to submit documents to the court and to be present and heard at 
the hearing to determine whether the sentence of a probationer who has 
violated a condition of his probation should be modified. The court shall not 
modify the sentence of a probationer and cause the sentence to be executed 
until it has confirmed that the Chief Parole and Probation Officer has 
complied with the provisions of this subsection. The Chief Parole and 
Probation Officer must not be held responsible when such notification is not 
received by the victim if the victim has not provided a current address. [All]
Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all personal
information, including, but not limited to, a current or former address, which 
pertains to a victim and which is received by the Division pursuant to this 
subsection is confidential. 

Sec. 34. NRS 178.5691 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 178.5691 [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all 
personal information, including, but not limited to, a current or former 
address, which pertains to a victim, relative, witness or other person and 
which is received pursuant to the provisions of NRS 178.569 to 178.5698, 
inclusive, is confidential. 

Sec. 35. NRS 179.495 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 179.495 1. Within a reasonable time but not later than 90 days after the 
termination of the period of an order or any extension thereof, the judge who 
issued the order shall cause to be served on the chief of the Investigation 
Division of the Department of Public Safety, persons named in the order and 
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any other parties to intercepted communications, an inventory which must 
include notice of: 
 (a) The fact of the entry and a copy of the order. 
 (b) The fact that during the period wire or oral communications were or 
were not intercepted. 

 [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the inventory
filed pursuant to this section is confidential and must not be released for 
inspection unless subpoenaed by a court of competent jurisdiction. 
 2. The judge, upon receipt of a written request from any person who was 
a party to an intercepted communication or from the person's attorney, shall 
make available to the person or his counsel those portions of the intercepted 
communications which contain his conversation. On an ex parte showing of 
good cause to a district judge, the serving of the inventory required by this 
section may be postponed for such time as the judge may provide. 

Sec. 36. NRS 179A.290 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 179A.290 1. The Director of the Department shall establish within the 
Central Repository a program to compile and analyze data concerning 
offenders who commit sexual offenses. The program must be designed to: 
 (a) Provide statistical data relating to the recidivism of offenders who 
commit sexual offenses; and 
 (b) Use the data provided by the Division of Child and Family Services of 
the Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to NRS 62H.220 to: 
  (1) Provide statistical data relating to the recidivism of juvenile sex 
offenders after they become adults; and 
  (2) Assess the effectiveness of programs for the treatment of juvenile 
sex offenders. 
 2. The Division of Parole and Probation and the Department of 
Corrections shall assist the Director of the Department in obtaining data and 
in carrying out the program. 
 3. The Director of the Department shall report the statistical data and 
findings from the program to: 
 (a) The Legislature at the beginning of each regular session. 
 (b) The Advisory Commission on Sentencing on or before January 31 of 
each even-numbered year. 
 4. [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the data
acquired pursuant to this section is confidential and must be used only for the 
purpose of research. The data and findings generated pursuant to this section 
must not contain information that may reveal the identity of a juvenile sex 
offender or the identity of an individual victim of a crime. 

Sec. 37. NRS 200.3771 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 200.3771 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, any information which is contained in: 
 (a) Court records, including testimony from witnesses; 
 (b) Intelligence or investigative data, reports of crime or incidents of 
criminal activity or other information; 218218
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 (c) Records of criminal history, as that term is defined in NRS 179A.070; 
and
 (d) Records in the Central Repository for Nevada Records of Criminal 
History,

 that reveals the identity of a victim of sexual assault is confidential, 
including but not limited to the victim's photograph, likeness, name, address 
or telephone number. 
 2. A defendant charged with a sexual assault and his attorney are entitled 
to all identifying information concerning the victim in order to prepare the 
defense of the defendant. The defendant and his attorney shall not disclose 
this information except, as necessary, to those persons directly involved in 
the preparation of the defense. 
 3. A court of competent jurisdiction may authorize the release of the 
identifying information, upon application, if the court determines that: 
 (a) The person making the application has demonstrated to the satisfaction 
of the court that good cause exists for the disclosure; 
 (b) The disclosure will not place the victim at risk of personal harm; and 
 (c) Reasonable notice of the application and an opportunity to be heard 
have been given to the victim. 
 4. Nothing in this section prohibits: 
 (a) Any publication or broadcast by the media concerning a sexual assault. 
 (b) The disclosure of identifying information to any nonprofit organization 
or public agency whose purpose is to provide counseling, services for the 
management of crises or other assistance to the victims of crimes if: 
  (1) The organization or agency needs identifying information of victims 
to offer such services; and 
  (2) The court or a law enforcement agency approves the organization or 
agency for the receipt of the identifying information. 
 5. The willful violation of any provision of this section or the willful 
neglect or refusal to obey any court order made pursuant thereto is 
punishable as criminal contempt. 

Sec. 38. NRS 200.3772 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 200.3772 1. A victim of a sexual assault may choose a pseudonym to 
be used instead of the victim's name on all files, records and documents 
pertaining to the sexual assault, including, without limitation, criminal 
intelligence and investigative reports, court records and media releases. 
 2. A victim who chooses to use a pseudonym shall file a form to choose 
a pseudonym with the law enforcement agency investigating the offense. The 
form must be provided by the law enforcement agency. 
 3. If the victim files a form to use a pseudonym, as soon as practicable 
the law enforcement agency shall make a good faith effort to: 
 (a) Substitute the pseudonym for the name of the victim on all reports, 
files and records in the agency's possession; and 
 (b) Notify the prosecuting attorney of the pseudonym. 

219219

RA285



564 JOURNAL OF THE SENATE

 The law enforcement agency shall maintain the form in a manner that 
protects the confidentiality of the information contained therein. 
 4. Upon notification that a victim has elected to be designated by a 
pseudonym, the court shall ensure that the victim is designated by the 
pseudonym in all legal proceedings concerning the sexual assault. 
 5. [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the 
information contained on the form to choose a pseudonym concerning the 
actual identity of the victim is confidential and must not be disclosed to any 
person other than the defendant or his attorney unless a court of competent 
jurisdiction orders the disclosure of the information. The disclosure of 
information to a defendant or his attorney is subject to the conditions and 
restrictions specified in subsection 2 of NRS 200.3771. A person who 
violates this subsection is guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 6. A court of competent jurisdiction may order the disclosure of the 
information contained on the form only if it finds that the information is 
essential in the trial of the defendant accused of the sexual assault or the 
identity of the victim is at issue. 
 7. A law enforcement agency that complies with the requirements of this 
section is immune from civil liability for unknowingly or unintentionally: 
 (a) Disclosing any information contained on the form filed by a victim of 
sexual assault pursuant to this section that reveals the identity of the victim; 
or
 (b) Failing to substitute the pseudonym of the victim for the name of the 
victim on all reports, files and records in the agency's possession. 

Sec. 39. NRS 200.5095 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 200.5095 1. [Reports] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this 
act, reports made pursuant to NRS 200.5093, 200.50935 and 200.5094, and 
records and investigations relating to those reports, are confidential. 
 2. A person, law enforcement agency or public or private agency, 
institution or facility who willfully releases data or information concerning 
the reports and investigation of the abuse, neglect, exploitation or isolation of 
older persons or vulnerable persons, except: 
 (a) Pursuant to a criminal prosecution; 
 (b) Pursuant to NRS 200.50982; or 
 (c) To persons or agencies enumerated in subsection 3, 

 is guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 3. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 and NRS 200.50982 [,]
and section 6 of this act, data or information concerning the reports and 
investigations of the abuse, neglect, exploitation or isolation of an older 
person or a vulnerable person is available only to: 
 (a) A physician who is providing care to an older person or a vulnerable 
person who may have been abused, neglected, exploited or isolated; 
 (b) An agency responsible for or authorized to undertake the care, 
treatment and supervision of the older person or vulnerable person; 
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 (c) A district attorney or other law enforcement official who requires the 
information in connection with an investigation of the abuse, neglect, 
exploitation or isolation of the older person or vulnerable person; 
 (d) A court which has determined, in camera, that public disclosure of 
such information is necessary for the determination of an issue before it; 
 (e) A person engaged in bona fide research, but , except as otherwise 
provided in section 6 of this act, the identity of the subjects of the report must 
remain confidential; 
 (f) A grand jury upon its determination that access to such records is 
necessary in the conduct of its official business; 
 (g) Any comparable authorized person or agency in another jurisdiction; 
 (h) A legal guardian of the older person or vulnerable person, if the 
identity of the person who was responsible for reporting the alleged abuse, 
neglect, exploitation or isolation of the older person or vulnerable person to 
the public agency is protected, and the legal guardian of the older person or 
vulnerable person is not the person suspected of such abuse, neglect, 
exploitation or isolation; 
 (i) If the older person or vulnerable person is deceased, the executor or 
administrator of his estate, if the identity of the person who was responsible 
for reporting the alleged abuse, neglect, exploitation or isolation of the older 
person or vulnerable person to the public agency is protected, and the 
executor
or administrator is not the person suspected of such abuse, neglect, 
exploitation or isolation; or 
 (j) The older person or vulnerable person named in the report as allegedly 
being abused, neglected, exploited or isolated, if that person is not legally 
incompetent.
 4. If the person who is reported to have abused, neglected, exploited or 
isolated an older person or a vulnerable person is the holder of a license or 
certificate issued pursuant to chapters 449, 630 to 641B, inclusive, or 654 of 
NRS, information contained in the report must be submitted to the board that 
issued the license. 

Sec. 40. NRS 202.3662 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 202.3662 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section and 
NRS 202.3665 [:] and section 6 of this act:
 (a) An application for a permit, and all information contained within that 
application; and 
 (b) All information provided to a sheriff or obtained by a sheriff in the 
course of his investigation of an applicant, 

 are confidential. 
 2. Any records regarding an applicant or permittee may be released to a 
law enforcement agency for the purpose of conducting an investigation or 
prosecution.
 3. Statistical abstracts of data compiled by a sheriff regarding permits 
applied for or issued pursuant to NRS 202.3653 to 202.369, inclusive, 221221
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including, but not limited to, the number of applications received and permits 
issued, may be released to any person. 

Sec. 41. NRS 209.392 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 209.392 1. Except as otherwise provided in NRS 209.3925 and 
209.429, the Director may, at the request of an offender who is eligible for 
residential confinement pursuant to the standards adopted by the Director 
pursuant to subsection 3 and who has: 
 (a) Established a position of employment in the community; 
 (b) Enrolled in a program for education or rehabilitation; or 
 (c) Demonstrated an ability to pay for all or part of the costs of his 
confinement and to meet any existing obligation for restitution to any victim 
of his crime, 

 assign the offender to the custody of the Division of Parole and Probation 
of the Department of Public Safety to serve a term of residential 
confinement, pursuant to NRS 213.380, for not longer than the remainder of 
his sentence. 
 2. Upon receiving a request to serve a term of residential confinement 
from an eligible offender, the Director shall notify the Division of Parole and 
Probation. If any victim of a crime committed by the offender has, pursuant 
to subsection 4 of NRS 213.130, requested to be notified of the consideration 
of a prisoner for parole and has provided a current address, the Division of 
Parole and Probation shall notify the victim of the offender's request and 
advise the victim that he may submit documents regarding the request to the 
Division of Parole and Probation. If a current address has not been provided 
as required by subsection 4 of NRS 213.130, the Division of Parole and 
Probation must not be held responsible if such notification is not received by 
the victim. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all 
personal information, including, but not limited to, a current or former 
address, which pertains to a victim and which is received by the Division of 
Parole and Probation pursuant to this subsection is confidential. 
 3. The Director, after consulting with the Division of Parole and 
Probation, shall adopt, by regulation, standards providing which offenders 
are eligible for residential confinement. The standards adopted by the 
Director must provide that an offender who: 
 (a) Is not eligible for parole or release from prison within a reasonable 
period;
 (b) Has recently committed a serious infraction of the rules of an 
institution or facility of the Department; 
 (c) Has not performed the duties assigned to him in a faithful and orderly 
manner;
 (d) Has ever been convicted of: 
  (1) Any crime involving the use or threatened use of force or violence 
against the victim; or 
  (2) A sexual offense; 
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 (e) Has more than one prior conviction for any felony in this State or any 
offense in another state that would be a felony if committed in this State, not 
including a violation of NRS 484.379, 484.3795 or 484.37955; 
 (f) Has escaped or attempted to escape from any jail or correctional 
institution for adults; or 
 (g) Has not made an effort in good faith to participate in or to complete 
any educational or vocational program or any program of treatment, as 
ordered by the Director, 

 is not eligible for assignment to the custody of the Division of Parole and 
Probation to serve a term of residential confinement pursuant to this section. 
 4. If an offender assigned to the custody of the Division of Parole and 
Probation pursuant to this section escapes or violates any of the terms or 
conditions of his residential confinement: 
 (a) The Division of Parole and Probation may, pursuant to the procedure 
set forth in NRS 213.410, return the offender to the custody of the 
Department.
 (b) The offender forfeits all or part of the credits for good behavior earned 
by him before the escape or violation, as determined by the Director. The 
Director may provide for a forfeiture of credits pursuant to this paragraph 
only after proof of the offense and notice to the offender and may restore 
credits forfeited for such reasons as he considers proper. The decision of the 
Director regarding such a forfeiture is final. 
 5. The assignment of an offender to the custody of the Division of Parole 
and Probation pursuant to this section shall be deemed: 
 (a) A continuation of his imprisonment and not a release on parole; and 
 (b) For the purposes of NRS 209.341, an assignment to a facility of the 
Department,

 except that the offender is not entitled to obtain any benefits or to 
participate in any programs provided to offenders in the custody of the 
Department.
 6. An offender does not have a right to be assigned to the custody of the 
Division of Parole and Probation pursuant to this section, or to remain in that 
custody after such an assignment, and it is not intended that the provisions of 
this section or of NRS 213.371 to 213.410, inclusive, create any right or 
interest in liberty or property or establish a basis for any cause of action 
against the State, its political subdivisions, agencies, boards, commissions, 
departments, officers or employees. 

Sec. 42. NRS 209.3925 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 209.3925 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 6, the Director 
may assign an offender to the custody of the Division of Parole and 
Probation of the Department of Public Safety to serve a term of residential 
confinement pursuant to NRS 213.380 or other appropriate supervision as 
determined by the Division of Parole and Probation, for not longer than the 
remainder of his sentence, if: 
 (a) The Director has reason to believe that the offender is: 223223
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  (1) Physically incapacitated or in ill health to such a degree that he does 
not presently, and likely will not in the future, pose a threat to the safety of 
the public; or 
  (2) In ill health and expected to die within 12 months, and does not 
presently, and likely will not in the future, pose a threat to the safety of the 
public; and 
 (b) At least two physicians licensed pursuant to chapter 630 or 633 of 
NRS, one of whom is not employed by the Department, verify, in writing, 
that the offender is: 
  (1) Physically incapacitated or in ill health; or 
  (2) In ill health and expected to die within 12 months. 
 2. If the Director intends to assign an offender to the custody of the 
Division of Parole and Probation pursuant to this section, at least 45 days 
before the date the offender is expected to be released from the custody of the 
Department, the Director shall notify: 
 (a) If the offender will reside within this State after he is released from the 
custody of the Department, the board of county commissioners of the county 
in which the offender will reside; and 
 (b) The Division of Parole and Probation. 
 3. If any victim of a crime committed by the offender has, pursuant to 
subsection 4 of NRS 213.130, requested to be notified of the consideration of 
a prisoner for parole and has provided a current address, the Division of 
Parole and Probation shall notify the victim that: 
 (a) The Director intends to assign the offender to the custody of the 
Division of Parole and Probation pursuant to this section; and 
 (b) The victim may submit documents to the Division of Parole and 
Probation regarding such an assignment. 

 If a current address has not been provided by a victim as required by 
subsection 4 of NRS 213.130, the Division of Parole and Probation must not 
be held responsible if notification is not received by the victim. [All] Except
as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all personal information, 
including, but not limited to, a current or former address, which pertains to a 
victim and which is received by the Division of Parole and Probation 
pursuant to this subsection is confidential. 
 4. If an offender assigned to the custody of the Division of Parole and 
Probation pursuant to this section escapes or violates any of the terms or 
conditions of his residential confinement or other appropriate supervision as 
determined by the Division of Parole and Probation: 
 (a) The Division of Parole and Probation may, pursuant to the procedure 
set forth in NRS 213.410, return the offender to the custody of the 
Department.
 (b) The offender forfeits all or part of the credits for good behavior earned 
by him before the escape or violation, as determined by the Director. The 
Director may provide for a forfeiture of credits pursuant to this paragraph 
only after proof of the offense and notice to the offender and may restore 224224
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credits forfeited for such reasons as he considers proper. The decision of the 
Director regarding such a forfeiture is final. 
 5. The assignment of an offender to the custody of the Division of Parole 
and Probation pursuant to this section shall be deemed: 
 (a) A continuation of his imprisonment and not a release on parole; and 
 (b) For the purposes of NRS 209.341, an assignment to a facility of the 
Department,

 except that the offender is not entitled to obtain any benefits or to 
participate in any programs provided to offenders in the custody of the 
Department.
 6. The Director may not assign an offender to the custody of the Division 
of Parole and Probation pursuant to this section if the offender is sentenced to 
death or imprisonment for life without the possibility of parole. 
 7. An offender does not have a right to be assigned to the custody of the 
Division of Parole and Probation pursuant to this section, or to remain in that 
custody after such an assignment, and it is not intended that the provisions of 
this section or of NRS 213.371 to 213.410, inclusive, create any right or 
interest in liberty or property or establish a basis for any cause of action 
against the State, its political subdivisions, agencies, boards, commissions, 
departments, officers or employees. 

Sec. 43. NRS 209.419 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 209.419 1. Communications made by an offender on any telephone in 
an institution or facility to any person outside the institution or facility may 
be intercepted if: 
 (a) The interception is made by an authorized employee of the 
Department; and 
 (b) Signs are posted near all telephones in the institution or facility 
indicating that communications may be intercepted. 
 2. The Director shall provide notice or cause notice to be provided to 
both parties to a communication which is being intercepted pursuant to 
subsection 1, indicating that the communication is being intercepted. For the 
purposes of this section, a periodic sound which is heard by both parties 
during the communication shall be deemed notice to both parties that the 
communication is being intercepted. 
 3. The Director shall adopt regulations providing for an alternate method 
of communication for those communications by offenders which are 
confidential.
 4. [A] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, a 
communication made by an offender is confidential if it is made to: 
 (a) A federal or state officer. 
 (b) A local governmental officer who is at some time responsible for the 
custody of the offender. 
 (c) An officer of any court. 
 (d) An attorney who has been admitted to practice law in any state or is 
employed by a recognized agency providing legal assistance. 225225
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 (e) A reporter or editorial employee of any organization that reports 
general news including, but not limited to, any wire service or news service, 
newspaper, periodical, press association or radio or television station. 
 (f) The Director. 
 (g) Any other employee of the Department whom the Director may, by 
regulation, designate. 
 5. Reliance in good faith on a request or order from the Director or his 
authorized representative constitutes a complete defense to any action 
brought against any public utility intercepting or assisting in the interception 
of communications made by offenders pursuant to subsection 1. 

Sec. 44. NRS 209.521 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 209.521 1. If a victim of an offender provides his current address to the 
Director and makes a written request for notification of the offender's release 
or escape, the Director shall notify the victim if the offender: 
 (a) Will be released into the community for the purpose of employment, 
training or education, or for any other purpose for which release is 
authorized; or 
 (b) Has escaped from the custody of the Department. 
 2. An offender must not be temporarily released into the community for 
any purpose unless notification of the release has been given to every victim 
of the offender who has requested notification and has provided his current 
address.
 3. The Director may not be held responsible for any injury proximately 
caused by his failure to give any notice required pursuant to subsection 1 or 2 
if no address was provided to the Director or the address provided is 
inaccurate or not current. 
 4. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all personal
information, including, but not limited to, a current or former address, which 
pertains to a victim and which is received by the Director pursuant to this 
section is confidential. 
 5. As used in this section, "victim" has the meaning ascribed to it in  
NRS 213.005. 

Sec. 45. NRS 211A.140 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 211A.140 1. [Any] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this 
act, any information regarding a probationer obtained by the chief, an 
assistant or other employee of the department in the discharge of his duties 
shall be deemed confidential. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, 
the chief, an assistant or other employee of the department shall not disclose 
such information. 
 2. The chief, an assistant or other employee of the department shall 
disclose information obtained in the discharge of his duties to the court or the 
district attorney upon request, or to any other person as ordered by the court 
or as provided by law. 

Sec. 46. NRS 213.010 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
226226
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 213.010 1. The State Board of Pardons Commissioners consists of the 
Governor, the justices of the Supreme Court and the Attorney General. 
 2. Meetings of the Board for the purpose of considering applications for 
clemency may be held semiannually or oftener, on such dates as may be 
fixed by the Board. 
 3. The Board shall give written notice at least 15 days before a meeting 
to each victim of the crimes committed by each person whose application for 
clemency will be considered at the meeting, if the victim so requests in 
writing and provides his current address. If a current address is not provided, 
the Board may not be held responsible if the notice is not received by the 
victim. The victim may submit a written response to the Board at any time 
before the meeting. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this 
act, all personal information, including, but not limited to, a current or 
former address, which pertains to a victim and which is received by the 
Board pursuant to this subsection is confidential. 

Sec. 47. NRS 213.040 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 213.040 All district attorneys receiving notice of an application for a 
pardon, or commutation of punishment, or remission of fine or forfeiture, 
shall transmit forthwith to: 
 1. The Board a statement in writing of facts surrounding the commission 
of the offense for which the applicant is incarcerated or subject to penalty 
and any information affecting the merits of the application. 
 2. Each victim of the person applying for clemency a copy of the notice 
of the application, if the victim so requests in writing and provides his current 
address. If a current address is not provided, the district attorney may not be 
held responsible if a copy of the notice is not received by the victim. [All]
Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all personal
information, including, but not limited to, a current or former address, which 
pertains to a victim and which is received by the district attorney pursuant to 
this subsection is confidential. 

Sec. 48. NRS 213.095 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 213.095 If the Board remits a fine or forfeiture, commutes a sentence or 
grants a pardon, it shall give written notice of its action to the victim of the 
person granted clemency, if the victim so requests in writing and provides his 
current address. If a current address is not provided, the Board may not be 
held responsible if the notice is not received by the victim. [All] Except as 
otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all personal information, 
including, but not limited to, a current or former address, which pertains to a 
victim and which is received by the Board pursuant to this section is 
confidential.

Sec. 49. NRS 213.130 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 213.130 1. The Department of Corrections shall: 
 (a) Determine when a prisoner sentenced to imprisonment in the state 
prison is eligible to be considered for parole; 
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 (b) Notify the State Board of Parole Commissioners of the eligibility of 
the prisoner to be considered for parole; and 
 (c) Before a meeting to consider the prisoner for parole, compile and 
provide to the Board data that will assist the Board in determining whether 
parole should be granted. 
 2. If a prisoner is being considered for parole from a sentence imposed 
for conviction of a crime which involved the use of force or violence against 
a victim and which resulted in bodily harm to a victim and if original or 
duplicate photographs that depict the injuries of the victim or the scene of the 
crime were admitted at the trial of the prisoner or were part of the report of 
the presentence investigation and are reasonably available, a representative 
sample of such photographs must be included with the information submitted 
to the Board at the meeting. A prisoner may not bring a cause of action 
against the State of Nevada, its political subdivisions, agencies, boards, 
commissions, departments, officers or employees for any action that is taken 
pursuant to this subsection or for failing to take any action pursuant to this 
subsection, including, without limitation, failing to include photographs or 
including only certain photographs. As used in this subsection, "photograph" 
includes any video, digital or other photographic image. 
 3. Meetings to consider prisoners for parole may be held semiannually or 
more often, on such dates as may be fixed by the Board. All meetings must 
be open to the public. 
 4. Not later than 5 days after the date on which the Board fixes the date 
of the meeting to consider a prisoner for parole, the Board shall notify the 
victim of the prisoner who is being considered for parole of the date of the 
meeting and of his rights pursuant to this subsection, if the victim has 
requested notification in writing and has provided his current address or if the 
victim's current address is otherwise known by the Board. The victim of a 
prisoner being considered for parole may submit documents to the Board and 
may testify at the meeting held to consider the prisoner for parole. A prisoner 
must not be considered for parole until the Board has notified any victim of 
his rights pursuant to this subsection and he is given the opportunity to 
exercise those rights. If a current address is not provided to or otherwise 
known by the Board, the Board must not be held responsible if such 
notification is not received by the victim. 
 5. The Board may deliberate in private after a public meeting held to 
consider a prisoner for parole. 
 6. The Board of State Prison Commissioners shall provide suitable and 
convenient rooms or space for use of the Board. 
 7. If a victim is notified of a meeting to consider a prisoner for parole 
pursuant to subsection 4, the Board shall, upon making a final decision 
concerning the parole of the prisoner, notify the victim of its final decision. 
 8. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all personal
information, including, but not limited to, a current or former address, which 
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pertains to a victim and which is received by the Board pursuant to this 
section is confidential. 
 9. For the purposes of this section, "victim" has the meaning ascribed to 
it in NRS 213.005. 

Sec. 50. NRS 217.105 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 217.105 [Any] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, any 
information which a compensation officer obtains in the investigation of a 
claim for compensation pursuant to NRS 217.090 or which is submitted 
pursuant to NRS 217.100 is confidential and must not be disclosed except: 
 1. Upon the request of the applicant or his attorney; 
 2. In the necessary administration of this chapter; or 
 3. Upon the lawful order of a court of competent jurisdiction, 

 unless the disclosure is otherwise prohibited by law. 
Sec. 51. NRS 217.110 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 217.110 1. Upon receipt of an application for compensation, the 
compensation officer shall review the application to determine whether the 
applicant qualifies for compensation. The compensation officer shall deny 
the claim within 5 days after receipt of the application if the applicant's 
ineligibility is apparent from the facts stated in the application. The applicant 
may appeal the denial to a hearing officer within 15 days after the decision. If 
the hearing officer determines that the applicant may be entitled to 
compensation, the hearing officer shall order the compensation officer to 
complete an investigation and render a decision pursuant to subsection 2. If 
the hearing officer denies the appeal, the applicant may appeal to an appeals 
officer pursuant to NRS 217.117. 
 2. If the compensation officer does not deny the application pursuant to 
subsection 1, or if he is ordered to proceed by the hearing officer, he shall 
conduct an investigation and, except as otherwise provided in subsection 4, 
render a decision within 60 days after his receipt of the application or order. 
If in conducting his investigation the compensation officer believes that: 
 (a) Reports on the previous medical history of the victim; 
 (b) An examination of the victim and a report of that examination; 
 (c) A report on the cause of death of the victim by an impartial medical 
expert; or 
 (d) Investigative or police reports, 

 would aid him in making his decision, the compensation officer may order 
the reports. 
 3. Upon the request of a compensation officer pursuant to subsection 2 
for investigative or police reports which concern a minor who committed a 
crime against the victim, a juvenile court or a law enforcement agency shall 
provide the compensation officer with a copy of the requested investigative 
or police reports. [Any] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
any reports obtained by a compensation officer pursuant to this subsection 
are confidential and must not be disclosed except upon the lawful order of a 
court of competent jurisdiction. 229229
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 4. When additional reports are requested pursuant to subsection 2, the 
compensation officer shall render a decision in the case, including an order 
directing the payment of compensation, if compensation is due, within 
15 days after receipt of the reports. 

Sec. 52. NRS 218.5356 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 218.5356 1. The Legislative Bureau of Educational Accountability and 
Program Evaluation is hereby created within the Fiscal Analysis Division of 
the Legislative Counsel Bureau. The fiscal analysts shall appoint to the 
Legislative Bureau of Educational Accountability and Program Evaluation a 
Chief and such other personnel as the fiscal analysts determine are necessary 
for the Bureau to carry out its duties pursuant to this section. 
 2. The Bureau shall, as the fiscal analysts determine is necessary or at the 
request of the Committee: 
 (a) Collect and analyze data and issue written reports concerning: 
  (1) The effectiveness of the provisions of NRS 385.3455 to 385.391, 
inclusive, in improving the accountability of the schools of this State; 
  (2) The statewide program to reduce the ratio of pupils per class per 
licensed teacher prescribed in NRS 388.700, 388.710 and 388.720; 
  (3) The statewide program to educate persons with disabilities that is set 
forth in chapter 395 of NRS; 
  (4) The results of the examinations of the National Assessment of 
Educational Progress that are administered pursuant to NRS 389.012; and 
  (5) Any program or legislative measure, the purpose of which is to 
reform the system of education within this State. 
 (b) Conduct studies and analyses to evaluate the performance and progress 
of the system of public education within this State. Such studies and analyses 
may be conducted: 
  (1) As the fiscal analysts determine are necessary; or 
  (2) At the request of the Legislature. 

 This paragraph does not prohibit the Bureau from contracting with a 
person or entity to conduct studies and analyses on behalf of the Bureau. 
 (c) On or before December 31 of each even-numbered year, submit a 
written report of its findings pursuant to paragraphs (a) and (b) to the 
Director of the Legislative Counsel Bureau for transmission to the next 
regular session of the Legislature. The Bureau shall, on or before 
December 31 of each odd-numbered year, submit a written report of its 
findings pursuant to paragraphs (a) and (b) to the Director of the Legislative 
Counsel Bureau for transmission to the Legislative Commission. 
 3. The Bureau may, pursuant to NRS 218.687, require a school, a school 
district, the Nevada System of Higher Education or the Department of 
Education to submit to the Bureau books, papers, records and other 
information that the Chief of the Bureau determines are necessary to carry 
out the duties of the Bureau pursuant to this section. An entity whom the 
Bureau requests to produce records or other information shall provide the 
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records or other information in any readily available format specified by the 
Bureau.
 4. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection [,] or section 6 of this 
act, any information obtained by the Bureau pursuant to this section shall be 
deemed a work product that is confidential pursuant to NRS 218.625. The 
Bureau may, at the discretion of the Chief and after submission to the 
Legislature or Legislative Commission, as appropriate, publish reports of its 
findings pursuant to paragraphs (a) and (b) of subsection 2. 
 5. This section does not prohibit the Department of Education or the 
State Board of Education from conducting analyses, submitting reports or 
otherwise reviewing educational programs in this State. 

Sec. 53. NRS 218.870 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 218.870 1. The Legislative Auditor shall keep or cause to be kept a 
complete file of copies of all reports of audits, examinations, investigations 
and all other reports or releases issued by him. 
 2. All working papers from an audit are confidential and may be 
destroyed by the Legislative Auditor 5 years after the report is issued, except 
that the
Legislative Auditor: 
 (a) Shall release such working papers when subpoenaed by a court [;] or
when required to do so pursuant to section 6 of this act; or
 (b) May make such working papers available for inspection by an 
authorized representative of any other governmental entity for a matter 
officially before him or by any other person authorized by the Legislative 
Commission.

Sec. 54. NRS 228.450 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 228.450 1. The Ombudsman for Victims of Domestic Violence shall: 
 (a) Prepare quarterly reports relating to victims of domestic violence from 
information collected from the Central Repository for Nevada Records of 
Criminal History, if any such information is available. 
 (b) Provide necessary assistance to victims of domestic violence. 
 (c) Provide education to the public concerning domestic violence, 
including, without limitation, the prevention of domestic violence, available 
assistance to victims of domestic violence and available treatment for persons 
who commit domestic violence. 
 (d) Perform such other tasks as are necessary to carry out his duties and 
the functions of his office. 
 2. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection [,] and section 6 of 
this act, information collected pursuant to paragraph (a) of subsection 1 is 
confidential and must not be disclosed to any person under any 
circumstances, including, without limitation, pursuant to a subpoena, search 
warrant or discovery proceeding. Such information may be used for 
statistical purposes if the identity of the person is not discernible from the 
information disclosed. 
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 3. Any grant received by the Office of the Attorney General for 
assistance to victims of domestic violence may be used to compensate the 
Ombudsman for Victims of Domestic Violence. 

Sec. 55. NRS 231.069 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 231.069 1. [If] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, if 
so requested by a client, the Commission on Economic Development shall 
keep confidential any record or other document in its possession concerning 
the initial contact with and research and planning for that client. If such a 
request is made, the Executive Director shall attach to the file containing the 
record or document a certificate signed by him stating that a request for 
confidentiality was made by the client and the date of the request. 
 2. Records and documents that are confidential pursuant to subsection 1 
remain confidential until the client: 
 (a) Initiates any process regarding the location of his business in Nevada 
which is within the jurisdiction of a state agency other than the Commission; 
or
 (b) Decides to locate his business in Nevada. 

Sec. 56. NRS 233.190 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 233.190 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] or section 6 
of this act, any information gathered by the Commission in the course of its 
investigation of an alleged unlawful discriminatory practice in housing, 
employment or public accommodations is confidential. 
 2. The Commission may disclose information gathered pursuant to 
subsection 1 to: 
 (a) Any governmental entity as appropriate or necessary to carry out its 
duties pursuant to this chapter; or 
 (b) To any other person if the information is provided in a manner which 
does not include any information that may be used to identify the 
complainant, the party against whom the unlawful discriminatory practice is 
alleged or any person who provided information to the Commission during 
the investigation. 
 3. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 4, the Commission shall 
disclose information gathered pursuant to subsection 1 to the complainant 
and the party against whom the unlawful discriminatory practice is alleged if: 
 (a) Each has consented to such disclosure; or 
 (b) The Commission has determined to conduct a hearing on the matter or 
apply for a temporary restraining order or an injunction or an action has been 
filed in court concerning the complaint. 
 4. The Commission may not disclose to the complainant or the party 
against whom the unlawful discriminatory practice is alleged: 
 (a) Any information obtained during negotiations for a settlement or 
attempts at mediating or conciliating the complaint. 
 (b) Any investigative notes or reports made by the Commission. 
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 (c) Any information that may be used to identify a person who provided 
information to the Commission during the investigation and who has 
requested anonymity. 
 5. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] or section 6 of this act, 
if the Commission's attempts at mediating or conciliating the cause of the 
grievance succeed, the information gathered pursuant to subsection 1 must 
remain confidential. 
 6. If the Commission proceeds with a hearing or applies for injunctive 
relief, confidentiality concerning any information, except negotiations for a 
settlement or attempts at mediating or conciliating the cause of the grievance, 
is no longer required. 

Sec. 57. NRS 244.335 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 244.335 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsections 2, 3 and 4, a 
board of county commissioners may: 
 (a) Except as otherwise provided in NRS 244.331 to 244.3345, inclusive, 
598D.150 and 640C.100, regulate all character of lawful trades, callings, 
industries, occupations, professions and business conducted in its county 
outside of the limits of incorporated cities and towns. 
 (b) Except as otherwise provided in NRS 244.3359 and 576.128, fix, 
impose and collect a license tax for revenue or for regulation, or for both 
revenue and regulation, on such trades, callings, industries, occupations, 
professions and business. 
 2. The county license boards have the exclusive power in their respective 
counties to regulate entertainers employed by an entertainment by referral 
service and the business of conducting a dancing hall, escort service, 
entertainment by referral service or gambling game or device permitted by 
law, outside of an incorporated city. The county license boards may fix, 
impose and collect license taxes for revenue or for regulation, or for both 
revenue and regulation, on such employment and businesses. 
 3. A board of county commissioners shall not require that a person who 
is licensed as a contractor pursuant to chapter 624 of NRS obtain more than 
one license to engage in the business of contracting or pay more than 
one license tax related to engaging in the business of contracting, regardless 
of the number of classifications or subclassifications of licensing for which 
the person is licensed pursuant to chapter 624 of NRS. 
 4. The board of county commissioners or county license board shall not 
require a person to obtain a license or pay a license tax on the sole basis that 
the person is a professional. No license to engage in any type of business 
may be granted unless the applicant for the license signs an affidavit 
affirming that the business has complied with the provisions of 
NRS 360.780. The county license board shall provide upon request an 
application for a business license pursuant to NRS 360.780. As used in this 
subsection, "professional" means a person who: 
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 (a) Holds a license, certificate, registration, permit or similar type of 
authorization issued by a regulatory body as defined in NRS 622.060, or who 
is regulated pursuant to the Nevada Supreme Court Rules; and 
 (b) Practices his profession for any type of compensation as an employee. 
 5. No license to engage in business as a seller of tangible personal 
property may be granted unless the applicant for the license presents written 
evidence that: 
 (a) The Department of Taxation has issued or will issue a permit for this 
activity, and this evidence clearly identifies the business by name; or 
 (b) Another regulatory agency of the State has issued or will issue a 
license required for this activity. 
 6. Any license tax levied for the purposes of NRS 244.3358 or 244A.597 
to 244A.655, inclusive, constitutes a lien upon the real and personal property 
of the business upon which the tax was levied until the tax is paid. The lien 
has the same priority as a lien for general taxes. The lien must be enforced: 
 (a) By recording in the office of the county recorder, within 6 months after 
the date on which the tax became delinquent or was otherwise determined to 
be due and owing, a notice of the tax lien containing the following: 
  (1) The amount of tax due and the appropriate year; 
  (2) The name of the record owner of the property; 
  (3) A description of the property sufficient for identification; and 
  (4) A verification by the oath of any member of the board of county 
commissioners or the county fair and recreation board; and 
 (b) By an action for foreclosure against the property in the same manner 
as an action for foreclosure of any other lien, commenced within 2 years after 
the date of recording of the notice of the tax lien, and accompanied by 
appropriate notice to other lienholders. 
 7. The board of county commissioners may delegate the authority to 
enforce liens from taxes levied for the purposes of NRS 244A.597 to 
244A.655, inclusive, to the county fair and recreation board. If the authority 
is so delegated, the board of county commissioners shall revoke or suspend 
the license of a business upon certification by the county fair and recreation 
board that the license tax has become delinquent, and shall not reinstate the 
license until the tax is paid. Except as otherwise provided in NRS 244.3357
[,] and section 6 of this act, all information concerning license taxes levied 
by an ordinance authorized by this section or other information concerning 
the business affairs or operation of any licensee obtained as a result of the 
payment of such license taxes or as the result of any audit or examination of 
the books by any authorized employee of a county fair and recreation board 
of the county for any license tax levied for the purpose of NRS 244A.597 to 
244A.655, inclusive, is confidential and must not be disclosed by any 
member, officer or employee of the county fair and recreation board or the 
county imposing the license tax unless the disclosure is authorized by the 
affirmative action of a majority of the members of the appropriate county fair 
and recreation board. Continuing disclosure may be so authorized under an 234234
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agreement with the Department of Taxation for the exchange of information 
concerning taxpayers. 

Sec. 58. NRS 244.428 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 244.428 1. The board of county commissioners of any county may 
provide by ordinance for the designation of a youth shelter operated within 
the county as an approved youth shelter. 
 2. If a board of county commissioners has adopted an ordinance pursuant 
to subsection 1, a youth shelter that is located in that county and seeking to 
be designated as an approved youth shelter may apply to the board of county 
commissioners for such a designation. 
 3. An ordinance adopted by a board of county commissioners pursuant to 
subsection 1 must: 
 (a) Prescribe the requirements for designation of a youth shelter as an 
approved youth shelter, including, without limitation: 
  (1) A requirement that the youth shelter provide necessary services; 
  (2) The form and manner of the application for designation or renewal 
of a designation as an approved youth shelter; 
  (3) An application fee in an amount not to exceed the actual cost to the 
county for reviewing the application; and 
  (4) A requirement that an applicant must comply with the provisions of 
an ordinance adopted pursuant to this section and with all applicable federal, 
state and local laws and ordinances pertaining to shelters for the homeless. 
 (b) Provide for reasonable inspections of an approved youth shelter to 
confirm that the youth shelter is complying with the provisions of an 
ordinance adopted to carry out the provisions of this section. 
 (c) Provide for the revocation of a designation as an approved youth 
shelter for failure to comply with the provisions of an ordinance adopted to 
carry out the provisions of this section. 
 (d) Require an approved youth shelter to conduct an interview to 
determine whether a youth is a runaway or homeless youth and is qualified to 
receive the necessary services of the approved youth shelter. 
 (e) Upon admission of a runaway or homeless youth to a shelter, require: 
  (1) The notification of the parent, guardian or custodian of the runaway 
or homeless youth concerning the whereabouts of the runaway or homeless 
youth as soon as practicable, except in circumstances of suspected abuse or 
neglect;
  (2) The notification of state and local law enforcement agencies 
concerning the whereabouts of the runaway or homeless youth; and 
  (3) A licensed professional to perform an evaluation of the youth to 
determine:
   (I) The reasons why the youth is a runaway or homeless youth; 
   (II) Whether the youth is a victim of abuse or neglect; and 
   (III) Whether the youth needs immediate medical care or counseling. 
 (f) Require an approved youth shelter to return or facilitate the return of a 
runaway or homeless youth to the parent, guardian or custodian who was 235235
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notified of the whereabouts of the runaway or homeless youth pursuant to 
subparagraph (1) of paragraph (e) if the parent, guardian or custodian so 
requests.
 (g) Provide for the liability of a parent, guardian or custodian of a 
runaway or homeless youth for any expenses or costs incurred by the 
approved youth shelter for providing services to the runaway or homeless 
youth only if the services of the shelter were obtained through fraud or 
misrepresentation.
 (h) [Require] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, require 
the information or records obtained by an approved youth shelter to remain 
confidential, unless the use or disclosure of the information or records is 
necessary to: 
  (1) Locate a parent, guardian or custodian of a runaway or homeless 
youth;
  (2) Comply with the duty to report abuse or neglect of a child pursuant 
to NRS 432B.220; 
  (3) Notify state and local law enforcement agencies or the 
clearinghouse; or 
  (4) Seek appropriate assistance for a runaway or homeless youth from 
public and private agencies. 
 4. In a county where the board of county commissioners has adopted an 
ordinance pursuant to subsection 1, the board of county commissioners may 
establish, by ordinance, other regulations as are necessary to carry out the 
provisions of this section. 
 5. As used in this section: 
 (a) "Abuse or neglect" means abuse or neglect of a child as defined in  
NRS 432B.020. 
 (b) "Clearinghouse" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 432.150. 
 (c) "Licensed professional" includes, without limitation: 
  (1) A social worker; 
  (2) A registered nurse; 
  (3) A physician; 
  (4) A psychologist; 
  (5) A teacher; or 
  (6) Any other class of persons who are identified in an ordinance 
adopted by a county who hold a professional license in this State and who are 
trained to recognize indications of abuse or neglect. 

Sec. 59. NRS 250.150 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 250.150 If a person listed in NRS 250.140 requests confidentiality, the 
confidential information of that person may only be disclosed as provided in 
NRS 250.160 or 250.180 [.] or section 6 of this act.

Sec. 60. NRS 268.095 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 268.095 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 4, the city 
council or other governing body of each incorporated city in this State, 
whether organized under general law or special charter, may: 236236
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 (a) Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 and NRS 268.0968 and 
576.128, fix, impose and collect for revenues or for regulation, or both, a 
license tax on all character of lawful trades, callings, industries, occupations, 
professions and businesses conducted within its corporate limits. 
 (b) Assign the proceeds of any one or more of such license taxes to the 
county within which the city is situated for the purpose or purposes of 
making the proceeds available to the county: 
  (1) As a pledge as additional security for the payment of any general 
obligation bonds issued pursuant to NRS 244A.597 to 244A.655, inclusive; 
  (2) For redeeming any general obligation bonds issued pursuant to 
NRS 244A.597 to 244A.655, inclusive; 
  (3) For defraying the costs of collecting or otherwise administering any 
such license tax so assigned, of the county fair and recreation board and of 
officers, agents and employees hired thereby, and of incidentals incurred 
thereby;
  (4) For operating and maintaining recreational facilities under the 
jurisdiction of the county fair and recreation board; 
  (5) For improving, extending and bettering recreational facilities 
authorized by NRS 244A.597 to 244A.655, inclusive; and 
  (6) For constructing, purchasing or otherwise acquiring such 
recreational facilities. 
 (c) Pledge the proceeds of any tax imposed on the revenues from the 
rental of transient lodging pursuant to this section for the payment of any 
general or special obligations issued by the city for a purpose authorized by 
the laws of this State. 
 (d) Use the proceeds of any tax imposed pursuant to this section on the 
revenues from the rental of transient lodging: 
  (1) To pay the principal, interest or any other indebtedness on any 
general or special obligations issued by the city pursuant to the laws of this 
State;
  (2) For the expense of operating or maintaining, or both, any facilities of 
the city; and 
  (3) For any other purpose for which other money of the city may be 
used.
 2. The city council or other governing body of an incorporated city shall 
not require that a person who is licensed as a contractor pursuant to 
chapter 624 of NRS obtain more than one license to engage in the business of 
contracting or pay more than one license tax related to engaging in the 
business of contracting, regardless of the number of classifications or 
subclassifications of licensing for which the person is licensed pursuant to 
chapter 624 of NRS. 
 3. The proceeds of any tax imposed pursuant to this section that are 
pledged for the repayment of general obligations may be treated as "pledged 
revenues" for the purposes of NRS 350.020. 
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 4. The city council or other governing body of an incorporated city shall 
not require a person to obtain a license or pay a license tax on the sole basis 
that the person is a professional. No license to engage in any type of business 
may be granted unless the applicant for the license signs an affidavit 
affirming that the business has complied with the provisions of 
NRS 360.780. The city licensing agency shall provide upon request an 
application for a business license pursuant to NRS 360.780. As used in this 
subsection, "professional" means a person who: 
 (a) Holds a license, certificate, registration, permit or similar type of 
authorization issued by a regulatory body as defined in NRS 622.060, or who 
is regulated pursuant to the Nevada Supreme Court Rules; and 
 (b) Practices his profession for any type of compensation as an employee. 
 5. No license to engage in business as a seller of tangible personal 
property may be granted unless the applicant for the license presents written 
evidence that: 
 (a) The Department of Taxation has issued or will issue a permit for this 
activity, and this evidence clearly identifies the business by name; or 
 (b) Another regulatory agency of the State has issued or will issue a 
license required for this activity. 
 6. Any license tax levied under the provisions of this section constitutes a 
lien upon the real and personal property of the business upon which the tax 
was levied until the tax is paid. The lien has the same priority as a lien for 
general taxes. The lien must be enforced: 
 (a) By recording in the office of the county recorder, within 6 months 
following the date on which the tax became delinquent or was otherwise 
determined to be due and owing, a notice of the tax lien containing the 
following:
  (1) The amount of tax due and the appropriate year; 
  (2) The name of the record owner of the property; 
  (3) A description of the property sufficient for identification; and 
  (4) A verification by the oath of any member of the board of county 
commissioners or the county fair and recreation board; and 
 (b) By an action for foreclosure against such property in the same manner 
as an action for foreclosure of any other lien, commenced within 2 years after 
the date of recording of the notice of the tax lien, and accompanied by 
appropriate notice to other lienholders. 
 7. The city council or other governing body of each incorporated city 
may delegate the power and authority to enforce such liens to the county fair 
and recreation board. If the authority is so delegated, the governing body 
shall revoke or suspend the license of a business upon certification by the 
board that the license tax has become delinquent, and shall not reinstate the 
license until the tax is paid. Except as otherwise provided in NRS 268.0966
[,] and section 6 of this act, all information concerning license taxes levied 
by an ordinance authorized by this section or other information concerning 
the business affairs or operation of any licensee obtained as a result of the 238238
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payment of those license taxes or as the result of any audit or examination of 
the books of the city by any authorized employee of a county fair and 
recreation board for any license tax levied for the purpose of NRS 244A.597 
to 244A.655, inclusive, is confidential and must not be disclosed by any 
member, official or employee of the county fair and recreation board or the 
city imposing the license tax unless the disclosure is authorized by the 
affirmative action of a majority of the members of the appropriate county fair 
and recreation board. Continuing disclosure may be so authorized under an 
agreement with the Department of Taxation for the exchange of information 
concerning taxpayers. 
 8. The powers conferred by this section are in addition and supplemental 
to, and not in substitution for, and the limitations imposed by this section do 
not affect the powers conferred by, any other law. No part of this section 
repeals or affects any other law or any part thereof, it being intended that this 
section provide a separate method of accomplishing its objectives, and not an 
exclusive one. 

Sec. 61. NRS 268.490 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 268.490 The municipality shall cause to be kept proper records of all 
license taxes which become due or which are collected, or both, including, 
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, records of delinquent taxes, 
interest thereon and penalties therefrom, which records , except as otherwise 
provided in section 6 of this act, shall be deemed confidential and shall not 
be revealed in whole or in part to anyone except in the necessary 
administration of NRS 268.460 to 268.510, inclusive, or as otherwise 
provided by law. 

Sec. 62. NRS 268.910 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 268.910 1. An organization for economic development formed by one 
or more cities shall, at the request of a client, keep confidential any record or 
other document in its possession concerning the initial contact with and 
research and planning for that client. If such a request is made, the executive 
head of the organization shall attach to the file containing the record or 
document a certificate signed by him stating that a request for confidentiality 
was made by the client and showing the date of the request. 
 2. [Records] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
records and documents that are confidential pursuant to subsection 1 remain 
confidential until the client: 
 (a) Initiates any process regarding the location of his business in a city that 
formed the organization for economic development which is within the 
jurisdiction of a governmental entity other than the organization for 
economic development; or 
 (b) Decides to locate his business in a city that formed the organization for 
economic development. 

Sec. 63. NRS 284.4068 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
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 284.4068 [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the 
results of a screening test taken pursuant to NRS 284.4061 to 284.407, 
inclusive, are confidential and: 
 1. Are not admissible in a criminal proceeding against the person tested; 
 2. Must be securely maintained by the appointing authority or his 
designated representative separately from other files concerning personnel; 
and
 3. Must not be disclosed to any person, except: 
 (a) Upon the written consent of the person tested; 
 (b) As required by medical personnel for the diagnosis or treatment of the 
person tested, if he is physically unable to give his consent to the disclosure; 
 (c) As required pursuant to a properly issued subpoena; 
 (d) When relevant in a formal dispute between the appointing authority 
and the person tested; or 
 (e) As required for the administration of a plan of benefits for employees. 

Sec. 64. NRS 289.025 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 289.025 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 [,] and
section 6 of this act, the home address and any photograph of a peace officer 
in the possession of a law enforcement agency are not public information and 
are confidential. 
 2. The home address and photograph of a peace officer may be released: 
 (a) If the peace officer authorizes the release; or 
 (b) If the peace officer has been arrested. 

Sec. 65. NRS 293.503 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 293.503 1. The county clerk of each county where a registrar of voters 
has not been appointed pursuant to NRS 244.164: 
 (a) Is ex officio county registrar and registrar for all precincts within the 
county.
 (b) Shall have the custody of all books, documents and papers pertaining 
to registration provided for in this chapter. 
 2. All books, documents and papers pertaining to registration are official 
records of the office of the county clerk. 
 3. The county clerk shall maintain records of any program or activity that 
is conducted within the county to ensure the accuracy and currency of the 
registrar of voters' register for not less than 2 years after creation. The 
records must include the names and addresses of any person to whom a 
notice is mailed pursuant to NRS 293.5235, 293.530, or 293.535 and whether 
the person responded to the notice. 
 4. Any program or activity that is conducted within the county for the 
purpose of removing the name of each person who is ineligible to vote in the 
county from the registrar of voters' register must be complete not later than 
90 days before the next primary or general election. 
 5. Except as otherwise provided by subsection 6, all records maintained 
by the county clerk pursuant to subsection 3 must be available for public 
inspection. 240240
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 6. [Any] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, any 
information relating to where a person registers to vote must remain 
confidential and is not available for public inspection. Such information may 
only be used by an election officer for purposes related to voter registration. 

Sec. 66. NRS 332.061 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 332.061 1. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection [,] and
section 6 of this act, proprietary information does not constitute public 
information and is confidential. A person shall not disclose proprietary 
information unless: 
 (a) The disclosure is made for the purpose of a civil, administrative or 
criminal investigation or proceeding; and 
 (b) The person receiving the information represents in writing that 
protections exist under applicable law to preserve the integrity, 
confidentiality and security of the information. 
 2. A bid which contains a provision that requires negotiation or 
evaluation by the governing body or an evaluator may not be disclosed until 
the bid is recommended for the award of a contract. 

Sec. 67. NRS 333.333 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 333.333 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 [,] and
section 6 of this act, proprietary information regarding a trade secret does not 
constitute public information and is confidential. 
 2. A person shall not disclose proprietary information regarding a trade 
secret unless the disclosure is made for the purpose of a civil, administrative 
or criminal investigation or proceeding, and the person receiving the 
information represents in writing that protections exist under applicable law 
to preserve the integrity, confidentiality and security of the information. 

Sec. 68. NRS 333.335 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 333.335 1. Each proposal must be evaluated by: 
 (a) The chief of the using agency, or a committee appointed by the chief 
of the using agency in accordance with the regulations adopted pursuant to 
NRS 333.135, if the proposal is for a using agency; or 
 (b) The Chief of the Purchasing Division, or a committee appointed by the 
Chief in accordance with the regulations adopted pursuant to NRS 333.135, 
if he is responsible for administering the proposal. 
 2. A committee appointed pursuant to subsection 1 must consist of not 
less than two members. A majority of the members of the committee must be 
state officers or employees. The committee may include persons who are not 
state officers or employees and possess expert knowledge or special expertise 
that the chief of the using agency or the Chief of the Purchasing Division 
determines is necessary to evaluate a proposal. The members of the 
committee are not entitled to compensation for their service on the 
committee, except that members of the committee who are state officers or 
employees are entitled to receive their salaries as state officers and 
employees. No member of the committee may have a financial interest in a 
proposal. 241241
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 3. In making an award, the chief of the using agency, the Chief of the 
Purchasing Division or each member of the committee, if a committee is 
established, shall consider and assign a score for each of the following 
factors for determining whether the proposal is in the best interests of the 
State of Nevada: 
 (a) The experience and financial stability of the person submitting the 
proposal;
 (b) Whether the proposal complies with the requirements of the request 
for proposals as prescribed in NRS 333.311; 
 (c) The price of the proposal, including the imposition of an inverse 
preference described in NRS 333.336, if applicable; and 
 (d) Any other factor disclosed in the request for proposals. 
 4. The chief of the using agency, the Chief of the Purchasing Division or 
the committee, if a committee is established, shall determine the relative 
weight of each factor set forth in subsection 3 before a request for proposals 
is advertised. The weight of each factor must not be disclosed before the date 
proposals are required to be submitted. 
 5. The chief of the using agency, the Chief of the Purchasing Division or 
the committee, if a committee is established, shall award the contract based 
on the best interests of the State, as determined by the total scores assigned 
pursuant to subsection 3, and is not required to accept the lowest-priced 
proposal.
 6. [Each] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, each 
proposal evaluated pursuant to the provisions of this section is confidential 
and may not be disclosed until the contract is awarded. 

Sec. 69. NRS 338.1379 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 338.1379 1. Except as otherwise provided in NRS 338.1382, a 
contractor who wishes to qualify as a bidder on a contract for a public work 
must submit an application to the State Public Works Board or the local 
government.
 2. Upon receipt of an application pursuant to subsection 1, the State 
Public Works Board or the local government shall: 
 (a) Investigate the applicant to determine whether he is qualified to bid on 
a contract; and 
 (b) After conducting the investigation, determine whether the applicant is 
qualified to bid on a contract. The determination must be made within 
45 days after receipt of the application. 
 3. The State Public Works Board or the local government shall notify 
each applicant in writing of its determination. If an application is denied, the 
notice must set forth the reasons for the denial and inform the applicant of his 
right to a hearing pursuant to NRS 338.1381. 
 4. The State Public Works Board or the local government may determine 
an applicant is qualified to bid: 
 (a) On a specific project; or 
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 (b) On more than one project over a period of time to be determined by 
the State Public Works Board or the local government. 
 5. The State Public Works Board shall not use any criteria other than 
criteria adopted by regulation pursuant to NRS 338.1375 in determining 
whether to approve or deny an application. 
 6. The local government shall not use any criteria other than the criteria 
described in NRS 338.1377 in determining whether to approve or deny an 
application.
 7. [Financial] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
financial information and other data pertaining to the net worth of an 
applicant which is gathered by or provided to the State Public Works Board 
or a local government to determine the financial ability of an applicant to 
perform a contract is confidential and not open to public inspection. 

Sec. 70. NRS 349.775 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 349.775 [Any] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, or 
unless the exporter consents to its disclosure, any information submitted to 
or compiled by the Director regarding the identity, background, finances, 
marketing plans, trade secrets or any other commercially sensitive affairs of 
the exporter is confidential . [, unless the exporter consents to its disclosure.]

Sec. 71. NRS 353A.100 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 353A.100 1. The Chief shall keep or cause to be kept a complete file of 
copies of all reports of audits, examinations, investigations and all other 
reports or releases issued by him. 
 2. All working papers from an audit are confidential and may be 
destroyed by the Chief 5 years after the report is issued, except that the 
Chief:
 (a) Shall release such working papers when subpoenaed by a court of 
competent jurisdiction [;] or when required to do so pursuant to section 6 of 
this act;
 (b) Shall make such working papers available to the Legislative Auditor 
upon his request; and 
 (c) May make such working papers available for inspection by an 
authorized representative of any other governmental entity for a matter 
officially before him. 

Sec. 72. NRS 360.795 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 360.795 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section and 
NRS 360.250 [,] and section 6 of this act, the records and files of the 
Department concerning the administration of NRS 360.760 to 360.798, 
inclusive, are confidential and privileged. The Department, and any 
employee of the Department engaged in the administration of NRS 360.760 
to 360.798, inclusive, or charged with the custody of any such records or 
files, shall not disclose any information obtained from those records or files. 
Neither the Department nor any employee of the Department may be 
required to produce any of the records, files and information for the 
inspection of any person or for use in any action or proceeding. 243243
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 2. The records and files of the Department concerning the administration 
of NRS 360.760 to 360.798, inclusive, are not confidential and privileged in 
the following cases: 
 (a) Testimony by a member or employee of the Department and 
production of records, files and information on behalf of the Department or a 
person in any action or proceeding pursuant to the provisions of this chapter 
if that testimony or the records, files or information, or the facts shown 
thereby, are directly involved in the action or proceeding. 
 (b) Delivery to a person or his authorized representative of a copy of any 
document filed by the person pursuant to NRS 360.760 to 360.798, inclusive. 
 (c) Publication of statistics so classified as to prevent the identification of 
a particular business or document. 
 (d) Exchanges of information with the Internal Revenue Service in 
accordance with compacts made and provided for in such cases. 
 (e) Disclosure in confidence to the Governor or his agent in the exercise of 
the Governor's general supervisory powers, or to any person authorized to 
audit the accounts of the Department in pursuance of an audit, or to the 
Attorney General or other legal representative of the State in connection with 
an action or proceeding pursuant to this chapter, or to any agency of this or 
any other state charged with the administration or enforcement of laws 
relating to workers' compensation, unemployment compensation, public 
assistance, taxation, labor or gaming. 
 (f) Exchanges of information pursuant to subsection 3. 
 (g) Disclosure of information concerning whether or not a person 
conducting a business in this State has a state business license. 
 3. The Nevada Tax Commission may agree with any county fair and 
recreation board or the governing body of any county, city or town for the 
continuing exchange of information concerning taxpayers. 
 4. The Executive Director shall periodically, as he deems appropriate, 
but not less often than annually, transmit to the Administrator of the Division 
of Industrial Relations of the Department of Business and Industry a list of 
the businesses of which he has a record. The list must include the mailing 
address of the business as reported to the Department. 

Sec. 73. NRS 361.044 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 361.044 Except as otherwise provided in NRS 360.250 and section 6 of 
this act, and except for information required to be transmitted to the 
Department, each county assessor shall, at the request of a taxpayer, keep any 
proprietary information concerning the taxpayer received pursuant to this 
chapter confidential. 

Sec. 74. NRS 363A.110 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 363A.110 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section and 
NRS 360.250 [,] and section 6 of this act, the records and files of the 
Department concerning the administration of this chapter are confidential and 
privileged. The Department, and any employee engaged in the administration 
of this chapter or charged with the custody of any such records or files, shall 244244

RA310



 APRIL 23, 2007 — DAY 78 589 

not disclose any information obtained from the Department's records or files 
or from any examination, investigation or hearing authorized by the 
provisions of this chapter. Neither the Department nor any employee of the 
Department may be required to produce any of the records, files and 
information for the inspection of any person or for use in any action or 
proceeding.
 2. The records and files of the Department concerning the administration 
of this chapter are not confidential and privileged in the following cases: 
 (a) Testimony by a member or employee of the Department and 
production of records, files and information on behalf of the Department or a 
taxpayer in any action or proceeding pursuant to the provisions of this 
chapter if that testimony or the records, files or information, or the facts 
shown thereby, are directly involved in the action or proceeding. 
 (b) Delivery to a taxpayer or his authorized representative of a copy of any 
return or other document filed by the taxpayer pursuant to this chapter. 
 (c) Publication of statistics so classified as to prevent the identification of 
a particular person or document. 
 (d) Exchanges of information with the Internal Revenue Service in 
accordance with compacts made and provided for in such cases. 
 (e) Disclosure in confidence to the Governor or his agent in the exercise of 
the Governor's general supervisory powers, or to any person authorized to 
audit the accounts of the Department in pursuance of an audit, or to the 
Attorney General or other legal representative of the State in connection with 
an action or proceeding pursuant to this chapter, or to any agency of this or 
any other state charged with the administration or enforcement of laws 
relating to taxation. 
 (f) Exchanges of information pursuant to subsection 3. 
 3. The Commission may agree with any county fair and recreation board 
or the governing body of any county, city or town for the continuing 
exchange of information concerning taxpayers. 

Sec. 75. NRS 363B.100 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 363B.100 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section and 
NRS 360.250 [,] and section 6 of this act, the records and files of the 
Department concerning the administration of this chapter are confidential and 
privileged. The Department, and any employee engaged in the administration 
of this chapter or charged with the custody of any such records or files, shall 
not disclose any information obtained from the Department's records or files 
or from any examination, investigation or hearing authorized by the 
provisions of this chapter. Neither the Department nor any employee of the 
Department may be required to produce any of the records, files and 
information for the inspection of any person or for use in any action or 
proceeding.
 2. The records and files of the Department concerning the administration 
of this chapter are not confidential and privileged in the following cases: 
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 (a) Testimony by a member or employee of the Department and 
production of records, files and information on behalf of the Department or a 
taxpayer in any action or proceeding pursuant to the provisions of this 
chapter if that testimony or the records, files or information, or the facts 
shown thereby, are directly involved in the action or proceeding. 
 (b) Delivery to a taxpayer or his authorized representative of a copy of any 
return or other document filed by the taxpayer pursuant to this chapter. 
 (c) Publication of statistics so classified as to prevent the identification of 
a particular person or document. 
 (d) Exchanges of information with the Internal Revenue Service in 
accordance with compacts made and provided for in such cases. 
 (e) Disclosure in confidence to the Governor or his agent in the exercise of 
the Governor's general supervisory powers, or to any person authorized to 
audit the accounts of the Department in pursuance of an audit, or to the 
Attorney General or other legal representative of the State in connection with 
an action or proceeding pursuant to this chapter, or to any agency of this or 
any other state charged with the administration or enforcement of laws 
relating to taxation. 
 (f) Exchanges of information pursuant to subsection 3. 
 3. The Commission may agree with any county fair and recreation board 
or the governing body of any county, city or town for the continuing 
exchange of information concerning taxpayers. 

Sec. 76. NRS 366.160 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 366.160 1. All records of mileage operated, origin and destination 
points within this State, equipment operated in this State, gallons or cubic 
feet consumed, and tax paid must at all reasonable times be open to the 
public.
 2. All supporting schedules, invoices and other pertinent papers relative 
to the business affairs and operations of any special fuel supplier, special fuel 
dealer, special fuel exporter, special fuel transporter or special fuel user, and 
any information obtained by an investigation of the records and equipment of 
any special fuel supplier, special fuel dealer, special fuel exporter, special 
fuel transporter or special fuel user, shall be deemed confidential and must 
not be revealed to any person except as necessary to administer this chapter 
or as otherwise provided by section 6 of this act or by any other law.

Sec. 77. NRS 368A.180 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 368A.180 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section and 
NRS 360.250 [,] and section 6 of this act, the records and files of the Board 
and the Department concerning the administration of this chapter are 
confidential and privileged. The Board, the Department and any employee of 
the Board or the Department engaged in the administration of this chapter or 
charged with the custody of any such records or files shall not disclose any 
information obtained from the records or files of the Board or the Department 
or from any examination, investigation or hearing authorized by the 
provisions of this chapter. The Board, the Department and any employee of 246246
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the Board or the Department may not be required to produce any of the 
records, files and information for the inspection of any person or for use in 
any action or proceeding. 
 2. The records and files of the Board and the Department concerning the 
administration of this chapter are not confidential and privileged in the 
following cases: 
 (a) Testimony by a member or employee of the Board or the Department 
and production of records, files and information on behalf of the Board or the 
Department or a taxpayer in any action or proceeding pursuant to the 
provisions of this chapter, if that testimony or the records, files or 
information, or the facts shown thereby, are directly involved in the action or 
proceeding.
 (b) Delivery to a taxpayer or his authorized representative of a copy of any 
report or other document filed by the taxpayer pursuant to this chapter. 
 (c) Publication of statistics so classified as to prevent the identification of 
a particular person or document. 
 (d) Exchanges of information with the Internal Revenue Service in 
accordance with compacts made and provided for in such cases. 
 (e) Disclosure in confidence to the Governor or his agent in the exercise of 
the Governor's general supervisory powers, or to any person authorized to 
audit the accounts of the Board or the Department in pursuance of an audit, 
or to the Attorney General or other legal representative of the State in 
connection with an action or proceeding pursuant to this chapter, or to any 
agency of this or any other state charged with the administration or 
enforcement of laws relating to taxation. 

Sec. 78. NRS 372.750 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 372.750 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, it is a 
misdemeanor for any member of the Tax Commission or officer, agent or 
employee of the Department to make known in any manner whatever the 
business affairs, operations or information obtained by an investigation of 
records and equipment of any retailer or any other person visited or examined 
in the discharge of official duty, or the amount or source of income, profits, 
losses, expenditures or any particular of them, set forth or disclosed in any 
return, or to permit any return or copy of a return, or any book containing any 
abstract or particulars of it to be seen or examined by any person not 
connected with the Department. 
 2. The Tax Commission may agree with any county fair and recreation 
board or the governing body of any county, city or town for the continuing 
exchange of information concerning taxpayers. 
 3. The Governor may, by general or special order, authorize the 
examination of the records maintained by the Department under this chapter 
by other state officers, by tax officers of another state, by the Federal 
Government, if a reciprocal arrangement exists, or by any other person. The 
information so obtained may not be made public except to the extent and in 
the manner that the order may authorize that it be made public. 247247
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 4. Upon written request made by a public officer of a local government, 
the Executive Director shall furnish from the records of the Department, the 
name and address of the owner of any seller or retailer who must file a return 
with the Department. The request must set forth the social security number of 
the owner of the seller or retailer about which the request is made and contain 
a statement signed by the proper authority of the local government certifying 
that the request is made to allow the proper authority to enforce a law to 
recover a debt or obligation owed to the local government. [The] Except as 
otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the information obtained by the 
local government is confidential and may not be used or disclosed for any 
purpose other than the collection of a debt or obligation owed to that local 
government. The Executive Director may charge a reasonable fee for the cost 
of providing the requested information. 
 5. Successors, receivers, trustees, executors, administrators, assignees 
and guarantors, if directly interested, may be given information as to the 
items included in the measure and amounts of any unpaid tax or amounts of 
tax required to be collected, interest and penalties. 
 6. Relevant information may be disclosed as evidence in an appeal by the 
taxpayer from a determination of tax due. 
 7. At any time after a determination, decision or order of the Executive 
Director or other officer of the Department imposing upon a person a penalty 
for fraud or intent to evade the tax imposed by this chapter on the sale, 
storage, use or other consumption of any vehicle, vessel or aircraft becomes 
final or is affirmed by the Commission, any member of the Commission or 
officer, agent or employee of the Department may publicly disclose the 
identity of that person and the amount of tax assessed and penalties imposed 
against him. 

Sec. 79. NRS 372A.080 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 372A.080 1. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
all information which is submitted to the Department by or on behalf of a 
dealer in controlled substances pursuant to this chapter and all records of the 
Department which contain the name, address or any other identifying 
information concerning a dealer are confidential. 
 2. No criminal prosecution may be initiated on the basis of: 
 (a) Information which was submitted to the Department; or 
 (b) Evidence derived from information submitted to the Department, 
pursuant to this chapter or any regulation adopted pursuant thereto. 
 3. No information described in paragraph (a) or (b) of subsection 2 is 
admissible in a criminal prosecution, unless the prosecution shows that the 
information:
 (a) Was independently discovered; or 
 (b) Inevitably would have been discovered based on independent 
information.
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 4. This section does not prohibit the Department from publishing 
statistics that do not disclose the identity of a dealer or the contents of a 
particular return or report submitted to the Department by a dealer. 
 5. Any person who releases or reveals confidential information in 
violation of this section is guilty of a gross misdemeanor. 

Sec. 80. NRS 374.755 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 374.755 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, it is a 
misdemeanor for any member of the Nevada Tax Commission or officer, 
agent or employee of the Department to make known in any manner 
whatever the business affairs, operations or information obtained by an 
investigation of records and equipment of any retailer or any other person 
visited or examined in the discharge of official duty, or the amount or source 
of income, profits, losses, expenditures or any particular thereof, set forth or 
disclosed in any return, or to permit any return or copy thereof, or any book 
containing any abstract or particulars thereof to be seen or examined by any 
person not connected with the Department. 
 2. The Nevada Tax Commission may agree with any county fair and 
recreation board or the governing body of any county, city or town for the 
continuing exchange of information concerning taxpayers. 
 3. The Governor may, however, by general or special order, authorize the 
examination of the records maintained by the Department under this chapter 
by other state officers, by tax officers of another state, by the Federal 
Government, if a reciprocal arrangement exists, or by any other person. The 
information so obtained pursuant to the order of the Governor may not be 
made public except to the extent and in the manner that the order may 
authorize that it be made public. 
 4. Upon written request made by a public officer of a local government, 
the Executive Director shall furnish from the records of the Department, the 
name and address of the owner of any seller or retailer who must file a return 
with the Department. The request must set forth the social security number of 
the owner of the seller or retailer about which the request is made and contain 
a statement signed by the proper authority of the local government certifying 
that the request is made to allow the proper authority to enforce a law to 
recover a debt or obligation owed to the local government. [The] Except as 
otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the information obtained by the 
local government is confidential and may not be used or disclosed for any 
purpose other than the collection of a debt or obligation owed to that local 
government. The Executive Director may charge a reasonable fee for the cost 
of providing the requested information. 
 5. Successors, receivers, trustees, executors, administrators, assignees 
and guarantors, if directly interested, may be given information as to the 
items included in the measure and amounts of any unpaid tax or amounts of 
tax required to be collected, interest and penalties. 
 6. Relevant information may be disclosed as evidence in an appeal by the 
taxpayer from a determination of tax due. 249249
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 7. At any time after a determination, decision or order of the Executive 
Director or other officer of the Department imposing upon a person a penalty 
for fraud or intent to evade the tax imposed by this chapter on the sale, 
storage, use or other consumption of any vehicle, vessel or aircraft becomes 
final or is affirmed by the Commission, any member of the Commission or 
officer, agent or employee of the Department may publicly disclose the 
identity of that person and the amount of tax assessed and penalties imposed 
against him. 

Sec. 81. NRS 375A.835 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 375A.835 All information and records acquired by the Department or 
any of its employees pursuant to this chapter are confidential in nature, and 
except insofar as may be necessary for the enforcement of this chapter or as 
may be permitted by this chapter [,] or required by section 6 of this act, must
not be disclosed. 

Sec. 82. NRS 375B.450 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 375B.450 All information and records acquired from the Internal 
Revenue Service of the United States Department of the Treasury by the 
Nevada Tax Commission, the Department or any of their employees pursuant 
to this chapter are confidential in nature and, except insofar as may be 
necessary for the enforcement of this chapter, as an employee of the 
Department has a need to know the information , [or] as may be permitted by 
this chapter [,] or as may be required by section 6 of this act, must not be 
disclosed.

Sec. 83. NRS 378.300 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 378.300 [Public] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
public records acquired by the Division which have been declared by law to 
be confidential must remain confidential for 30 years, or if the record relates 
to a natural person, until his death, whichever is later, unless another period 
has been fixed by specific statute. 

Sec. 84. NRS 379.008 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 379.008 1. [An] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
an application to the State Library and Archives Administrator for 
certification and all documents in the file of the State Library and Archives 
Administrator relating to an application, including: 
 (a) The applicant's health records; 
 (b) The applicant's fingerprints and any report from the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation;
 (c) Transcripts of the applicant's record at colleges or other educational 
institutions;
 (d) Correspondence concerning the application; and 
 (e) Other personal information concerning the applicant, 

 are confidential. 
 2. It is unlawful to disclose or release the information in an application or 
a related document except pursuant to the written authorization of the 
applicant. 250250
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 3. The State Library and Archives Administrator shall, upon request, 
make available the file of the applicant for inspection by the applicant during 
regular business hours. 

Sec. 85. NRS 387.626 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 387.626 1. A consultant selected to perform a review of a school 
district shall: 
 (a) Consider the results and recommendations of other audits, if any, 
conducted by or on behalf of the school district in the immediately preceding 
6 years; 
 (b) Hold at least one public meeting in the county in which the school 
district is located to explain the process of the review and to obtain 
information from school administrators, teachers, parents and guardians, 
pupils, members of the business community and other residents of the school 
district concerning the operation and management of the school district; and 
 (c) Supervise and oversee his employees and other persons enlisted by the 
consultant to assist with the review. 
 2. The Department shall provide technical support and expertise to the 
consultant during the review to ensure that the objectives of the review and 
the requirements of NRS 387.602 to 387.644, inclusive, are met. 
 3. Upon the request of the consultant, the Department, the board of 
trustees of the school district, the superintendent of schools of the school 
district and the employees of the school district shall make available to the 
consultant all books, accounts, claims, reports, vouchers, records and other 
information, confidential or otherwise, necessary for the consultant to carry 
out his review. 
 4. The consultant shall: 
 (a) Maintain the confidentiality of all information, records and data 
obtained for the purpose of carrying out the provisions of NRS 387.602 to 
387.644, inclusive; 
 (b) Use such information, records and data only for the purpose of 
carrying out the provisions of NRS 387.602 to 387.644, inclusive, and for no 
other purposes; 
 (c) Require his employees and other persons enlisted by the consultant to 
assist with the review to comply with the confidentiality requirements of this 
subsection; and 
 (d) Keep or cause to be kept a complete file of copies of all reports of 
reviews conducted pursuant to NRS 387.602 to 387.644, inclusive. 
 5. All working papers from a review conducted pursuant to NRS 387.602 
to 387.644, inclusive, are confidential and may be destroyed by the 
consultant 8 years after the final written report of the review is issued, except 
that the consultant: 
 (a) Shall release such working papers when subpoenaed by a court [;] or 
when required to do so pursuant to section 6 of this act;
 (b) Shall make such working papers available to the Legislative Auditor 
upon his request; and 251251
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 (c) May make such working papers available for inspection by an 
authorized representative of any other governmental entity for a matter 
officially before him. 

Sec. 86. NRS 389.015 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 389.015 1. The board of trustees of each school district shall administer 
examinations in all public schools of the school district. The governing body 
of a charter school shall administer the same examinations in the charter 
school. The examinations administered by the board of trustees and 
governing body must determine the achievement and proficiency of pupils in: 
 (a) Reading;
 (b) Mathematics; and 
 (c) Science.
 2. The examinations required by subsection 1 must be: 
 (a) Administered before the completion of grades 4, 7, 10 and 11. 
 (b) Administered in each school district and each charter school at the 
same time during the spring semester. The time for the administration of the 
examinations must be prescribed by the State Board. 
 (c) Administered in each school in accordance with uniform procedures 
adopted by the State Board. The Department shall monitor the compliance of 
school districts and individual schools with the uniform procedures. 
 (d) Administered in each school in accordance with the plan adopted 
pursuant to NRS 389.616 by the Department and with the plan adopted 
pursuant to NRS 389.620 by the board of trustees of the school district in 
which the examinations are administered. The Department shall monitor the 
compliance of school districts and individual schools with: 
  (1) The plan adopted by the Department; and 
  (2) The plan adopted by the board of trustees of the applicable school 
district, to the extent that the plan adopted by the board of trustees of the 
school district is consistent with the plan adopted by the Department. 
 (e) Scored by a single private entity that has contracted with the State 
Board to score the examinations. The private entity that scores the 
examinations shall report the results of the examinations in the form and by 
the date required by the Department. 
 3. Not more than 14 working days after the results of the examinations 
are reported to the Department by a private entity that scored the 
examinations, the Superintendent of Public Instruction shall certify that the 
results of the examinations have been transmitted to each school district and 
each charter school. Not more than 10 working days after a school district 
receives the results of the examinations, the superintendent of schools of each 
school district shall certify that the results of the examinations have been 
transmitted to each school within the school district. Except as otherwise 
provided in this subsection, not more than 15 working days after each school 
receives the results of the examinations, the principal of each school and the 
governing body of each charter school shall certify that the results for each 
pupil have been provided to the parent or legal guardian of the pupil: 252252
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 (a) During a conference between the teacher of the pupil or administrator 
of the school and the parent or legal guardian of the pupil; or 
 (b) By mailing the results of the examinations to the last known address of 
the parent or legal guardian of the pupil. 

 If a pupil fails the high school proficiency examination, the school shall 
notify the pupil and the parents or legal guardian of the pupil as soon as 
practicable but not later than 15 working days after the school receives the 
results of the examination. 
 4. If a pupil fails to demonstrate at least adequate achievement on the 
examination administered before the completion of grade 4, 7 or 10, he may 
be promoted to the next higher grade, but the results of his examination must 
be evaluated to determine what remedial study is appropriate. If such a pupil 
is enrolled at a school that has failed to make adequate yearly progress or in 
which less than 60 percent of the pupils enrolled in grade 4, 7 or 10 in the 
school who took the examinations administered pursuant to this section 
received an average score on those examinations that is at least equal to the 
26th percentile of the national reference group of pupils to which the 
examinations were compared, the pupil must, in accordance with the 
requirements set forth in this subsection, complete remedial study that is 
determined to be appropriate for the pupil. 
 5. If a pupil fails to pass the proficiency examination administered before 
the completion of grade 11, he must not be graduated until he is able, through 
remedial study, to pass the proficiency examination, but he may be given a 
certificate of attendance, in place of a diploma, if he has reached the age of 
17 years. 
 6. The State Board shall prescribe standard examinations of achievement 
and proficiency to be administered pursuant to subsection 1. The high school 
proficiency examination must include the subjects of reading, mathematics 
and science and, except for the writing portion prescribed pursuant to 
NRS 389.550, must be developed, printed and scored by a nationally 
recognized testing company in accordance with the process established by 
the testing company. The examinations on reading, mathematics and science 
prescribed for grades 4, 7 and 10 must be selected from examinations created 
by private entities and administered to a national reference group, and must 
allow for a comparison of the achievement and proficiency of pupils in 
grades 4, 7 and 10 in this State to that of a national reference group of pupils 
in grades 4, 7 and 10. The questions contained in the examinations and the 
approved answers used for grading them are confidential, and disclosure is 
unlawful except: 
 (a) To the extent necessary for administering and evaluating the 
examinations.
 (b) That a disclosure may be made to a: 
  (1) State officer who is a member of the Executive or Legislative 
Branch to the extent that it is necessary for the performance of his duties; 
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  (2) Superintendent of schools of a school district to the extent that it is 
necessary for the performance of his duties; 
  (3) Director of curriculum of a school district to the extent that it is 
necessary for the performance of his duties; and 
  (4) Director of testing of a school district to the extent that it is 
necessary for the performance of his duties. 
 (c) That specific questions and answers may be disclosed if the 
Superintendent of Public Instruction determines that the content of the 
questions and answers is not being used in a current examination and making 
the content available to the public poses no threat to the security of the 
current examination process. 

(d) As required pursuant to section 6 of this act.
Sec. 87. NRS 391.035 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 391.035 1. [An] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
an application to the Superintendent of Public Instruction for a license as a 
teacher or to perform other educational functions and all documents in the 
Department's file relating to the application, including: 
 (a) The applicant's health records; 
 (b) His fingerprints and any report from the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation or the Central Repository for Nevada Records of Criminal 
History;
 (c) Transcripts of his record at colleges or other educational institutions; 
 (d) His scores on the examinations administered pursuant to the 
regulations adopted by the Commission; 
 (e) Any correspondence concerning the application; and 
 (f) Any other personal information, 

 are confidential. 
 2. It is unlawful to disclose or release the information in an application or 
any related document except pursuant to paragraph (d) of subsection 6 of 
NRS 179A.075 or the applicant's written authorization. 
 3. The Department shall, upon request, make available the applicant's file 
for his inspection during regular business hours. 

Sec. 88. NRS 392.652 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 392.652 A plan developed pursuant to NRS 392.620 or updated pursuant 
to NRS 392.624, a deviation and any information submitted to a development 
committee pursuant to NRS 392.632, a deviation approved pursuant to 
NRS 392.636 and the plan developed pursuant to NRS 392.640 are 
confidential and, except as otherwise provided in NRS 392.600 to 392.656, 
inclusive, and section 6 of this act must not be disclosed to any person or 
government, governmental agency or political subdivision of a government. 

Sec. 89. NRS 392.850 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 392.850 1. The board of trustees of a county school district, or its 
designee, shall inform each employee of the district, including teachers, other 
licensed employees, drivers of school buses, instructional aides and office 
managers, who may have consistent contact with a pupil if that pupil has, 254254
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within the preceding 3 years, unlawfully caused or attempted to cause serious 
bodily injury to any person. The district shall provide this information based 
upon any written records that the district maintains or which it receives from 
a law enforcement agency or a court. The district need not initiate a request 
for such information from any source. 
 2. A school district and the members of its board of trustees are not liable 
for failure strictly to comply with this section if a good faith effort to comply 
is made. 
 3. [Any] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, any 
information received by an employee pursuant to this section is confidential 
and must not be further disseminated by the employee. 

Sec. 90. NRS 394.1698 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 394.1698 A plan developed pursuant to NRS 394.1687 or updated 
pursuant to NRS 394.1688, a deviation and any information submitted to a 
development committee pursuant to NRS 394.1691 and a deviation approved 
pursuant to NRS 394.1692 are confidential and, except as otherwise provided 
in NRS 392.640 and 394.168 to 394.1699, inclusive, and section 6 of this act, 
must not be disclosed to any person or government, governmental agency or 
political subdivision of a government. 

Sec. 91. NRS 394.447 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 394.447 Accreditation may be accepted as evidence of compliance with 
the minimum standards established by the Commission, or the Administrator 
may require further evidence and make further investigation as in his 
judgment or the judgment of the Commission are necessary. Accreditation 
may be accepted as evidence of compliance only as to the portion or program 
of an institution accredited by the agency if the institution as a whole is not 
accredited. Upon request by the Administrator, the institution shall submit 
copies of all written materials in its possession relating to its accreditation. 
[The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the Administrator
shall keep the materials confidential. 

Sec. 92. NRS 394.460 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 394.460 1. Each person required to be licensed as a 
postsecondary educational institution by the Commission or each 
postsecondary educational institution requesting to add a new program or 
degree or to renew a license must apply to the Administrator, upon forms 
provided by him. The application must be accompanied by the required fees. 
The institution's curriculum and financial statement are confidential except as 
otherwise provided in section 6 of this act or unless, in the opinion of the 
Commission, they militate against the issuance of a license. 
 2. After review of the application, any other information required by the 
Administrator and the report of the panel of evaluators, and an investigation 
of the applicant if necessary, the Commission shall grant or deny a license or 
grant a provisional license for a term specified by the Commission. Before 
the expiration of a provisional license, the Administrator shall inspect the 
institution, or the Commission may require the appointment of a panel of 255255
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evaluators to inspect the institution, and recommend whether to revoke or 
continue the provisional license or to grant an unqualified license. The 
Commission may accept or reject the recommendation. 
 3. The license must state at least the following information: 
 (a) The date of issuance, effective date and term of the license. 
 (b) The correct name, address and owner of the institution. 
 (c) The approved degrees or occupational subjects. 
 (d) Any limitation considered necessary by the Commission. 
 4. The term for which a license is given must not exceed 2 years. The 
license must be posted in a conspicuous place. 
 5. The license must be issued to the owner or governing body of the 
institution and is nontransferable. If a change in ownership of the institution 
occurs, the owner to whom the license was issued shall inform the 
Administrator, and the new owner or governing body must, within 10 days 
after the change in ownership, apply for an approval of the change of 
ownership. If it fails to do so, the license terminates. 
 6. Within 10 days after a change of location or an addition of buildings 
or other facilities, the institution must file a notice of the change with the 
Administrator.
 7. At least 60 days before the expiration of a license, the institution must 
complete and file with the Administrator an application for renewal of its 
license.

Sec. 93. NRS 394.465 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 394.465 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 4, before a 
postsecondary educational institution employs or contracts with a person: 
 (a) To occupy an instructional position; 
 (b) To occupy an administrative or financial position, including a position 
as school director, personnel officer, counselor, admission representative, 
solicitor, canvasser, surveyor, financial aid officer or any similar position; or 
 (c) To act as an agent for the institution, 

 the applicant must submit to the Administrator completed fingerprint 
cards and a form authorizing an investigation of the applicant's background 
and the submission of a complete set of his fingerprints to the Central 
Repository for Nevada Records of Criminal History for its report and for 
submission to the Federal Bureau of Investigation for its report. The 
fingerprint cards and authorization form submitted must be those which are 
provided to the applicant by the Administrator. The applicant's fingerprints 
must be taken by an agency of law enforcement. 
 2. [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the 
Administrator shall keep the results of the investigation confidential. 
 3. The applicant shall pay the cost of the investigation. 
 4. An applicant is not required to satisfy the requirements of subsection 1 
if he: 
 (a) Is licensed by the Superintendent of Public Instruction; 
 (b) Is an employee of the United States Department of Defense; 256256
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 (c) Is a member of the faculty of an accredited postsecondary educational 
institution in another state who is domiciled in a state other than Nevada and 
is present in Nevada for a temporary period to teach at a branch of that 
accredited institution; or 
 (d) Has satisfied the requirements of subsection 1 within the immediately 
preceding 5 years. 

Sec. 94. NRS 396.525 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 396.525 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 [,] and
section 6 of this act, the records of the genetics program concerning the 
clients and families of clients are confidential. 
 2. The genetics program may share information in its possession with the 
University of Nevada School of Medicine and the Health Division of the 
Department of Health and Human Services, if the confidentiality of the 
information is otherwise maintained in accordance with the terms and 
conditions required by law. 

Sec. 95. NRS 398.403 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 398.403 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsections 2 and 3 [,] and
section 6 of this act, the following information and documents do not 
constitute public information and are confidential: 
 (a) Information or documents obtained by the Secretary of State in 
connection with an investigation conducted pursuant to NRS 398.600 
concerning possible violations of NRS 398.400 to 398.620, inclusive; and 
 (b) Information or documents filed with the Secretary of State in 
connection with an application for registration filed pursuant to NRS 398.400 
to 398.620, inclusive, which constitute commercial or financial information, 
or business practices, of a person for which that person is entitled to and has 
asserted a claim of privilege or confidentiality authorized by law. 
 2. The Secretary of State may submit any information or evidence 
obtained in connection with an investigation conducted pursuant to 
NRS 398.600 to the Attorney General or appropriate district attorney for the 
purpose of prosecuting a criminal action pursuant to NRS 398.400 to 
398.620, inclusive. 
 3. The Secretary of State may disclose any information obtained in 
connection with an investigation conducted pursuant to NRS 398.600 to any 
other governmental agency if the disclosure is provided for the purpose of a 
civil, administrative or criminal investigation or proceeding and the receiving 
agency represents in writing that, under applicable law, protections exist to 
preserve the integrity, confidentiality and security of the information. 
 4. The provisions of NRS 398.400 to 398.620, inclusive, do not create 
any privilege and do not diminish any privilege existing pursuant to common 
law, a specific statute or regulation, or otherwise. 

Sec. 96. NRS 416.070 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 416.070 1. [Any] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
any information furnished under NRS 416.040 and designated as confidential 
by the person providing the information shall be maintained as confidential 257257
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by the Governor and any other person who obtains information which he 
knows to be confidential under this section. 
 2. The Governor shall not make known in any manner any particulars of 
the information to any person other than those he designates in writing as 
having a need to know such information. 
 3. No subpoena or other judicial order may be issued compelling the 
Governor or any other person to divulge or make known the confidential 
information, except when the information is relevant to proceedings under 
subsection 6. 
 4. Nothing in this section prohibits use of confidential information to 
prepare statistics or other general data for publication in such a manner that 
the identity of particular persons or business establishments is protected. 
 5. Any person or business establishment who is served with a subpoena 
to give oral testimony or to produce any book, paper, correspondence, 
memorandum, account, agreements or other document or record pursuant to 
this chapter may apply to any district court for a protective order as provided 
by Rule 26 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure. 
 6. In addition to any other penalties provided by law, a person who 
willfully discloses confidential information in violation of this section is 
subject to removal from office or immediate dismissal from public 
employment.

Sec. 97. NRS 422.305 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 422.305 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 and [in]
NRS 228.410 and 422.2374 [,] and section 6 of this act, any information 
obtained by the Division in an investigation of a provider of services under 
the State Plan for Medicaid is confidential. 
 2. The information presented as evidence at a hearing: 
 (a) To enforce the provisions of NRS 422.450 to 422.590, inclusive; or 
 (b) To review an action by the Division against a provider of services 
under the State Plan for Medicaid, 

 is not confidential, except for the identity of any recipient of the 
assistance.

Sec. 98. NRS 425.3828 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 425.3828 1. If a written response setting forth objections and 
requesting a hearing is received by the office issuing the notice and finding 
of financial responsibility within the specified period, a hearing must be held 
pursuant to NRS 425.3832 and notice of the hearing must be sent to the 
parent by regular mail. 
 2. If a written response and request for hearing is not received by the 
office issuing the notice and finding of financial responsibility within the 
specified period, the master may enter a recommendation for the support of a 
dependent child in accordance with the notice and shall: 
 (a) Include in that recommendation: 
  (1) If the paternity of the dependent child is established by the 
recommendation, a declaration of that fact. 258258
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  (2) The amount of monthly support to be paid, including directions 
concerning the manner of payment. 
  (3) The amount of arrearages owed. 
  (4) Whether coverage for health care must be provided for the 
dependent child. 
  (5) Any requirements to be imposed pursuant to subparagraph (13) of 
paragraph (b) of subsection 2 of NRS 425.382, regarding a plan for the 
payment of support by the parent or the participation of the parent in work 
activities.
  (6) The names of the parents or legal guardians of the child. 
  (7) The name of the person to whom, and the name and date of birth of 
the dependent child for whom support is to be paid. 
  (8) A statement that the property of the parent is subject to an 
attachment or other procedure for collection, including, but not limited to, 
withholding of wages, garnishment, liens and execution on liens. 
  (9) A statement that objections to the recommendation may be filed 
with the district court and served upon the other party within 10 days after 
receipt of the recommendation. 
 (b) Ensure that the social security numbers of the parents or legal 
guardians of the child and the person to whom support is to be paid are: 
  (1) Provided to the enforcing authority. 
  (2) Placed in the records relating to the matter and, except as otherwise 
required to carry out [a] the provisions of section 6 of this act or any other 
specific statute, maintained in a confidential manner. 
 3. The parent must be sent a copy of the recommendation for the support 
of a dependent child by regular mail addressed to the last known address of 
the parent, or if applicable, the last known address of the attorney for the 
parent.
 4. The recommendation for the support of a dependent child is final upon 
approval by the district court pursuant to NRS 425.3844. The Chief may take 
action to enforce and collect upon the order of the court approving the 
recommendation, including arrearages, from the date of the approval of the 
recommendation.
 5. If a written response and request for hearing is not received by the 
office issuing the notice and finding of financial responsibility within the 
specified period, and the master enters a recommendation for the support of a 
dependent child, the court may grant relief from the recommendation on the 
grounds set forth in paragraph (b) of Rule 60 of the Nevada Rules of Civil 
Procedure.

Sec. 99. NRS 425.3844 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 425.3844 1. A recommendation entered by a master pursuant to 
NRS 425.382 to 425.3852, inclusive, including a recommendation 
establishing paternity, must be furnished to each party or his attorney at the 
conclusion of the proceedings or as soon thereafter as possible. 
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 2. Within 10 days after receipt of the recommendation, any party may 
file with the district court and serve upon the other parties a notice of 
objection to the recommendation. The notice must include: 
 (a) A copy of the master's recommendation; 
 (b) The results of any blood tests or tests for genetic identification 
examined by the master; 
 (c) A concise statement setting forth the reasons that the party disagrees 
with the master's recommendation, including any affirmative defenses that 
must be pleaded pursuant to the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure; 
 (d) A statement of the relief requested; 
 (e) The notice and finding of financial responsibility if the Chief issued 
such a notice and finding; and 
 (f) Any other relevant documents. 
 3. The district court shall: 
 (a) If a notice of objection is not filed, accept the recommendation entered 
by the master, including a recommendation establishing paternity, unless 
clearly erroneous, and judgment may be entered thereon; or 
 (b) If a notice of objection is filed within the 10-day period, review the 
matter pursuant to NRS 425.3834. 
 4. A party who receives a notice of objection pursuant to subsection 2 is 
not required to file an answer to that notice. The district court shall review 
each objection contained in the notice. 
 5. If a notice of objection includes an objection to a recommendation 
establishing paternity, the enforcement of any obligation for the support of 
the child recommended by the master must, upon the filing and service of the 
notice, be stayed until the district court rules upon the determination of 
paternity. The obligation for the support of the child continues to accrue 
during the consideration of the determination of paternity and must be 
collected as arrears after the completion of the trial if the court approves the 
recommendation of the master. 
 6. If a recommendation entered by a master pursuant to NRS 425.382 to 
425.3852, inclusive, including a recommendation establishing paternity, 
modifies or adjusts a previous order for support issued by any district court in 
this state, that district court shall review the recommendation and approve or 
reject the recommendation issued by the master. 
 7. Upon approval by the district court of a recommendation entered by a 
master pursuant to NRS 425.382 to 425.3852, inclusive, including a 
recommendation establishing paternity, a copy of the recommendation, with 
the approval of the court endorsed thereon, must be filed: 
 (a) In the office of the clerk of the district court; 
 (b) If the order of the district court approving the recommendation of the 
master modifies or adjusts a previous order issued by any district court in this 
state, with the original order in the office of the clerk of that district court; 
and
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 (c) With any court that conducts a proceeding related thereto pursuant to 
the provisions of chapter 130 of NRS. 
 8. A district court that approves a recommendation pursuant to this 
section shall ensure that, before the recommendation is filed pursuant to 
subsection 7, the social security numbers of the parents or legal guardians of 
the child are: 
 (a) Provided to the enforcing authority. 
 (b) Placed in the records relating to the matter and, except as otherwise 
required to carry out [a] the provisions of section 6 of this act or any other 
specific statute, maintained in a confidential manner. 
 9. Upon the approval and filing of the recommendation as provided in 
subsection 7, the recommendation has the force, effect and attributes of an 
order or decree of the district court, including, but not limited to, 
enforcement by supplementary proceedings, contempt of court proceedings, 
writs of execution, liens and writs of garnishment. 

Sec. 100. NRS 425.3855 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 425.3855 A district court that enters an order pursuant to NRS 425.382 
to 425.3852, inclusive, or an order approving a recommendation for the 
support of a dependent child made by a master shall ensure that the social 
security numbers of the parents or legal guardians of the child are: 
 1. Provided to the enforcing authority. 
 2. Placed in the records relating to the matter and, except as otherwise 
required to carry out [a] the provisions of section 6 of this act or any other 
specific statute, maintained in a confidential manner. 

Sec. 101. NRS 427A.1236 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 427A.1236 All records in the possession of the Specialist for the Rights 
of Elderly Persons relating to his counseling or representation of an elderly 
person are confidential and must not be released to any other person except 
upon order of a court of competent jurisdiction [.] or pursuant to the 
provisions of section 6 of this act.

Sec. 102. NRS 432B.280 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 432B.280 1. [Reports] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this 
act, reports made pursuant to this chapter, as well as all records concerning 
these reports and investigations thereof, are confidential. 
 2. Any person, law enforcement agency or public agency, institution or 
facility who willfully releases data or information concerning such reports 
and investigations, except: 
 (a) Pursuant to a criminal prosecution relating to the abuse or neglect of a 
child;
 (b) As otherwise authorized or required pursuant to NRS 432B.290; or 
 (c) As otherwise required pursuant to NRS 432B.513, 

 is guilty of a misdemeanor. 
Sec. 103. NRS 432B.407 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 432B.407 1. A multidisciplinary team to review the death of a child is 
entitled to access to: 261261
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 (a) All investigative information of law enforcement agencies regarding 
the death; 
 (b) Any autopsy and coroner's investigative records relating to the death; 
 (c) Any medical or mental health records of the child; and 
 (d) Any records of social and rehabilitative services or of any other social 
service agency which has provided services to the child or the child's family. 
 2. Each organization represented on a multidisciplinary team to review 
the death of a child shall share with other members of the team information 
in its possession concerning the child who is the subject of the review, any 
siblings of the child, any person who was responsible for the welfare of the 
child and any other information deemed by the organization to be pertinent to 
the review. 
 3. A multidisciplinary team to review the death of a child may petition 
the district court for the issuance of, and the district court may issue, a 
subpoena to compel the production of any books, records or papers relevant 
to the cause of any death being investigated by the team. [Any] Except as 
otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, any books, records or papers 
received by the team pursuant to the subpoena shall be deemed confidential 
and privileged and not subject to disclosure. 
 4. Information acquired by, and the records of, a multidisciplinary team 
to review the death of a child are confidential, must not be disclosed, and are 
not subject to subpoena, discovery or introduction into evidence in any civil 
or criminal proceeding. 

Sec. 104. NRS 433.534 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 433.534 1. The rights of a client enumerated in this chapter must not be 
denied except to protect the client's health and safety or to protect the health 
and safety of others, or both. Any denial of those rights in any facility must 
be entered in the client's record of treatment, and notice of the denial must be 
forwarded to the administrative officer of the facility. Failure to report denial 
of rights by an employee may be grounds for dismissal. 
 2. If the administrative officer of a facility receives notice of a denial of 
rights as provided in subsection 1, he shall cause a full report to be prepared 
which must set forth in detail the factual circumstances surrounding the 
denial. [Such] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, such a
report is confidential and must not be disclosed. A copy of the report must be 
sent to the Commission. 
 3. The Commission: 
 (a) Shall receive reports of and may investigate apparent violations of the 
rights guaranteed by this chapter; 
 (b) May act to resolve disputes relating to apparent violations; 
 (c) May act on behalf of clients to obtain remedies for any apparent 
violations; and 
 (d) Shall otherwise endeavor to safeguard the rights guaranteed by this 
chapter.
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 4. Pursuant to NRS 241.030, the Commission may close any portion of a 
meeting in which it considers the character, alleged misconduct or 
professional competence of a person in relation to: 
 (a) The denial of the rights of a client; or 
 (b) The care and treatment of a client. 

 The provisions of this subsection do not require a meeting of the 
Commission to be closed to the public. 

Sec. 105. NRS 439.270 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 439.270 1. The State Board of Health shall define epilepsy for the 
purposes of the reports hereinafter referred to in this section. 
 2. All physicians shall report immediately to the Health Division, in 
writing, the name, age and address of every person diagnosed as a case of 
epilepsy.
 3. The Health Division shall report, in writing, to the Department of 
Motor Vehicles the name, age and address of every person reported to it as a 
case of epilepsy. 
 4. [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the reports
are for the information of the Department of Motor Vehicles and must be 
kept confidential and used solely to determine the eligibility of any person to 
operate a vehicle on the streets and highways of this State. 
 5. A violation of this section is a misdemeanor. 

Sec. 106. NRS 439.840 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 439.840 1. The Health Division shall, to the extent of legislative 
appropriation and authorization: 
 (a) Collect and maintain reports received pursuant to NRS 439.835; and 
 (b) Ensure that such reports, and any additional documents created from 
such reports, are protected adequately from fire, theft, loss, destruction and 
other hazards and from unauthorized access. 
 2. [Reports] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, reports 
received pursuant to NRS 439.835 are confidential, not subject to subpoena 
or discovery and not subject to inspection by the general public. 

Sec. 107. NRS 439B.420 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 439B.420 1. A hospital or related entity shall not establish a rental 
agreement with a physician or entity that employs physicians that requires 
any portion of his medical practice to be referred to the hospital or related 
entity.
 2. The rent required of a physician or entity which employs physicians 
by a hospital or related entity must not be less than 75 percent of the rent for 
comparable office space leased to another physician or other lessee in the 
building, or in a comparable building owned by the hospital or entity. 
 3. A hospital or related entity shall not pay any portion of the rent of a 
physician or entity which employs physicians within facilities not owned or 
operated by the hospital or related entity, unless the resulting rent is no lower 
than the highest rent for which the hospital or related entity rents comparable 
office space to other physicians. 263263
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 4. A health facility shall not offer any provider of medical care any 
financial inducement, excluding rental agreements subject to the provisions 
of subsection 2 or 3, whether in the form of immediate, delayed, direct or 
indirect payment to induce the referral of a patient or group of patients to the 
health facility. This subsection does not prohibit bona fide gifts under $100, 
or reasonable promotional food or entertainment. 
 5. The provisions of subsections 1 to 4, inclusive, do not apply to 
hospitals in a county whose population is less than 50,000. 
 6. A hospital, if acting as a billing agent for a medical practitioner 
performing services in the hospital, shall not add any charges to the 
practitioner's bill for services other than a charge related to the cost of 
processing the billing. 
 7. A hospital or related entity shall not offer any financial inducement to 
an officer, employee or agent of an insurer, a person acting as an insurer or 
self-insurer or a related entity. A person shall not accept such offers. This 
subsection does not prohibit bona fide gifts of under $100 in value, or 
reasonable promotional food or entertainment. 
 8. A hospital or related entity shall not sell goods or services to a 
physician unless the costs for such goods and services are at least equal to the 
cost for which the hospital or related entity pays for the goods and services. 
 9. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, a practitioner or 
health facility shall not refer a patient to a health facility or service in which 
the referring party has a financial interest unless the referring party 
first discloses the interest to the patient. This subsection does not apply to 
practitioners subject to the provisions of NRS 439B.425. 
 10. The Director may, at reasonable intervals, require a hospital or 
related entity or other party to an agreement to submit copies of operative 
contracts subject to the provisions of this section after notification by 
registered mail. The contracts must be submitted within 30 days after receipt 
of the notice. Contracts submitted pursuant to this subsection are 
confidential, except pursuant to the provisions of section 6 of this act and in
cases in which an action is brought pursuant to subsection 11. 
 11. A person who willfully violates any provision of this section is liable 
to the State of Nevada for: 
 (a) A civil penalty in an amount of not more than $5,000 per occurrence, 
or 100 percent of the value of the illegal transaction, whichever is greater. 
 (b) Any reasonable expenses incurred by the State in enforcing this 
section.

 Any money recovered pursuant to this subsection as a civil penalty must 
be deposited in a separate account in the State General Fund and used for 
projects intended to benefit the residents of this State with regard to health 
care. Money in the account may only be withdrawn by act of the Legislature. 
 12. As used in this section, "related entity" means an affiliated person or 
subsidiary as those terms are defined in NRS 439B.430. 

Sec. 108. NRS 441A.220 is hereby amended to read as follows: 264264
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 441A.220 All information of a personal nature about any person 
provided by any other person reporting a case or suspected case of a 
communicable disease, or by any person who has a communicable disease, or 
as determined by investigation of the health authority, is confidential medical 
information and must not be disclosed to any person under any 
circumstances, including pursuant to any subpoena, search warrant or 
discovery proceeding, except as follows: 
 1. For statistical purposes, provided that the identity of the person is not 
discernible from the information disclosed. 
 2. In a prosecution for a violation of this chapter. 
 3. In a proceeding for an injunction brought pursuant to this chapter. 
 4. In reporting the actual or suspected abuse or neglect of a child or 
elderly person. 
 5. To any person who has a medical need to know the information for his 
own protection or for the well-being of a patient or dependent person, as 
determined by the health authority in accordance with regulations of the 
Board.
 6. If the person who is the subject of the information consents in writing 
to the disclosure. 
 7. Pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 441A.320 or NRS 629.069. 
 8. If the disclosure is made to the Department of Health and Human 
Services and the person about whom the disclosure is made has been 
diagnosed as having acquired immunodeficiency syndrome or an illness 
related to the human immunodeficiency virus and is a recipient of or an 
applicant for Medicaid. 
 9. To a firefighter, police officer or person providing emergency medical 
services if the Board has determined that the information relates to a 
communicable disease significantly related to that occupation. The 
information must be disclosed in the manner prescribed by the Board. 
 10. If the disclosure is authorized or required by section 6 of this act or 
another specific statute. 

Sec. 109. NRS 442.395 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 442.395 [If] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, if a
pregnant woman is referred to the Health Division by a provider of health 
care or other services for information relating to programs for the prevention 
and treatment of fetal alcohol syndrome, any report relating to the referral or 
other associated documentation is confidential and must not be used in any 
criminal prosecution of the woman. 

Sec. 110. NRS 449.245 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 449.245 1. No hospital licensed under the provisions of NRS 449.001 
to 449.240, inclusive, may release from the hospital or otherwise surrender 
physical custody of any child under 6 months of age, whose living parent or 
guardian is known to the hospital, to any person other than a parent, guardian 
or relative by blood or marriage of that child, without a written authorization 
signed by a living parent, who must be the mother if unwed, or guardian 265265
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specifying the particular person or agency to whom the child may be released 
and the permanent address of that person or agency. 
 2. Upon the release or other surrender of physical custody of the child, 
the hospital shall require from the person to whom the child is released such 
reasonable proof of identity as the hospital may deem necessary for 
compliance with the provisions of this section. The hospital shall furnish a 
true copy of the written authorization to the Division of Child and Family 
Services of the Department of Health and Human Services before the release 
or other surrender by it of physical custody of the child. The copy must be 
furnished to the Division immediately upon receipt by the hospital. 
 3. Any person to whom any such child is released who thereafter 
surrenders physical custody of that child to any other person or agency shall, 
upon demand by the Division of Child and Family Services, disclose to the 
Division the name and permanent address of the person or agency to whom 
physical custody of the child was delivered. 
 4. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all 
information received by the Division of Child and Family Services pursuant 
to the provisions of this section is confidential and must be protected from 
disclosure in the same manner that information is protected under 
NRS 432.035. 
 5. Compliance with the provisions of this section is not a substitute for 
compliance with NRS 127.220 to 127.310, inclusive, governing placements 
for adoption and permanent free care. 
 6. A violation of any provision of this section is a misdemeanor. 

Sec. 111. NRS 449.720 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 449.720 Every patient of a medical facility, facility for the dependent or 
home for individual residential care has the right to: 
 1. Receive considerate and respectful care. 
 2. Refuse treatment to the extent permitted by law and to be informed of 
the consequences of that refusal. 
 3. Refuse to participate in any medical experiments conducted at the 
facility.
 4. Retain his privacy concerning his program of medical care. 
Discussions of a patient's care, consultation with other persons concerning 
the patient, examinations or treatments, and all communications and records 
concerning the patient, except as otherwise provided in NRS 108.640, 
442.300 to 442.330, inclusive, and 449.705, and chapter 629 of NRS [,] and
section 6 of this act are confidential. The patient must consent to the presence 
of any person who is not directly involved with his care during any 
examination, consultation or treatment. 
 5. Have any reasonable request for services reasonably satisfied by the 
facility or home considering its ability to do so. 
 6. Receive continuous care from the facility or home. The patient must 
be informed: 
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 (a) Of his appointments for treatment and the names of the persons 
available at the facility or home for those treatments; and 
 (b) By his physician or an authorized representative of the physician, of 
his need for continuing care. 

Sec. 112. NRS 453.1545 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 453.1545 1. The Board and the Division shall cooperatively develop a 
computerized program to track each prescription for a controlled substance 
listed in schedule II, III or IV that is filled by a pharmacy that is registered 
with the Board or that is dispensed by a practitioner who is registered with 
the Board. The program must: 
 (a) Be designed to provide information regarding: 
  (1) The inappropriate use by a patient of controlled substances listed in 
schedules II, III and IV to pharmacies, practitioners and appropriate state 
agencies to prevent the improper or illegal use of those controlled substances; 
and
  (2) Statistical data relating to the use of those controlled substances that 
is not specific to a particular patient. 
 (b) Be administered by the Board, the Division, the Health Division of the 
Department and various practitioners, representatives of professional 
associations for practitioners, representatives of occupational licensing 
boards and prosecuting attorneys selected by the Board and the Division. 
 (c) Not infringe on the legal use of a controlled substance for the 
management of severe or intractable pain. 
 2. The Board and the Division must have access to the program 
established pursuant to subsection 1 to identify any suspected fraudulent or 
illegal activity related to the dispensing of controlled substances. 
 3. The Board or the Division shall report any activity it reasonably 
suspects may be fraudulent or illegal to the appropriate law enforcement 
agency or occupational licensing board and provide the law enforcement 
agency or occupational licensing board with the relevant information 
obtained from the program for further investigation. 
 4. Information obtained from the program relating to a practitioner or a 
patient is confidential and, except as otherwise provided by this section [,]
and section 6 of this act, must not be disclosed to any person. That 
information must be disclosed: 
 (a) Upon the request of a person about whom the information requested 
concerns or upon the request on his behalf by his attorney; or 
 (b) Upon the lawful order of a court of competent jurisdiction. 
 5. The Board and the Division may apply for any available grants and 
accept any gifts, grants or donations to assist in developing and maintaining 
the program required by this section. 

Sec. 113. NRS 453.720 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 453.720 Unless otherwise requested by a narcotic addict being treated, or 
a person who in the past was treated, under NRS 453.660, and except as 
otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all information in possession of 267267
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the Health Division of the Department, any rehabilitation clinic or any 
certified hospital concerning such person is confidential and privileged. 

Sec. 114. NRS 453A.610 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 453A.610 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, the University of Nevada School of Medicine shall 
maintain the confidentiality of and shall not disclose: 
 (a) The contents of any applications, records or other written materials 
that the School of Medicine creates or receives pursuant to the research 
program described in NRS 453A.600; or 
 (b) The name or any other identifying information of a person who has 
applied to or who participates in the research program described in 
NRS 453A.600. 

 [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the items of 
information described in this subsection are confidential, not subject to 
subpoena or discovery and not subject to inspection by the general public. 
 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection 1, the School of 
Medicine may release the name and other identifying information of a person 
who has applied to or who participates in the research program described in 
NRS 453A.600 to: 
 (a) Authorized employees of the State of Nevada as necessary to perform 
official duties related to the research program; and 
 (b) Authorized employees of state and local law enforcement agencies, 
only as necessary to verify that a person is a lawful participant in the research 
program.

Sec. 115. NRS 453A.700 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 453A.700 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section , [and]
subsection 4 of NRS 453A.210 [,] and section 6 of this act, the Department 
and any designee of the Department shall maintain the confidentiality of and 
shall not disclose: 
 (a) The contents of any applications, records or other written 
documentation that the Department or its designee creates or receives 
pursuant to the provisions of this chapter; or 
 (b) The name or any other identifying information of: 
  (1) An attending physician; or 
  (2) A person who has applied for or to whom the Department or its 
designee has issued a registry identification card. 

 [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the items of 
information described in this subsection are confidential, not subject to 
subpoena or discovery and not subject to inspection by the general public. 
 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection 1, the Department or its 
designee may release the name and other identifying information of a person 
to whom the Department or its designee has issued a registry identification 
card to: 
 (a) Authorized employees of the Department or its designee as necessary 
to perform official duties of the Department; and 268268
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 (b) Authorized employees of state and local law enforcement agencies, 
only as necessary to verify that a person is the lawful holder of a registry 
identification card issued to him pursuant to NRS 453A.220 or 453A.250. 

Sec. 116. NRS 459.050 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 459.050 1. Any authorized representative of the Health Division may 
enter at any reasonable time upon any private or public property for the 
purpose of determining whether there is compliance with or violation of the 
provisions of NRS 459.010 to 459.290, inclusive, or of the rules and 
regulations promulgated under NRS 459.010 to 459.290, inclusive, and the 
owner, occupant or person in charge of such property shall permit such entry 
and inspection. 
 2. Entry into areas under the jurisdiction of the Federal Government shall 
be effected only with the concurrence of the Federal Government or its duly 
designated representative. 
 3. Any report of investigation or inspection, or any information 
concerning trade secrets or secret industrial processes obtained under 
NRS 459.010 to 459.290, inclusive, shall not be disclosed or opened to 
public inspection except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act or as
may be necessary for the performance of the functions of the State Board of 
Health.

Sec. 117. NRS 459.555 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 459.555 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, information 
which the Department obtains in the course of the performance of its duties 
relating to hazardous waste is public information. 
 2. [Any] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, any 
information which specifically relates to the trade secrets of any person, 
including any processes, operations, style of work or apparatus, is 
confidential whenever it is established to the satisfaction of the Director that 
the information is entitled to protection as a trade secret. In determining 
whether the information is entitled to protection, the Director shall consider, 
among other things, whether the disclosure of that information would tend to 
affect adversely the competitive position of the information's owner. 
 3. Any information which is confidential under subsection 2 may be 
disclosed to any officer, employee or authorized representative of this State 
or the United States if: 
 (a) He is engaged in carrying out the provisions of NRS 459.400 to 
459.600, inclusive, or the provisions of federal law relating to hazardous 
waste; or 
 (b) The information is relevant in any judicial proceeding or adversary 
administrative proceeding under NRS 459.400 to 459.600, inclusive, or 
under the provisions of federal law relating to hazardous waste, and is 
admissible under the rules of evidence. 
 4. The Commission shall adopt regulations concerning the availability of 
information which satisfy the criteria established by the Federal Government 
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for delegation to the state of federal programs concerning the management 
of, and the enforcement of laws relating to, hazardous waste. 

Sec. 118. NRS 459.7056 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 459.7056 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 or section 6 
of this act or required by federal law, the following information is 
confidential when provided to the Department on a uniform application: 
 (a) Any information regarding the ownership of a motor carrier. 
 (b) Any information regarding a parent company, affiliate or subsidiary of 
a motor carrier. 
 (c) Any information regarding the financial balance sheet and statement of 
income of a motor carrier. 
 (d) Any information regarding the liability of a motor carrier for any 
debts.
 (e) Any information regarding the customers of a motor carrier, including 
the services provided to specific customers. 
 2. The Department may, to the extent required for the administration of 
the uniform program, disclose any information described in subsection 1 to: 
 (a) An appropriate agency of the Federal Government or a participating 
state; or 
 (b) A national repository established to assist in the administration of the 
uniform program. 

Sec. 119. NRS 459.846 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 459.846 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, information 
which the Department obtains in the course of the performance of its duties 
relating to storage tanks is public information. 
 2. [Any] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, any 
information which specifically relates to the trade secrets of any person is 
confidential. The following information shall be deemed a trade secret: 
 (a) Information concerning fuel additives. For the purposes of this 
paragraph, "fuel additives" are ingredients which are present in fuel 
compositions in amounts of less than 1 percent by weight, including 
detergents, dispersants, demulsifiers and dyes. 
 (b) Any other information considered to be a trade secret by the Director. 
A trade secret may include a formula, composition, process, method of 
operation, compilation of information or apparatus which is used in a 
person's business and gives that person an opportunity to obtain an advantage 
over competitors. In determining whether information is a trade secret, the 
Director shall consider whether the information is publicly available in 
written form and, if not, whether its disclosure would tend to affect adversely 
the competitive position of the owner of the information. 
 3. Any information which is confidential under subsection 2 may be 
disclosed to any officer, employee or authorized representative of this State 
or the United States if: 
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 (a) He is engaged in carrying out the provisions of NRS 459.800 to 
459.856, inclusive, or the provisions of federal law relating to storage tanks; 
or
 (b) The information is relevant in any judicial proceeding or adversary 
administrative proceeding under NRS 459.800 to 459.856, inclusive, or 
under the provisions of federal law relating to storage tanks, and is 
admissible under the rules of evidence. 

 The disclosure must be made in a manner which preserves the status of the 
information as a trade secret. 

Sec. 120. NRS 482.170 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 482.170 Except as otherwise provided in NRS 481.063 and 485.316 [,]
and section 6 of this act, all personal information in the records of 
registration and licensing in the offices of the Department is confidential and 
must not knowingly be disclosed by the Department. 

Sec. 121. NRS 483.340 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 483.340 1. The Department shall, upon payment of the required fee, 
issue to every qualified applicant a driver's license indicating the type or 
class of vehicles the licensee may drive. The license must bear a unique 
number assigned to the licensee pursuant to NRS 483.345, the licensee's 
social security number, if he has one, unless he requests that it not appear on 
the license, the name, date of birth, mailing address and a brief description of 
the licensee, and a space upon which the licensee shall write his usual 
signature in ink immediately upon receipt of the license. A license is not 
valid until it has been so signed by the licensee. 
 2. The Department may issue a driver's license for purposes of 
identification only for use by officers of local police and sheriffs' 
departments, agents of the Investigation Division of the Department of Public 
Safety while engaged in special undercover investigations relating to 
narcotics or prostitution or for other undercover investigations requiring the 
establishment of a fictitious identity, federal agents while engaged in 
undercover investigations, investigators employed by the Attorney General 
while engaged in undercover investigations and agents of the State Gaming 
Control Board while engaged in investigations pursuant to NRS 463.140. An 
application for such a license must be made through the head of the police or 
sheriff's department, the Chief of the Investigation Division of the 
Department of Public Safety, the director of the appropriate federal agency, 
the Attorney General or the Chairman of the State Gaming Control Board. 
Such a license is exempt from the fees required by NRS 483.410. The 
Department, by regulation, shall provide for the cancellation of any such 
driver's license upon the completion of the special investigation for which it 
was issued. 
 3. [Information] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
information pertaining to the issuance of a driver's license pursuant to 
subsection 2 is confidential. 
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 4. It is unlawful for any person to use a driver's license issued pursuant to 
subsection 2 for any purpose other than the special investigation for which it 
was issued. 
 5. At the time of the issuance or renewal of the driver's license, the 
Department shall: 
 (a) Give the holder the opportunity to have indicated on his driver's 
license that he wishes to be a donor of all or part of his body pursuant to 
NRS 451.500 to 451.590, inclusive, or to refuse to make an anatomical gift 
of his body or part of his body. 
 (b) Give the holder the opportunity to have indicated whether he wishes to 
donate $1 or more to the Anatomical Gift Account created by NRS 460.150. 
 (c) Provide to each holder who is interested in becoming a donor 
information relating to anatomical gifts, including the procedure for 
registering as a donor with the organ donor registry with which the 
Department has entered into a contract pursuant to this paragraph. To carry 
out this paragraph, the Department shall, on such terms as it deems 
appropriate, enter into a contract with an organization which registers as 
donors persons who desire to make anatomical gifts. 
 (d) If the Department has established a program for imprinting a symbol 
or other indicator of a medical condition on a driver's license pursuant to 
NRS 483.3485, give the holder the opportunity to have a symbol or other 
indicator of a medical condition imprinted on his driver's license. 
 6. If the holder wishes to make a donation to the Anatomical Gift 
Account, the Department shall collect the donation and deposit the money 
collected in the State Treasury for credit to the Anatomical Gift Account. 
 7. The Department shall submit to the organ donor registry with which 
the Department has entered into a contract pursuant to paragraph (c) of 
subsection 5 information from the records of the Department relating to 
persons who have drivers' licenses that indicate the intention of those persons 
to make an anatomical gift. The Department shall adopt regulations to carry 
out the provisions of this subsection. 

Sec. 122. NRS 483.363 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 483.363 1. A person who is 18 years of age or older may file with the 
Department a report requesting that the Department examine a licensee who: 
 (a) Is related to the person filing the report within the third degree of 
consanguinity or who is the spouse of the person filing the report; and 
 (b) The person filing the report reasonably and in good faith believes 
cannot safely operate a motor vehicle. 
 2. The report described in subsection 1 must: 
 (a) Include the name, relationship, address, telephone number and 
signature of the person filing the report. 
 (b) State the person's basis for believing that the licensee cannot safely 
operate a motor vehicle, which basis must be: 
  (1) Personal observation or physical evidence of a physical or medical 
condition that has the potential to impair the ability of the licensee to operate 272272
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a motor vehicle, corroborated by an affidavit from a physician in which the 
physician concurs that the licensee should be examined to determine the 
licensee's ability to safely operate a motor vehicle; 
  (2) Personal knowledge that the driving record of the licensee indicates 
the unsafe operation of a motor vehicle, corroborated by an affidavit from a 
physician in which the physician concurs that the licensee should be 
examined to determine the licensee's ability to safely operate a motor vehicle; 
or
  (3) An investigation by a law enforcement officer. 
 (c) Be kept confidential, except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this 
act and except that the report must be released upon request of the licensee or 
an order of a court of competent jurisdiction. 

 No person may file more than one report concerning the same licensee 
within a 12-month period. 
 3. The Director shall prescribe: 
 (a) A standard form to be used for the filing of a report pursuant to this 
section; and 
 (b) The procedure to be used for the filing of a report pursuant to this 
section.

Sec. 123. NRS 483.800 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 483.800 1. The following sources shall submit, within 30 days after 
learning such information, to the Department the name, address, birth date, 
social security number, visual acuity and any other information which may 
be required by regulation of the Department, of persons who are blind or 
night-blind or whose vision is severely impaired and shall designate whether 
the person is blind, night-blind or has severely impaired vision: 
 (a) Hospitals, medical clinics and similar institutions which treat persons 
who are blind, night-blind or whose vision is severely impaired; and 
 (b) Agencies of the State and political subdivisions which provide special 
tax consideration for blindness. 
 2. When any source described in subsection 1 learns that vision has been 
restored to any person whose name appears in the registry established 
pursuant to subsection 3, the fact of restoration of vision must be reported to 
the registry within 30 days after learning of that fact. 
 3. The Department may establish a registry for the purposes of this 
section and adopt regulations governing reports to and operation of the 
registry.
 4. The Department shall maintain a file of the names, addresses, birth 
dates and social security numbers of persons who are blind or night-blind or 
whose vision is severely impaired. 
 5. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all 
information learned by the Department pursuant to this section is confidential 
and any person who, without the consent of the person concerned, reveals 
that information for purposes other than those specified in this section, or 
other than for administration of the Program for Supplemental Security 273273
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Income, including State Supplementary Assistance pursuant to chapter 422 or 
422A of NRS, or services to blind persons pursuant to NRS 426.518 to 
426.610, inclusive, is guilty of a misdemeanor. 

Sec. 124. NRS 484.229 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 484.229 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsections 2, 3 and 4, the 
driver of a vehicle which is in any manner involved in an accident on a 
highway or on premises to which the public has access, if the accident results 
in bodily injury to or the death of any person or total damage to any vehicle 
or item of property to an apparent extent of $750 or more, shall, within 
10 days after the accident, forward a written report of the accident to the 
Department. Whenever damage occurs to a motor vehicle, the operator shall 
attach to the accident report an estimate of repairs or a statement of the total 
loss from an established repair garage, an insurance adjuster employed by an 
insurer licensed to do business in this State, an adjuster licensed pursuant to 
chapter 684A of NRS or an appraiser licensed pursuant to chapter 684B of 
NRS. The Department may require the driver or owner of the vehicle to file 
supplemental written reports whenever the original report is insufficient in 
the opinion of the Department. 
 2. A report is not required from any person if the accident was 
investigated by a law enforcement agency and the report of the investigating 
officer contains: 
 (a) The name and address of the insurance company providing coverage to 
each person involved in the accident; 
 (b) The number of each policy; and 
 (c) The dates on which the coverage begins and ends. 
 3. The driver of a vehicle subject to the jurisdiction of the Surface 
Transportation Board or the Transportation Services Authority need not 
submit in his report the information requested pursuant to subsection 3 of 
NRS 484.247 until the 10th day of the month following the month in which 
the accident occurred. 
 4. A written accident report is not required pursuant to this chapter from 
any person who is physically incapable of making a report, during the period 
of his incapacity. Whenever the driver is physically incapable of making a 
written report of an accident as required in this section and he is not the 
owner of the vehicle, the owner shall within 10 days after knowledge of the 
accident make the report not made by the driver. 
 5. All written reports required in this section to be forwarded to the 
Department by drivers or owners of vehicles involved in accidents are 
without prejudice to the person so reporting and are for the confidential use 
of the Department or other state agencies having use of the records for 
accident prevention, except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act and 
except that the Department may disclose to a person involved in an accident 
or to his insurer the identity of another person involved in the accident when 
his identity is not otherwise known or when he denies his presence at the 
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accident. The Department may also disclose the name of his insurer and the 
number of his policy. 
 6. A written report forwarded pursuant to the provisions of this section 
may not be used as evidence in any trial, civil or criminal, arising out of an 
accident except that the Department shall furnish upon demand of any party 
to such a trial, or upon demand of any court, a certificate showing that a 
specified accident report has or has not been made to the Department in 
compliance with law, and, if the report has been made, the date, time and 
location of the accident, the names and addresses of the drivers, the owners 
of the vehicles involved and the investigating officers. The report may be 
used as evidence when necessary to prosecute charges filed in connection 
with a violation of NRS 484.236. 

Sec. 125. NRS 485.316 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 485.316 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsections 2 and 3 [,] and
section 6 of this act, information which is maintained in the database created 
pursuant to NRS 485.313 is confidential. 
 2. The Department may only disclose information which is maintained in 
the database, upon request, to a state or local governmental agency for the 
purpose of enforcing NRS 485.185, including investigating or litigating a 
violation or alleged violation. 
 3. The Department may only disclose information retrieved from the 
database to: 
 (a) A person who requests information regarding his own status; 
 (b) The parent or legal guardian of the person about whom the information 
is requested if the person is an unemancipated minor or legally incapacitated; 
 (c) A person who has a power of attorney from the person about whom the 
information is requested; 
 (d) A person who submits a notarized release from the person about whom 
the information is requested which is dated no more than 90 days before the 
date of the request; or 
 (e) A person who has suffered a loss or injury in an accident involving a 
motor vehicle, or his authorized insurer or a representative of his authorized 
insurer, who requests: 
  (1) Information for use in the accident report; and
  (2) For each motor vehicle involved in the accident: 
   (I) The name and address of each registered owner; 
   (II) The name of the insurer; and 
   (III) The number of the policy of liability insurance. 
 4. A person who knowingly violates the provisions of this section is 
guilty of a category D felony and shall be punished as provided in 
NRS 193.130. 
 5. As used in this section, "authorized insurer" has the meaning ascribed 
to it in NRS 679A.030. 

Sec. 126. NRS 561.285 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
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 561.285 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, the 
Department may collect and disseminate, throughout the State, information 
calculated to educate and benefit the general public and the livestock and 
agricultural industries of the State of Nevada, and information pertaining to 
any program administered by the Department. 
 2. Except as otherwise provided in NRS 571.160 [,] and section 6 of this 
act, all proprietary information concerning: 
 (a) Numbers of animals; 
 (b) The quantity of production; 
 (c) Fiscal or tax matters; or 
 (d) The security of any facility, 

 which specifically relates to a natural person, company, corporation or 
other nonpublic entity, and which is collected by the Department pursuant to 
the provisions of titles 49 and 50 of NRS and chapters 581, 582, 583, 586, 
587, 588 and 590 of NRS, is confidential. 

Sec. 127. NRS 571.160 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 571.160 If any animal becomes infected with any infectious, contagious 
or parasitic disease as defined by rules and regulations adopted by the State 
Quarantine Officer, the owner or agent in charge of the infected animal, or 
any inspector of the Department or any practicing veterinarian who has 
knowledge of the infected animal, shall immediately notify the State 
Quarantine Officer. [A] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
a notification of disease received pursuant to this section must be kept 
confidential unless: 
 1. The reported disease is specifically regulated pursuant to 
NRS 571.130 for mandatory control and eradication to protect the public 
health, other animals or wildlife; or 
 2. The State Quarantine Officer determines that a public health 
emergency exists. 

Sec. 128. NRS 584.583 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 584.583 1. No distributor or retailer may sell fluid milk, fluid cream, 
butter or any fresh dairy product below cost. 
 2. In determining the cost for a distributor who processes or 
manufactures fluid milk, fluid cream, butter or any fresh dairy product, the 
following factors, in addition to any other factor acceptable to the 
Commission, must be considered: 
 (a) Cost of raw products based on actual cost or on current and 
prospective supplies of fluid milk and fluid cream in relation to current and 
prospective demands for fluid milk and fluid cream. 
 (b) Cost of production. 
 (c) Reasonable return on capital investment. 
 (d) Producer's costs for transportation. 
 (e) Cost of compliance with health regulations. 
 (f) Overhead.
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 3. In determining the cost for a peddler-distributor or retailer, the 
following factors, in addition to any other factor acceptable to the 
Commission, must be considered: 
 (a) Purchase price of the product. 
 (b) Overhead for handling. 
 (c) Reasonable return on capital investment. 
 4. For the purposes of subsections 2 and 3: 
 (a) Reasonable return on capital investment must be calculated per unit of 
production by dividing the product of: 
  (1) The net capital investment; and 
  (2) The reasonable rate of return on capital investment, 

 by the total sales per unit of production. "Net capital investment" includes 
land, buildings, equipment and any other capital asset used as a rate base. A 
reasonable rate of return on capital investment shall be deemed to be the rate 
fixed for 6-month United States treasury bills at the auction in the first week 
of the month of January or July immediately preceding the date that the 
reasonable return on capital investment is calculated. 
 (b) Costs for overhead must be determined according to generally 
accepted principles of accounting and allocated proportionately to each unit 
of production. Costs for overhead include salaries for executives and officers 
of the company, all other costs of labor, including indirect costs, rent, 
depreciation, costs for maintenance, costs incurred in delivering the product, 
fees for licenses, taxes and insurance, cost of materials, costs for repairs, the 
cost of electricity and other public utilities, and all other costs that relate to 
the sale and distribution of the product. Any expense incurred in the 
marketing of a finished or manufactured dairy product which cannot be 
attributed directly to a particular product must be apportioned to the product 
on a basis consistent with generally accepted principles of accounting 
relating to costs. 
 5. Each distributor who processes or manufactures fluid milk, fluid 
cream, butter or any fresh dairy product and each peddler-distributor shall 
file with the Commission a statement of costs, listing separately, and as 
applicable, the items set forth in subsection 2 or 3 of this section and any 
other applicable factors relating to cost. The statements must be kept current 
as prescribed by regulations adopted by the Commission. All statements must 
be kept confidential by the Commission except as otherwise provided in 
section 6 of this act and except when used in judicial or administrative 
proceedings pursuant to NRS 584.325 to 584.670, inclusive. 
 6. Each distributor who processes or manufactures fluid milk, fluid 
cream, butter or any fresh dairy product and each peddler-distributor shall 
file with the Commission lists of wholesale prices and of minimum retail, 
distributor and dock prices. No distributor may sell at wholesale prices other 
than, or at retail, distributor or dock prices less than, those contained in the 
appropriate list, except in the case of bids to departments or agencies of 
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federal, state and local governments. In no case may the distributor sell or 
offer to sell below cost. 

Sec. 129. NRS 584.5835 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 584.5835 1. A distributor shall not sell a substitute dairy product, as 
defined in NRS 584.176, below its cost to him. 
 2. A distributor who sells or distributes a substitute dairy product shall 
file with the Commission a statement of the cost of the substitute dairy 
product to him. The statement must be supplemented periodically as required 
by regulations adopted by the Commission. The Commission shall keep all 
statements confidential except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act 
and except when used in a judicial proceeding or an administrative 
proceeding relating to the provisions of this chapter. 

Sec. 130. NRS 584.655 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 584.655 Any record or report made to the Commission pursuant to the 
provisions of NRS 584.650 shall be confidential and shall not be divulged 
except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act and except when 
necessary for the proper determination of any court proceedings or hearing 
before the Commission. 

Sec. 131. NRS 598.0979 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 598.0979 1. Notwithstanding the requirement of knowledge as an 
element of a deceptive trade practice, when the Commissioner or Director 
has cause to believe that a person has engaged or is engaging in any 
deceptive trade practice, knowingly or otherwise, he may request in writing 
that the Attorney General represent him in instituting an appropriate legal 
proceeding, including, without limitation, an application for an injunction or 
temporary restraining order prohibiting the person from continuing the 
practices. The court may make orders or judgments necessary to prevent the 
use by the person of any such deceptive trade practice or to restore to any 
other person any money or property which may have been acquired by the 
deceptive trade practice. 
 2. Where the Commissioner or Director has the authority to institute a 
civil action or other proceeding, in lieu thereof or as a part thereof, he may 
accept an assurance of discontinuance of any deceptive trade practice. This 
assurance may include a stipulation for the payment by the alleged violator 
of:
 (a) The costs of investigation and the costs of instituting the action or 
proceeding;
 (b) Any amount of money which he may be required to pay pursuant to 
the provisions of NRS 598.0971 in lieu of any administrative fine; and 
 (c) The restitution of any money or property acquired by any deceptive 
trade practice. 

 Except as otherwise provided in this subsection [,] and section 6 of this 
act, any assurance of discontinuance accepted by the Commissioner or 
Director and any stipulation filed with the court is confidential to the parties 
to the action or proceeding and to the court and its employees. Upon final 278278

RA344



 APRIL 23, 2007 — DAY 78 623 

judgment by the court that an injunction or a temporary restraining order, 
issued as provided in subsection 1 , [of this section,] has been violated, an 
assurance of discontinuance has been violated or a person has engaged in the 
same deceptive trade practice as had previously been enjoined, the assurance 
of discontinuance or stipulation becomes a public record. Proof by a 
preponderance of the evidence of a violation of an assurance constitutes 
prima facie evidence of a deceptive trade practice for the purpose of any civil 
action or proceeding brought thereafter by the Commissioner or Director, 
whether a new action or a subsequent motion or petition in any pending 
action or proceeding. 

Sec. 132. NRS 598A.110 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 598A.110 Any procedure, testimony taken, document or other tangible 
evidence produced, or answer made under NRS 598A.100 shall be kept 
confidential by the Attorney General prior to the institution of an action 
brought under this chapter for the alleged violation of the provisions of this 
chapter under investigation, unless: 
 1. Confidentiality is waived by the person upon whom the written 
investigative demand is made [;] or pursuant to section 6 of this act;
 2. Disclosure is authorized by the district court; or 
 3. Disclosure is made pursuant to NRS 598A.080.H

Sec. 133. NRS 599B.090 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 599B.090 1. An applicant for registration as a seller must submit to the 
Division, in such form as it prescribes, a written application for registration. 
The application must: 
 (a) Set forth the name of the applicant, including each name under which 
he intends to do business; 
 (b) Set forth the name of any parent or affiliated entity that: 
  (1) Will engage in a business or other transaction with the consumer 
relating to any sale or donation solicited by the applicant; or 
  (2) Accepts responsibility for any statement or act of the applicant 
relating to any sale or donation solicited by the applicant; 
 (c) Set forth the complete street address of each location, designating the 
principal location, from which the applicant will be doing business; 
 (d) Contain a list of all telephone numbers to be used by the applicant, 
with the address where each telephone using these numbers will be located; 
 (e) Set forth the name and address of each: 
  (1) Principal officer, director, trustee, shareholder, owner or partner of 
the applicant, and of each other person responsible for the management of the 
business of the applicant; 
  (2) Person responsible for a location from which the applicant will do 
business; and 
  (3) Salesman to be employed by or otherwise associated with the 
applicant;
 (f) Be accompanied by a copy of any: 

279279

RA345



624 JOURNAL OF THE SENATE

  (1) Script, outline or presentation the applicant will require a salesman 
to use when soliciting or, if no such document is used, a statement to that 
effect;
  (2) Sales or donation information or literature to be provided by the 
applicant to a salesman, or of which the applicant will inform the salesman; 
and
  (3) Sales or donation information or literature to be provided by the 
applicant to a consumer in connection with any solicitation; 
 (g) If the applicant is a corporation, be signed by an officer of the 
corporation; and 
 (h) If the applicant is a natural person, be completed personally by the 
applicant.
 2. Any material submitted pursuant to paragraph (f) of subsection 1 is 
submitted for the records of the Division and not for the approval of the 
Division.
 3. The information provided pursuant to paragraph (f) of subsection 1 by 
an applicant for registration as a seller is confidential and may only be 
released to a law enforcement agency, to a court of competent jurisdiction ,
[or] by order of a court of competent jurisdiction [.] or pursuant to section 6 
of this act.
 4. If the applicant is other than a natural person, or if any parent or 
affiliated entity is identified pursuant to paragraph (b) of subsection 1, the 
applicant must, for itself and any such entity, identify its place of 
organization and: 
 (a) In the case of a partnership, provide a copy of any written partnership 
agreement; or 
 (b) In the case of a corporation, provide a copy of its articles of 
incorporation and bylaws. 
 5. An application filed pursuant to this section must be verified and 
accompanied by: 
 (a) A bond, letter of credit or certificate of deposit satisfying the 
requirements of NRS 599B.100; 
 (b) A fee for registration in the amount of $6,000; 
 (c) If subsection 6 applies, the additional bond, letter of credit or 
certificate of deposit and the additional fee required by that subsection; and 
 (d) A copy of: 
  (1) The work card issued to the seller pursuant to subsection 1 of 
NRS 599B.115, if the seller is required to obtain a work card; and 
  (2) The work cards of any other persons associated with the seller who 
are required to obtain work cards pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 599B.115. 
 6. If an applicant intends to do business under any assumed or fictitious 
name, he must, for each such name: 
 (a) File an additional bond, letter of credit or certificate of deposit 
satisfying the requirements of NRS 599B.100; and 
 (b) Pay an additional fee for registration in the amount of $6,000. 280280
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Sec. 134. NRS 603.070 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 603.070 [A] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, a 
governmental agency which obtains a proprietary program or the data stored 
in a computer must keep the program or data confidential. The governmental 
agency may only use the program or data for the purpose for which it was 
obtained, and may not release the program or data without the prior written 
consent of the owner. 

Sec. 135. NRS 612.265 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 612.265 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, information obtained from any employing unit or person 
pursuant to the administration of this chapter and any determination as to the 
benefit rights of any person is confidential and may not be disclosed or be 
open to public inspection in any manner which would reveal the person's or 
employing unit's identity. 
 2. Any claimant or his legal representative is entitled to information from 
the records of the Division, to the extent necessary for the proper 
presentation of his claim in any proceeding pursuant to this chapter. A 
claimant or an employing unit is not entitled to information from the records 
of the Division for any other purpose. 
 3. Subject to such restrictions as the Administrator may by regulation 
prescribe, the information obtained by the Division may be made available 
to:
 (a) Any agency of this or any other state or any federal agency charged 
with the administration or enforcement of laws relating to unemployment 
compensation, public assistance, workers' compensation or labor and 
industrial relations, or the maintenance of a system of public employment 
offices;
 (b) Any state or local agency for the enforcement of child support; 
 (c) The Internal Revenue Service of the Department of the Treasury; 
 (d) The Department of Taxation; and 
 (e) The State Contractors' Board in the performance of its duties to 
enforce the provisions of chapter 624 of NRS. 

 Information obtained in connection with the administration of the 
Employment Service may be made available to persons or agencies for 
purposes appropriate to the operation of a public employment service or a 
public assistance program. 
 4. Upon written request made by a public officer of a local government, 
the Administrator shall furnish from the records of the Division the name, 
address and place of employment of any person listed in the records of 
employment of the Division. The request must set forth the social security 
number of the person about whom the request is made and contain a 
statement signed by proper authority of the local government certifying that 
the request is made to allow the proper authority to enforce a law to recover a 
debt or obligation owed to the local government. [The] Except as otherwise 
provided in section 6 of this act, the information obtained by the local 281281
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government is confidential and may not be used or disclosed for any purpose 
other than the collection of a debt or obligation owed to that local 
government. The Administrator may charge a reasonable fee for the cost of 
providing the requested information. 
 5. The Administrator may publish or otherwise provide information on 
the names of employers, their addresses, their type or class of business or 
industry, and the approximate number of employees employed by each such 
employer, if the information released will assist unemployed persons to 
obtain employment or will be generally useful in developing and diversifying 
the economic interests of this State. Upon request by a state agency which is 
able to demonstrate that its intended use of the information will benefit the 
residents of this State, the Administrator may, in addition to the information 
listed in this subsection, disclose the number of employees employed by each 
employer and the total wages paid by each employer. The Administrator may 
charge a fee to cover the actual costs of any administrative expenses relating 
to the disclosure of this information to a state agency. The Administrator may 
require the state agency to certify in writing that the agency will take all 
actions necessary to maintain the confidentiality of the information and 
prevent its unauthorized disclosure. 
 6. Upon request therefor the Administrator shall furnish to any agency of 
the United States charged with the administration of public works or 
assistance through public employment, and may furnish to any state agency 
similarly charged, the name, address, ordinary occupation and employment 
status of each recipient of benefits and the recipient's rights to further 
benefits pursuant to this chapter. 
 7. To further a current criminal investigation, the chief executive officer 
of any law enforcement agency of this State may submit a written request to 
the Administrator that he furnish, from the records of the Division, the name, 
address and place of employment of any person listed in the records of 
employment of the Division. The request must set forth the social security 
number of the person about whom the request is made and contain a 
statement signed by the chief executive officer certifying that the request is 
made to further a criminal investigation currently being conducted by the 
agency. Upon receipt of such a request, the Administrator shall furnish the 
information requested. He may charge a fee to cover the actual costs of any 
related administrative expenses. 
 8. In addition to the provisions of subsection 5, the Administrator shall 
provide lists containing the names and addresses of employers, and 
information regarding the wages paid by each employer to the Department of 
Taxation, upon request, for use in verifying returns for the taxes imposed 
pursuant to chapters 363A and 363B of NRS. The Administrator may charge 
a fee to cover the actual costs of any related administrative expenses. 
 9. A private carrier that provides industrial insurance in this State shall 
submit to the Administrator a list containing the name of each person who 
received benefits pursuant to chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, or 617 of 282282
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NRS during the preceding month and request that he compare the 
information so provided with the records of the Division regarding persons 
claiming benefits pursuant to chapter 612 of NRS for the same period. The 
information submitted by the private carrier must be in a form determined by 
the Administrator and must contain the social security number of each such 
person. Upon receipt of the request, the Administrator shall make such a 
comparison and, if it appears from the information submitted that a person is 
simultaneously claiming benefits under chapter 612 of NRS and under 
chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, or 617 of NRS, the Administrator shall 
notify the Attorney General or any other appropriate law enforcement 
agency. The Administrator shall charge a fee to cover the actual costs of any 
related administrative expenses. 
 10. The Administrator may request the Comptroller of the Currency of 
the United States to cause an examination of the correctness of any return or 
report of any national banking association rendered pursuant to the 
provisions of this chapter, and may in connection with the request transmit 
any such report or return to the Comptroller of the Currency of the United 
States as provided in section 3305(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954. 
 11. If any employee or member of the Board of Review, the 
Administrator or any employee of the Administrator, in violation of the 
provisions of this section, discloses information obtained from any 
employing unit or person in the administration of this chapter, or if any 
person who has obtained a list of applicants for work, or of claimants or 
recipients of benefits pursuant to this chapter uses or permits the use of the 
list for any political purpose, he is guilty of a gross misdemeanor. 
 12. All letters, reports or communications of any kind, oral or written, 
from the employer or employee to each other or to the Division or any of its 
agents, representatives or employees are privileged and must not be the 
subject matter or basis for any lawsuit if the letter, report or communication 
is written, sent, delivered or prepared pursuant to the requirements of this 
chapter.

Sec. 136. NRS 616B.012 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 616B.012 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section and [in]
NRS 616B.015, 616B.021 and 616C.205 [,] and section 6 of this act, 
information obtained from any insurer, employer or employee is confidential 
and may not be disclosed or be open to public inspection in any manner 
which would reveal the person's identity. 
 2. Any claimant or his legal representative is entitled to information from 
the records of the insurer, to the extent necessary for the proper presentation 
of a claim in any proceeding under chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, or 
chapter 617 of NRS. 
 3. The Division and Administrator are entitled to information from the 
records of the insurer which is necessary for the performance of their duties. 
The Administrator may, by regulation, prescribe the manner in which 
otherwise confidential information may be made available to: 283283
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 (a) Any agency of this or any other state charged with the administration 
or enforcement of laws relating to industrial insurance, unemployment 
compensation, public assistance or labor law and industrial relations; 
 (b) Any state or local agency for the enforcement of child support; 
 (c) The Internal Revenue Service of the Department of the Treasury; 
 (d) The Department of Taxation; and 
 (e) The State Contractors' Board in the performance of its duties to 
enforce the provisions of chapter 624 of NRS. 

 Information obtained in connection with the administration of a program 
of industrial insurance may be made available to persons or agencies for 
purposes appropriate to the operation of a program of industrial insurance. 
 4. Upon written request made by a public officer of a local government, 
an insurer shall furnish from its records the name, address and place of 
employment of any person listed in its records. The request must set forth the 
social security number of the person about whom the request is made and 
contain a statement signed by proper authority of the local government 
certifying that the request is made to allow the proper authority to enforce a 
law to recover a debt or obligation owed to the local government. [The]
Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the information
obtained by the local government is confidential and may not be used or 
disclosed for any purpose other than the collection of a debt or obligation 
owed to the local government. The insurer may charge a reasonable fee for 
the cost of providing the requested information. 
 5. To further a current criminal investigation, the chief executive officer 
of any law enforcement agency of this State may submit to the Administrator 
a written request for the name, address and place of employment of any 
person listed in the records of an insurer. The request must set forth the social 
security number of the person about whom the request is made and contain a 
statement signed by the chief executive officer certifying that the request is 
made to further a criminal investigation currently being conducted by the 
agency. Upon receipt of a request, the Administrator shall instruct the insurer 
to furnish the information requested. Upon receipt of such an instruction, the 
insurer shall furnish the information requested. The insurer may charge a 
reasonable fee to cover any related administrative expenses. 
 6. Upon request by the Department of Taxation, the Administrator shall 
provide:
 (a) Lists containing the names and addresses of employers; and 
 (b) Other information concerning employers collected and maintained by 
the Administrator or the Division to carry out the purposes of chapters 616A 
to 616D, inclusive, or chapter 617 of NRS, 

 to the Department for its use in verifying returns for the taxes imposed 
pursuant to chapters 363A and 363B of NRS. The Administrator may charge 
a reasonable fee to cover any related administrative expenses. 
 7. Any person who, in violation of this section, discloses information 
obtained from files of claimants or policyholders or obtains a list of claimants 284284
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or policyholders under chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, or chapter 617 of 
NRS and uses or permits the use of the list for any political purposes, is 
guilty of a gross misdemeanor. 
 8. All letters, reports or communications of any kind, oral or written, 
from the insurer, or any of its agents, representatives or employees are 
privileged and must not be the subject matter or basis for any lawsuit if the 
letter, report or communication is written, sent, delivered or prepared 
pursuant to the requirements of chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, or 
chapter 617 of NRS. 
 9. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Administrator or the 
Division from disclosing any nonproprietary information relating to an 
uninsured employer or proof of industrial insurance. 

Sec. 137. NRS 616B.015 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 616B.015 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 [,] and
section 6 of this act, the records and files of the Division concerning 
self-insured employers and associations of self-insured public or private 
employers are confidential and may be revealed in whole or in part only in 
the course of the administration of the provisions of chapters 616A to 616D, 
inclusive, or chapter 617 of NRS relating to those employers or upon the 
lawful order of a court of competent jurisdiction. 
 2. The records and files specified in subsection 1 are not confidential in 
the following cases: 
 (a) Testimony by an officer or agent of the Division and the production of 
records and files on behalf of the Division in any action or proceeding 
conducted pursuant to the provisions of chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, or 
chapter 617 of NRS if that testimony or the records and files, or the facts 
shown thereby, are involved in the action or proceeding. 
 (b) Delivery to a self-insured employer or an association of self-insured 
public or private employers of a copy of any document filed by the employer 
with the Division pursuant to the provisions of chapters 616A to 616D, 
inclusive, or chapter 617 of NRS. 
 (c) Publication of statistics if classified so as to prevent: 
  (1) Identification of a particular employer or document; or 
  (2) Disclosure of the financial or business condition of a particular 
employer or insurer. 
 (d) Disclosure in confidence, without further distribution or disclosure to 
any other person, to: 
  (1) The Governor or his agent in the exercise of the Governor's general 
supervisory powers; 
  (2) Any person authorized to audit the accounts of the Division in 
pursuance of an audit; 
  (3) The Attorney General or other legal representative of the State in 
connection with an action or proceeding conducted pursuant to the provisions 
of chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, or chapter 617 of NRS; 
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  (4) Any agency of this or any other state charged with the 
administration or enforcement of the laws relating to workers' compensation 
or unemployment compensation; or 
  (5) Any federal, state or local law enforcement agency. 
 (e) Disclosure in confidence by a person who receives information 
pursuant to paragraph (d) to a person in furtherance of the administration or 
enforcement of the laws relating to workers' compensation or unemployment 
compensation.
 3. As used in this section: 
 (a) "Division" means the Division of Insurance of the Department of 
Business and Industry. 
 (b) "Records and files" means: 
  (1) All credit reports, references, investigative records, financial 
information and data pertaining to the net worth of a self-insured employer or 
association of self-insured public or private employers; and 
  (2) All information and data required by the Division to be furnished to 
it pursuant to chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, or chapter 617 of NRS or 
which may be otherwise obtained relative to the finances, earnings, revenue, 
trade secrets or the financial condition of any self-insured employer or 
association of self-insured public or private employers. 

Sec. 138. NRS 616B.315 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 616B.315 A self-insured employer shall notify the Commissioner not 
less than 60 days before any change in ownership or control of the employer. 
The certification of the self-insured employer terminates automatically on the 
date of the change unless the Commissioner extends the certification. Except 
as otherwise provided in NRS 616B.015, the Commissioner, upon request, 
may declare as confidential any documents which are submitted in support of 
a request for such an extension. Documents declared confidential pursuant to 
this section are subject to the provisions of section 6 of this act.

Sec. 139. NRS 616B.350 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 616B.350 1. A group of five or more employers may not act as an 
association of self-insured public employers unless the group: 
 (a) Is composed of employers engaged in the same or similar 
classifications of employment; and 
 (b) Has been issued a certificate to act as such an association by the 
Commissioner.
 2. A group of five or more employers may not act as an association of 
self-insured private employers unless each member of the group: 
 (a) Is a member or associate member of a bona fide trade association, as 
determined by the Commissioner, which: 
  (1) Is incorporated in this State; and 
  (2) Has been in existence for at least 5 years; and 
 (b) Has been issued a certificate to act as such an association by the 
Commissioner.
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 3. An association of public or private employers that wishes to be issued 
a certificate must file with the Commissioner an application for certification. 
 4. The application must include: 
 (a) The name of the association. 
 (b) The address of: 
  (1) The principal office of the association. 
  (2) The location where the books and records of the association will be 
maintained.
 (c) The date the association was organized. 
 (d) The name and address of each member of the association. 
 (e) The names of the initial members of the board of trustees and the name 
of the initial association's administrator. 
 (f) Such other information as the Commissioner may require. 
 5. The application must be accompanied by: 
 (a) A nonrefundable filing fee of $1,000. 
 (b) Proof of compliance with NRS 616B.353. 
 (c) Proof that the association or its third-party administrator is licensed or 
otherwise authorized to conduct business in this State pursuant to title 57 of 
NRS.
 (d) A copy of the agreements entered into with the association's 
administrator and a third-party administrator. 
 (e) A copy of the bylaws of the association. 
 (f) A copy of an agreement jointly and severally binding the association 
and each member of the association to secure the payment of all 
compensation due pursuant to chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS. 
 (g) A pro forma financial statement prepared by an independent certified 
public accountant in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles that shows the financial ability of the association to pay all 
compensation due pursuant to chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS. 
 (h) A reviewed financial statement prepared by an independent certified 
public accountant for each proposed member of the association or evidence 
of the ability of the association or its proposed members to provide a 
solvency bond pursuant to subsection 3 of NRS 616B.353. 
 (i) Proof that each member of the association will make the initial 
payment to the association required pursuant to NRS 616B.416 on a date 
specified by the Commissioner. The payment shall be deemed to be a part of 
the assessment required to be paid by each member for the first year of 
self-insurance if certification is issued to the association. 
 6. [Any] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, any 
financial information relating to a member of an association received by the 
Commissioner pursuant to the provisions of this section is confidential and 
must not be disclosed. 
 7. For the purposes of this section, "associate member of a bona fide 
trade association" means a supplier whose business, as determined by the 
Commissioner: 287287
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 (a) Is limited to a specific industry; and 
 (b) Primarily involves providing a product or service that is directly used 
or consumed by substantially all of the members of the trade association or 
bears a direct relationship to the business of the members of the association. 

Sec. 140. NRS 618.341 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 618.341 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, the public may 
inspect all records of the Division which contain information regarding: 
 (a) An oral or written complaint filed by an employee or a representative 
of employees alleging the existence of an imminent danger or a violation of a 
safety or health standard that threatens physical harm; 
 (b) The manner in which the Division acted on any such complaint; 
 (c) Any citation issued by the Division to an employer and the reason for 
its issuance; and 
 (d) Any penalty imposed by the Division on an employer and the reason 
therefor.
 2. The Division shall, upon oral or written request and payment of any 
applicable charges, provide to any person a copy of any record of the 
Division which is open to public inspection pursuant to subsection 1. The 
first six pages reproduced pursuant to each such request must be provided 
without charge. The charge for each additional page copied must not exceed 
the cost of reproduction. 
 3. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 4 [,] and section 6 of this 
act, the Division shall keep confidential: 
 (a) The name of any employee who filed any complaint against an 
employer or who made any statement to the Division concerning an 
employer; and 
 (b) Any information which is part of a current investigation by the 
Division, but the fact that an investigation is being conducted is public 
information.

 As used in this subsection, "current investigation" means any investigation 
conducted before the issuance of a citation or notice of violation or, if no 
citation or notice of violation is issued, an investigation which is not closed. 
 4. The Division shall, upon the receipt of a written request from a law 
enforcement agency, disclose otherwise confidential information to that law 
enforcement agency for the limited purpose of pursuing a criminal 
investigation.

Sec. 141. NRS 618.425 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 618.425 1. Any employee, representative of employees, provider of 
health care or governmental officer or employee whose primary duty is to 
ensure public safety, including a building inspector, building official or other 
similar authority, believing that a violation of a safety or health standard 
exists that threatens physical harm, or that an imminent danger exists, may 
request an investigation by giving notice, orally or in writing, to the 
Administrator or his representative of the violation or danger. 
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 2. The person giving the notice must state with reasonable particularity 
the grounds for the notice. [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of 
this act, the name of any employee giving a complaint notice or names of 
employees mentioned in the complaint must be held confidential. If the 
complaint is given orally, the Division shall send to the complainant a form 
upon which he may supplement his oral complaint. His failure to return the 
form does not affect the Division's duty to act pursuant to this section. 
 3. If upon receipt of the notification the Division determines that there 
are reasonable grounds to believe that a violation or imminent danger exists, 
it shall make a special investigation within 14 days unless there is a 
substantial probability that death or serious physical harm could result from 
the violation or danger, then the investigation must be made immediately 
after the Administrator receives the notice to determine whether a violation 
or imminent danger exists. The Division need not investigate a complaint 
within the times required by this subsection if, from the facts stated in the 
complaint, the Administrator determines that the complaint is intended solely 
to harass the employer. If the Division determines that there are no 
reasonable grounds to believe that a violation or imminent danger exists, it 
shall notify the employees or other person who gave the notice of such 
determination within 14 days after the Administrator receives the notice. 

Sec. 142. NRS 623.131 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 623.131 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, the records of the Board which relate to an employee of 
the Board or an examination given by the Board are confidential. 
 2. The records described in this section may be disclosed, pursuant to 
procedures established by regulation of the Board, to a court or an agency of 
the Federal Government, any state, any political subdivision of this State or 
any other related professional board or organization. 
 3. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and section 6 of this 
act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and other information 
filed with the complaint and all documents and other information compiled 
as a result of an investigation conducted to determine whether to initiate 
disciplinary action against a person are confidential, unless the person 
submits a written statement to the Board requesting that such documents and 
information be made public records. 
 4. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all other documents and 
information considered by the Board when determining whether to impose 
discipline are public records. 
 5. The Board may report to other related professional boards and 
organizations an applicant's score on an examination given by the Board. 
 6. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
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investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 143. NRS 623A.353 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 623A.353 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a record of the Board that relates to an employee of the 
Board or an examination administered by the Board is confidential. 
 2. The records described in this section may be disclosed, pursuant to 
procedures established by regulation of the Board, to: 
 (a) A court; 
 (b) An agency of the Federal Government; 
 (c) Another state; 
 (d) A political subdivision of this State; or 
 (e) Any other related professional board or organization. 
 3. The Board may report to any other related professional board and 
organization the score of an applicant on an examination administered by the 
Board.
 4. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and section 6 of this 
act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and other information 
filed with the complaint and all documents and other information compiled 
as a result of an investigation conducted to determine whether to initiate 
disciplinary action against a person are confidential, unless the person 
submits a written statement to the Board requesting that such documents and 
information be made public records. 
 5. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all other documents and 
information considered by the Board when determining whether to impose 
discipline are public records. 
 6. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 144. NRS 624.110 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 624.110 1. The Board may maintain offices in as many localities in the 
State as it finds necessary to carry out the provisions of this chapter, but it 
shall maintain one office in which there must be at all times open to public 
inspection a complete record of applications, licenses issued, licenses 
renewed and all revocations, cancellations and suspensions of licenses. 
 2. Except as otherwise required in NRS 624.327 [,] and section 6 of this 
act, credit reports, references, financial information and data pertaining to a 
licensee's net worth are confidential and not open to public inspection. 

Sec. 145. NRS 624.265 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 624.265 1. An applicant for a contractor's license or a licensed 
contractor and each officer, director, partner and associate thereof must 
possess good character. Lack of character may be established by showing 290290
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that the applicant or licensed contractor, or any officer, director, partner or 
associate thereof, has: 
 (a) Committed any act which would be grounds for the denial, suspension 
or revocation of a contractor's license; 
 (b) A bad reputation for honesty and integrity; 
 (c) Entered a plea of nolo contendere or guilty to, been found guilty of or 
been convicted, in this State or any other jurisdiction, of a crime arising out 
of, in connection with or related to the activities of such person in such a 
manner as to demonstrate his unfitness to act as a contractor, and the time for 
appeal has elapsed or the judgment of conviction has been affirmed on 
appeal; or 
 (d) Had a license revoked or suspended for reasons that would preclude 
the granting or renewal of a license for which the application has been made. 
 2. Upon the request of the Board, an applicant for a contractor's license, 
and any officer, director, partner or associate of the applicant, must submit to 
the Board completed fingerprint cards and a form authorizing an 
investigation of the applicant's background and the submission of his 
fingerprints to the Central Repository for Nevada Records of Criminal 
History and the Federal Bureau of Investigation. The fingerprint cards and 
authorization form submitted must be those that are provided to the applicant 
by the Board. The applicant's fingerprints may be taken by an agent of the 
Board or an agency of law enforcement. 
 3. [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the Board
shall keep the results of the investigation confidential and not subject to 
inspection by the general public. 
 4. The Board shall establish by regulation the fee for processing the 
fingerprints to be paid by the applicant. The fee must not exceed the sum of 
the amounts charged by the Central Repository for Nevada Records of 
Criminal History and the Federal Bureau of Investigation for processing the 
fingerprints.
 5. The Board may obtain records of a law enforcement agency or any 
other agency that maintains records of criminal history, including, without 
limitation, records of: 
 (a) Arrests;
 (b) Guilty pleas; 
 (c) Sentencing;
 (d) Probation;
 (e) Parole;
 (f) Bail;
 (g) Complaints; and 
 (h) Final dispositions, 

 for the investigation of a licensee or an applicant for a contractor's license. 
Sec. 146. NRS 624.327 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 624.327 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 291291
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other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of the investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action are confidential. 
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Board to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Board when determining whether to impose discipline are public records. 

Sec. 147. NRS 625.425 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 625.425 1. [Any] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
any information obtained during the course of an investigation by the Board 
and any record of an investigation is confidential. If no disciplinary action is 
taken against a licensee, an applicant for licensure, an intern or an applicant 
for certification as an intern, or no civil penalty is imposed pursuant to 
NRS 625.590, the information in his investigative file remains confidential. 
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Board to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Board when determining whether to impose discipline are public records. 
 3. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board or its 
employees from communicating and cooperating with another licensing 
board or any other agency that is investigating a person. 

Sec. 148. NRS 625A.185 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 625A.185 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 149. NRS 628.418 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 628.418 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action are confidential. 
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Board to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Board when determining whether to impose discipline are public records. 292292
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Sec. 150. NRS 630.30665 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 630.30665 1. The Board shall require each holder of a license to 
practice medicine to submit annually to the Board, on a form provided by the 
Board, and in the format required by the Board by regulation, a report: 
 (a) Stating the number and type of surgeries requiring conscious sedation, 
deep sedation or general anesthesia performed by the holder of the license at 
his office or any other facility, excluding any surgical care performed: 
  (1) At a medical facility as that term is defined in NRS 449.0151; or 
  (2) Outside of this State; and 
 (b) Reporting the occurrence of any sentinel event arising from any such 
surgery.
 2. Failure to submit a report or knowingly filing false information in a 
report constitutes grounds for initiating disciplinary action. 
 3. The Board shall: 
 (a) Collect and maintain reports received pursuant to subsection 1; and
 (b) Ensure that the reports, and any additional documents created from the 
reports, are protected adequately from fire, theft, loss, destruction and other 
hazards, and from unauthorized access. 
 4. [A] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, a report
received pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential, not subject to subpoena or 
discovery, and not subject to inspection by the general public. 
 5. The provisions of this section do not apply to surgical care requiring 
only the administration of oral medication to a patient to relieve the patient's 
anxiety or pain, if the medication is not given in a dosage that is sufficient to 
induce in a patient a controlled state of depressed consciousness or 
unconsciousness similar to general anesthesia, deep sedation or conscious 
sedation.
 6. As used in this section: 
 (a) "Conscious sedation" means a minimally depressed level of 
consciousness, produced by a pharmacologic or nonpharmacologic method, 
or a combination thereof, in which the patient retains the ability 
independently and continuously to maintain an airway and to respond 
appropriately to physical stimulation and verbal commands. 
 (b) "Deep sedation" means a controlled state of depressed consciousness, 
produced by a pharmacologic or nonpharmacologic method, or a 
combination thereof, and accompanied by a partial loss of protective reflexes 
and the inability to respond purposefully to verbal commands. 
 (c) "General anesthesia" means a controlled state of unconsciousness, 
produced by a pharmacologic or nonpharmacologic method, or a 
combination thereof, and accompanied by partial or complete loss of 
protective reflexes and the inability independently to maintain an airway and 
respond purposefully to physical stimulation or verbal commands. 
 (d) "Sentinel event" means an unexpected occurrence involving death or 
serious physical or psychological injury or the risk thereof, including, 
without limitation, any process variation for which a recurrence would carry 293293
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a significant chance of serious adverse outcome. The term includes loss of 
limb or function. 

Sec. 151. NRS 630.336 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 630.336 1. Any deliberations conducted or vote taken by the Board or 
any investigative committee of the Board regarding its ordering of a 
physician, physician assistant or practitioner of respiratory care to undergo a 
physical or mental examination or any other examination designated to assist 
the Board or committee in determining the fitness of a physician, physician 
assistant or practitioner of respiratory care are not subject to the requirements 
of NRS 241.020. 
 2. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 3 or 4, all applications for 
a license to practice medicine or respiratory care, any charges filed by the 
Board, financial records of the Board, formal hearings on any charges heard 
by the Board or a panel selected by the Board, records of such hearings and 
any order or decision of the Board or panel must be open to the public. 
 3. [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the 
following may be kept confidential: 
 (a) Any statement, evidence, credential or other proof submitted in 
support of or to verify the contents of an application; 
 (b) Any report concerning the fitness of any person to receive or hold a 
license to practice medicine or respiratory care; and 
 (c) Any communication between: 
  (1) The Board and any of its committees or panels; and 
  (2) The Board or its staff, investigators, experts, committees, panels, 
hearing officers, advisory members or consultants and counsel for the Board. 
 4. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 5 [,] and section 6 of this 
act, a complaint filed with the Board pursuant to NRS 630.307, all 
documents and other information filed with the complaint and all documents 
and other information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to 
determine whether to initiate disciplinary action are confidential. 
 5. The complaint or other document filed by the Board to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Board when determining whether to impose discipline are public records. 
 6. This section does not prevent or prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with any other licensing board or agency or 
any agency which is investigating a licensee, including a law enforcement 
agency. Such cooperation may include, without limitation, providing the 
board or agency with minutes of a closed meeting, transcripts of oral 
examinations and the results of oral examinations. 

Sec. 152. NRS 630A.555 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 630A.555 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 294294
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unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 153. NRS 631.368 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 631.368 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, any records or information obtained during the course of 
an investigation by the Board and any record of the investigation are 
confidential.
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Board to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Board when determining whether to impose discipline are public records. 
 3. The Board may provide any record or information described in 
subsection 1 to any other licensing board or agency or any agency which is 
investigating a person licensed pursuant to this chapter, including a law 
enforcement agency. 

Sec. 154. NRS 632.125 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 632.125 1. Each hospital or agency in the State employing professional 
or practical nurses or nursing assistants shall submit a list of such nursing 
personnel to the Board at least three times annually as directed by the Board. 
[Each] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, each list
submitted to the Board pursuant to this subsection is confidential. 
 2. A medical facility shall, before hiring a nursing assistant or nursing 
assistant trainee, obtain validation from the Board that the prospective 
employee has a current certificate, is enrolled in a training program required 
for certification or is awaiting the results of a certification examination. 

Sec. 155. NRS 632.405 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 632.405 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, any records or information obtained during the course of 
an investigation by the Board and any record of the investigation are 
confidential.
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Board to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Board when determining whether to impose disciplinary action are public 
records.
 3. This section does not prevent or prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with another licensing Board or any agency 
that is investigating a licensee, including a law enforcement agency. 295295

RA361



640 JOURNAL OF THE SENATE

Sec. 156. NRS 633.301 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 633.301 1. The Board shall keep a record of its proceedings relating to 
licensing and disciplinary actions. Except as otherwise provided in this 
section, the record must be open to public inspection at all reasonable times 
and contain the name, known place of business and residence, and the date 
and number of the license of every osteopathic physician licensed under this 
chapter.
 2. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and section 6 of this 
act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and other information 
filed with the complaint and all documents and other information compiled 
as a result of an investigation conducted to determine whether to initiate 
disciplinary action against a person are confidential, unless the person 
submits a written statement to the Board requesting that such documents and 
information be made public records. 
 3. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all other documents and 
information considered by the Board when determining whether to impose 
discipline are public records. 
 4. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 157. NRS 633.524 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 633.524 1. The Board shall require each holder of a license issued 
pursuant to this chapter to submit annually to the Board, on a form provided 
by the Board, and in the format required by the Board by regulation, a report: 
 (a) Stating the number and type of surgeries requiring conscious sedation, 
deep sedation or general anesthesia performed by the holder of the license at 
his office or any other facility, excluding any surgical care performed: 
  (1) At a medical facility as that term is defined in NRS 449.0151; or 
  (2) Outside of this State; and 
 (b) Reporting the occurrence of any sentinel event arising from any such 
surgery.
 2. Failure to submit a report or knowingly filing false information in a 
report constitutes grounds for initiating disciplinary action. 
 3. The Board shall: 
 (a) Collect and maintain reports received pursuant to subsection 1; and
 (b) Ensure that the reports, and any additional documents created from the 
reports, are protected adequately from fire, theft, loss, destruction and other 
hazards, and from unauthorized access. 
 4. [A] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, a report
received pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential, not subject to subpoena or 
discovery, and not subject to inspection by the general public. 
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 5. The provisions of this section do not apply to surgical care requiring 
only the administration of oral medication to a patient to relieve the patient's 
anxiety or pain, if the medication is not given in a dosage that is sufficient to 
induce in a patient a controlled state of depressed consciousness or 
unconsciousness similar to general anesthesia, deep sedation or conscious 
sedation.
 6. As used in this section: 
 (a) "Conscious sedation" means a minimally depressed level of 
consciousness, produced by a pharmacologic or nonpharmacologic method, 
or a combination thereof, in which the patient retains the ability 
independently and continuously to maintain an airway and to respond 
appropriately to physical stimulation and verbal commands. 
 (b) "Deep sedation" means a controlled state of depressed consciousness, 
produced by a pharmacologic or nonpharmacologic method, or a 
combination thereof, and accompanied by a partial loss of protective reflexes 
and the inability to respond purposefully to verbal commands. 
 (c) "General anesthesia" means a controlled state of unconsciousness, 
produced by a pharmacologic or nonpharmacologic method, or a 
combination thereof, and accompanied by partial or complete loss of 
protective reflexes and the inability independently to maintain an airway and 
respond purposefully to physical stimulation or verbal commands. 
 (d) "Sentinel event" means an unexpected occurrence involving death or 
serious physical or psychological injury or the risk thereof, including, 
without limitation, any process variation for which a recurrence would carry 
a significant chance of serious adverse outcome. The term includes loss of 
limb or function. 

Sec. 158. NRS 634.212 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 634.212 1. The Board shall keep a record of its proceedings relating to 
licensing and disciplinary actions. Except as otherwise provided in 
NRS 634.214, the records must be open to public inspection at all reasonable 
times and must contain the name, known place of business and residence, and 
the date and number of the license of every chiropractor licensed under this 
chapter. The Board may keep such other records as it deems desirable. 
 2. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection [,] and section 6 of 
this act, all information pertaining to the personal background, medical 
history or financial affairs of an applicant or licensee which the Board 
requires to be furnished to it under this chapter, or which it otherwise obtains, 
is confidential and may be disclosed in whole or in part only as necessary in 
the course of administering this chapter or upon the order of a court of 
competent jurisdiction. The Board may, under procedures established by 
regulation, permit the disclosure of this information to any agent of the 
Federal Government, of another state or of any political subdivision of this 
State who is authorized to receive it. 
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 3. Notice of the disclosure and the contents of the information disclosed 
pursuant to subsection 2 must be given to the applicant or licensee who is the 
subject of that information. 

Sec. 159. NRS 634.214 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 634.214 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of the investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action are confidential and may be disclosed 
in whole or in part only as necessary in the course of administering this 
chapter or to a licensing board or agency or any other governmental agency, 
including, without limitation, a law enforcement agency, that is investigating 
a person who is licensed pursuant to the provisions of this chapter. 
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Board to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Board when determining whether to impose discipline are public records. 

Sec. 160. NRS 634A.185 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 634A.185 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. An order that imposes discipline and the findings of fact and 
conclusions of law supporting that order are public records. 
 4. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 161. NRS 635.158 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 635.158 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 298298
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considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. An order that imposes discipline and the findings of fact and 
conclusions of law supporting that order are public records. 
 4. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 162. NRS 636.107 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 636.107 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action are confidential. 
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Board to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Board when determining whether to impose discipline are public records. 

Sec. 163. NRS 637.085 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 637.085 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, all 
applications for licensure, financial records of the Board and records of 
hearings and any order or decision of the Board or a panel must be open to 
the public. 
 2. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and section 6 of this 
act, the following may be kept confidential: 
 (a) Any statement, evidence, credential or other proof submitted in 
support of or to verify the contents of an application. 
 (b) Any report concerning the fitness of any person to receive or hold a 
license to practice ophthalmic dispensing. 
 (c) Any communication between: 
  (1) The Board and any of its committees or panels; and 
  (2) The Board or its staff, investigators, experts, committees, panels, 
hearing officers, advisory members or consultants and counsel for the Board. 
 (d) Any other information or records in the possession of the Board. 
 3. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and section 6 of this 
act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and other information 
filed with the complaint and all documents and other information compiled 
as a result of an investigation conducted to determine whether to initiate 
disciplinary action against a person are confidential, unless the person 
submits a written statement to the Board requesting that such documents and 
information be made public records. 
 4. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 299299
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 5. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 164. NRS 637A.315 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 637A.315 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 165. NRS 637B.288 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 637B.288 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 166. NRS 638.087 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 638.087 1. The Board shall keep a record of: 
 (a) All charges filed against a licensee; 
 (b) The proceedings of any formal hearing conducted by the Board or a 
hearing officer; 
 (c) Any order filed by the Board; and 300300
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 (d) All licenses issued by the Board including the name of the holder of 
the license, his business address, the date the license was issued and the 
number of the license. 
 2. Except as otherwise provided in this section, the records of the Board 
listed in subsection 1 must be open to the public at reasonable times and 
places.
 3. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and section 6 of this 
act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and other information 
filed with the complaint and all documents and other information compiled 
as a result of an investigation conducted to determine whether to initiate 
disciplinary action against a person are confidential, unless the person 
submits a written statement to the Board requesting that such documents and 
information be made public records. 
 4. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all other documents and 
information considered by the Board when determining whether to impose 
discipline are public records. 
 5. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 167. NRS 638.089 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 638.089 1. Except as provided in this section [,] and section 6 of this 
act, all information received by the Board concerning an applicant for a 
license or a licensee, including the results of an investigation, is confidential. 
 2. If the Board takes disciplinary action against an applicant or licensee, 
the complaint and the action taken are no longer required to be confidential. 
 3. If the Board conducts any proceeding other than a disciplinary action 
regarding an applicant or licensee, its statement of findings and any order 
issued relating thereto are no longer required to be confidential. 
 4. Information concerning an applicant or a licensee may be disclosed, 
pursuant to procedures established by regulation of the Board, to a court or 
an agency of the Federal Government, any state or any political subdivision 
of this State. Notice of the disclosure and the contents of the information 
must be given to the applicant or licensee within 3 business days before the 
disclosure.

Sec. 168. NRS 639.2485 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 639.2485 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, any records or information obtained during the course of 
an investigation by the Board and any record of the investigation are 
confidential.
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Board to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Board when determining whether to impose discipline are public records. 301301
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 3. The Board may disclose to a practitioner and a law enforcement 
agency information concerning a person who procures or attempts to procure 
any dangerous drug or controlled substance in violation of NRS 453.391 or 
454.311.
 4. If the Board receives a request or subpoena for records or information 
obtained during an investigation by the Board and the records or information 
is not made public pursuant to subsection 2, the Board shall notify the person 
regarding whom the investigation was made of the request or subpoena. If 
that person does not consent in writing to the release of the records or 
information, the Board may release the records or information only upon the 
order of a court of competent jurisdiction. 

Sec. 169. NRS 640.075 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 640.075 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.
 4. An order that imposes discipline and the findings of fact and 
conclusions of law supporting that order are public records. 

Sec. 170. NRS 640A.220 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 640A.220 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 302302
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investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 171. NRS 640B.730 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 640B.730 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 172. NRS 640C.400 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 640C.400 1. The Board may issue a license to practice massage 
therapy.
 2. An applicant for a license must: 
 (a) Be at least 18 years of age; 
 (b) Submit to the Board: 
  (1) A completed application on a form prescribed by the Board; 
  (2) The fees prescribed by the Board pursuant to NRS 640C.520; 
  (3) Proof that he has successfully completed a program of massage 
therapy recognized by the Board; 
  (4) A certified statement issued by the licensing authority in each state, 
territory or possession of the United States or the District of Columbia in 
which the applicant is or has been licensed to practice massage therapy 
verifying that: 
   (I) The applicant has not been involved in any disciplinary action 
relating to his license to practice massage therapy; and 
   (II) Disciplinary proceedings relating to his license to practice 
massage therapy are not pending; 
  (5) Except as otherwise provided in NRS 640C.440, a complete set of 
fingerprints and written permission authorizing the Board to forward the 
fingerprints to the Central Repository for Nevada Records of Criminal 
History for submission to the Federal Bureau of Investigation for its report; 
  (6) The names and addresses of five natural persons not related to the 
applicant and not business associates of the applicant who are willing to 
serve as character references; 
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  (7) A statement authorizing the Board or its designee to conduct an 
investigation to determine the accuracy of any statements set forth in the 
application; and 
  (8) If required by the Board, a financial questionnaire; and 
 (c) In addition to any examination required pursuant to NRS 640C.320 
and except as otherwise provided in subsection 3, pass a written examination 
administered by any board that is accredited by the National Commission for 
Certifying Agencies, or its successor organization, to examine massage 
therapists.
 3. If the Board determines that the examinations being administered 
pursuant to paragraph (c) of subsection 2 are inadequately testing the 
knowledge and competency of applicants, the Board shall prepare or cause to 
be prepared its own written examination to test the knowledge and 
competency of applicants. Such an examination must be offered not less than 
four times each year. The location of the examination must alternate between 
Clark County and Washoe County. Upon request, the Board must provide a 
list of approved interpreters at the location of the examination to interpret the 
examination for an applicant who, as determined by the Board, requires an 
interpreter for the examination. 
 4. The Board shall recognize a program of massage therapy that is: 
 (a) Approved by the Commission on Postsecondary Education; or 
 (b) Offered by a public college in this State or any other state. 

 The Board may recognize other programs of massage therapy. 
 5. The Board or its designee shall: 
 (a) Conduct an investigation to determine: 
  (1) The reputation and character of the applicant; 
  (2) The existence and contents of any record of arrests or convictions of 
the applicant; 
  (3) The existence and nature of any pending litigation involving the 
applicant that would affect his suitability for licensure; and 
  (4) The accuracy and completeness of any information submitted to the 
Board by the applicant; 
 (b) If the Board determines that it is unable to conduct a complete 
investigation, require the applicant to submit a financial questionnaire and 
investigate the financial background and each source of funding of the 
applicant;
 (c) Report the results of the investigation of the applicant within the 
period the Board establishes by regulation pursuant to NRS 640C.320; and 
 (d) [Maintain] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
maintain the results of the investigation in a confidential manner for use by 
the Board and its members and employees in carrying out their duties 
pursuant to this chapter. The provisions of this paragraph do not prohibit the 
Board or its members or employees from communicating or cooperating with 
or providing any documents or other information to any other licensing board 

304304

RA370



 APRIL 23, 2007 — DAY 78 649 

or any other federal, state or local agency that is investigating a person, 
including, without limitation, a law enforcement agency. 

Sec. 173. NRS 640C.760 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 640C.760 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action and all documents and information considered by the Board when 
determining whether to impose discipline are public records. 
 3. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other federal, state or local 
agency that is investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law 
enforcement agency. 

Sec. 174. NRS 641.090 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 641.090 1. The Secretary-Treasurer shall make and keep on behalf of 
the Board: 
 (a) A record of all its meetings and proceedings. 
 (b) A record of all violations and prosecutions under the provisions of this 
chapter.
 (c) A record of all examinations of applicants. 
 (d) A register of all licenses. 
 (e) A register of all holders of licenses. 
 (f) An inventory of the property of the Board and of the State in the 
Board's possession. 
 2. These records must be kept in the office of the Board and, except as 
otherwise provided in this section, are subject to public inspection during 
normal working hours upon reasonable notice. 
 3. [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the Board
may keep the personnel records of applicants confidential. 
 4. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and section 6 of this 
act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and other information 
filed with the complaint and all documents and other information compiled 
as a result of an investigation conducted to determine whether to initiate 
disciplinary action against a person are confidential, unless the person 
submits a written statement to the Board requesting that such documents and 
information be made public records. 
 5. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all other documents and 
information considered by the Board when determining whether to impose 
discipline are public records. 305305
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 6. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 175. NRS 641A.191 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 641A.191 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, any records or information obtained during the course of 
an investigation by the Board and any record of the investigation are 
confidential.
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Board to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Board when determining whether to impose discipline are public records. 
 3. This section does not prohibit the Board from communicating or 
cooperating with any other licensing board or agency or any agency which is 
investigating a licensee, including a law enforcement agency. 

Sec. 176. NRS 641B.170 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 641B.170 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, any records or information received by the Board 
relating to a licensee or an applicant for a license [is] are confidential.
 2. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and section 6 of this 
act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and other information 
filed with the complaint and all documents and other information compiled 
as a result of an investigation conducted to determine whether to initiate 
disciplinary action against a person are confidential, unless the person 
submits a written statement to the Board requesting that such documents and 
information be made public records. 
 3. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 4. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 177. NRS 641C.760 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 641C.760 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
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 2. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 178. NRS 642.524 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 642.524 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 179. NRS 643.189 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 643.189 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging document filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 180. NRS 644.446 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
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 644.446 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging document filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 181. NRS 645.625 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 645.625 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Division alleging a violation 
of this chapter, all documents and other information filed with the complaint 
and all documents and other information compiled as a result of an 
investigation conducted to determine whether to initiate disciplinary action 
are confidential. 
 2. A complaint or other document filed with the Commission to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Commission when determining whether to impose discipline are public 
records.

Sec. 182. NRS 645A.082 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 645A.082 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Commissioner, all documents 
and other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of the investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action are confidential. 
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Commissioner to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Commissioner when determining whether to impose discipline are public 
records.

Sec. 183. NRS 645B.092 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 645B.092 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Commissioner, all documents 
and other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action are confidential. 
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Commissioner to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 308308
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Commissioner when determining whether to impose discipline are public 
records.
 3. An order that imposes discipline and the findings of fact and 
conclusions of law supporting that order are public records. 

Sec. 184. NRS 645C.220 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 645C.220 1. The Division shall maintain a record of: 
 (a) Persons whose applications for a certificate, license or registration card 
have been denied; 
 (b) Investigations conducted by it which result in the initiation of formal 
disciplinary proceedings; 
 (c) Formal disciplinary proceedings; and 
 (d) Rulings or decisions upon complaints filed with it. 
 2. Except as otherwise provided in this section and NRS 645C.225, 
records kept in the office of the Division pursuant to this chapter are open to 
the public for inspection pursuant to regulations adopted by the Commission. 
[The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the Division may 
keep confidential, unless otherwise ordered by a court: 
 (a) Examinations for a certificate or license; and 
 (b) The criminal and financial records of an appraiser or intern, or an 
applicant for a certificate, license or registration card. 

Sec. 185. NRS 645C.225 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 645C.225 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Commission, all documents 
and other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action are confidential. 
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Commission to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Commission when determining whether to impose discipline are public 
records.

Sec. 186. NRS 645D.130 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 645D.130 1. The Division shall maintain a record of: 
 (a) Persons from whom it receives applications for a certificate; 
 (b) Investigations conducted by it that result in the initiation of formal 
disciplinary proceedings; 
 (c) Formal disciplinary proceedings; and 
 (d) Rulings or decisions upon complaints filed with it. 
 2. Except as otherwise provided in this section and NRS 645D.135, 
records kept in the office of the Division pursuant to this chapter are open to 
the public for inspection pursuant to regulations adopted by the Division. The 
Division shall keep confidential, except as otherwise provided in section 6 of 
this act or unless otherwise ordered by a court, the criminal and financial 
records of an inspector or of an applicant for a certificate. 

Sec. 187. NRS 645D.135 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
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 645D.135 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Division, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action are confidential. 
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Division to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Division when determining whether to impose discipline are public records. 

Sec. 188. NRS 645E.375 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 645E.375 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Commissioner, all documents 
and other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action are confidential. 
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Commissioner to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Commissioner when determining whether to impose discipline are public 
records.

Sec. 189. NRS 648.033 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 648.033 1. The Board shall maintain a public record of: 
 (a) The business it transacts at its regular and special meetings; and 
 (b) The applications received by it together with the record of the 
disposition of each application. 
 2. [Information] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
information obtained by the Board from other than public sources concerning 
the:
 (a) Financial condition; or 
 (b) Criminal record, 

 of an applicant or a licensee is confidential and may be revealed only to 
the extent necessary for the proper administration of the provisions of this 
chapter.
 3. The Board may release information described in subsection 2 to an 
agency of the Federal Government, of a state or of a political subdivision of 
this State. 
 4. The Board shall adopt by regulation a procedure for notifying the 
applicant or licensee of the release of confidential information pursuant to 
subsections 2 and 3. The Board shall release information described in 
subsection 2 concerning an applicant or licensee to the applicant or licensee 
upon request. 
 5. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and section 6 of this 
act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and other information 
filed with the complaint and all documents and other information compiled 
as a result of an investigation conducted to determine whether to initiate 
disciplinary action against a person are confidential, unless the person 
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submits a written statement to the Board requesting that such documents and 
information be made public records. 
 6. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all other documents and 
information considered by the Board when determining whether to impose 
discipline are public records. 
 7. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 190. NRS 649.067 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 649.067 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Commissioner, all documents 
and other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action are confidential. 
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Commissioner to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Commissioner when determining whether to impose discipline are public 
records.

Sec. 191. NRS 652.228 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 652.228 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action are confidential. 
 2. The complaint or other document filed by the Board to initiate 
disciplinary action and all documents and information considered by the 
Board when determining whether to impose discipline are public records. 
 3. An order that imposes discipline and the findings of fact and 
conclusions of law supporting that order are public records. 

Sec. 192. NRS 654.110 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 654.110 1. In a manner consistent with the provisions of chapter 622A 
of NRS, the Board shall: 
 (a) Develop, impose and enforce standards which must be met by persons 
to receive licenses as nursing facility administrators or administrators of 
residential facilities for groups. The standards must be designed to ensure 
that nursing facility administrators or persons acting as administrators of 
residential facilities for groups will be persons who are of good character and 
otherwise suitable, and who, by training or experience in their respective 
fields of administering health care facilities, are qualified to serve as nursing 
facility administrators or administrators of residential facilities for groups. 
 (b) Develop and apply appropriate techniques, including examinations and 
investigations, for determining whether a person meets those standards. 311311
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 (c) Issue licenses to persons determined, after the application of 
appropriate techniques, to meet those standards. 
 (d) Revoke or suspend licenses previously issued by the Board in any case 
if the person holding the license is determined substantially to have failed to 
conform to the requirements of the standards. 
 (e) Establish and carry out procedures designed to ensure that persons 
licensed as nursing facility administrators or administrators of residential 
facilities for groups will, during any period they serve as such, comply with 
the requirements of the standards. 
 (f) Receive, investigate and take appropriate action with respect to any 
charge or complaint filed with the Board to the effect that any person 
licensed as a nursing facility administrator or an administrator of a residential 
facility for groups has failed to comply with the requirements of the 
standards. The Board shall initiate an investigation of any charge or 
complaint filed with the Board within 30 days after receiving the charge or 
complaint.
 (g) Conduct a continuing study of: 
  (1) Facilities for skilled nursing, facilities for intermediate care and their 
administrators; and 
  (2) Residential facilities for groups and their administrators, 

 with a view to the improvement of the standards imposed for the licensing 
of administrators and of procedures and methods for the enforcement of the 
standards.
 (h) Conduct or approve, or both, a program of training and instruction 
designed to enable all persons to obtain the qualifications necessary to meet 
the standards set by the Board for qualification as a nursing facility 
administrator or an administrator of a residential facility for groups. 
 2. Except as otherwise provided in this section, all records kept by the 
Board, not otherwise privileged or confidential, are public records. 
 3. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and section 6 of this 
act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and other information 
filed with the complaint and all documents and other information compiled 
as a result of an investigation conducted to determine whether to initiate 
disciplinary action against a person are confidential, unless the person 
submits a written statement to the Board requesting that such documents and 
information be made public records. 
 4. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all other documents and 
information considered by the Board when determining whether to impose 
discipline are public records. 
 5. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency. 312312

RA378



 APRIL 23, 2007 — DAY 78 657 

Sec. 193. NRS 656.105 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 656.105 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, a complaint filed with the Board, all documents and 
other information filed with the complaint and all documents and other 
information compiled as a result of an investigation conducted to determine 
whether to initiate disciplinary action against a person are confidential, 
unless the person submits a written statement to the Board requesting that 
such documents and information be made public records. 
 2. The charging documents filed with the Board to initiate disciplinary 
action pursuant to chapter 622A of NRS and all documents and information 
considered by the Board when determining whether to impose discipline are 
public records. 
 3. An order that imposes discipline and the findings of fact and 
conclusions of law supporting that order are public records. 
 4. The provisions of this section do not prohibit the Board from 
communicating or cooperating with or providing any documents or other 
information to any other licensing board or any other agency that is 
investigating a person, including, without limitation, a law enforcement 
agency.

Sec. 194. NRS 671.170 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 671.170 1. The Commissioner may conduct any necessary 
investigations and hearings to determine whether any licensee or other person 
has violated any of the provisions of this chapter or whether any licensee has 
conducted himself in a manner which requires the suspension, revocation or 
denial of renewal of his license. 
 2. In conducting any investigation or hearing pursuant to this chapter, the 
Commissioner, or any person designated by him, may require the attendance 
and testimony of any person and compel the production of all relevant books, 
records, accounts and other documents. The cost of any examination or 
investigation, not to exceed $10 an hour, must be borne by the licensee. 
 3. The Commissioner may require any licensee to submit such reports 
concerning his business as the Commissioner deems necessary for the 
enforcement of this chapter. 
 4. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all reports
of investigations and examinations and other reports rendered pursuant to this 
section, and all correspondence and memoranda relating to or arising 
therefrom, including any authenticated copies thereof in the possession of 
any licensee or the Commissioner, are confidential communications, are not 
subject to any subpoena, and must not be made public unless the 
Commissioner determines that justice and the public advantage will be 
served by their publication. This subsection does not preclude any party to an 
administrative or judicial proceeding from introducing into evidence any 
information or document otherwise available or admissible. 

Sec. 195. NRS 673.430 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
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 673.430 1. Each association doing business in this State shall file 
annually with the Commissioner on or before March 1, a sworn statement in 
two sections. 
 2. One section of the annual report must contain, in such form and detail 
as the Commissioner may prescribe, the following: 
 (a) The amount of authorized capital by classes and the par value of each 
class of stock. 
 (b) A statement of its assets, liabilities and capital accounts as of the 
immediately preceding December 31. 
 (c) Any other facts which the Commissioner requires. 

 This section must be furnished in duplicate, one certified copy to be 
returned for publication at least two times in a newspaper having a general 
circulation in each county in which the association maintains an office. 
Publication must be completed on or before May 1, and proof of publication 
must be filed in the Office of the Commissioner. 
 3. One section of the annual report must contain such other information 
as the Commissioner may require to be furnished. This section need not be 
published and [must] , except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
must be treated as confidential by the Commissioner. 
 4. The Commissioner may impose and collect a fee of not more than $10 
for each day the annual report is overdue. The Commissioner shall adopt 
regulations establishing the amount of the fee that may be imposed pursuant 
to this subsection. Every association shall pay to the Commissioner for 
supervision and examination a fee based on the rate established pursuant to 
NRS 658.101. 
 5. All sums received by the Commissioner pursuant to this section must 
be deposited in the State Treasury pursuant to the provisions of 
NRS 658.091. 

Sec. 196. NRS 679B.152 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 679B.152 1. Every insurer or organization for dental care which pays 
claims on the basis of fees for medical or dental care which are "usual and 
customary" shall submit to the Commissioner a complete description of the 
method it uses to determine those fees. [This] Except as otherwise provided 
in section 6 of this act, this information must be kept confidential by the 
Commissioner. The fees determined by the insurer or organization to be the 
usual and customary fees for that care are subject to the approval of the 
Commissioner as being the usual and customary fees in that locality. The 
provisions of this subsection apply to medical or dental care provided to a 
claimant under any contract of insurance. 
 2. Any contract for group, blanket or individual health insurance and any 
contract issued by a nonprofit hospital, medical or dental service corporation 
or organization for dental care, which provides a plan for dental care to its 
insureds or members which limits their choice of a dentist, under the plan to 
those in a preselected group, must offer its insureds or members the option of 
selecting a plan of benefits which does not restrict the choice of a dentist. 314314
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The selection of that option does not entitle the insured or member to any 
increase in contributions by his employer or other organization toward the 
premium or cost of the optional plan over that contributed under the 
restricted plan. 

Sec. 197. NRS 679B.159 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 679B.159 1. Every insurer, agent, solicitor, broker, administrator or 
other person who has knowledge of a violation of any provision of this Code 
shall promptly report the facts and circumstances pertaining to the violation 
to the Commissioner. 
 2. [If] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, if a person 
who submits information pursuant to subsection 1 so requests, the 
Commissioner shall keep the person's name and the information confidential. 

Sec. 198. NRS 679B.190 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 679B.190 1. The Commissioner shall carefully preserve in the Division 
and in permanent form all papers and records relating to the business and 
transactions of the Division and shall hand them over to his successor in 
office.
 2. Except as otherwise provided in subsections 3 and 5 to 9, inclusive, 
other provisions of this Code and NRS 616B.015, the papers and records 
must be open to public inspection. 
 3. [Any] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, any 
records or information in the possession of the Division related to an 
investigation conducted by the Commissioner [is] are confidential unless: 
 (a) The Commissioner releases, in the manner that he deems appropriate, 
all or any part of the records or information for public inspection after 
determining that the release of the records or information: 
  (1) Will not harm his investigation or the person who is being 
investigated; or 
  (2) Serves the interests of a policyholder, the shareholders of the insurer 
or the public; or 
 (b) A court orders the release of the records or information after 
determining that the production of the records or information will not 
damage any investigation being conducted by the Commissioner. 
 4. The Commissioner may destroy unneeded or obsolete records and 
filings in the Division in accordance with provisions and procedures 
applicable in general to administrative agencies of this State. 
 5. The Commissioner may classify as confidential: 
 (a) Specified records and information obtained from a governmental 
agency; and 
 (b) Documents obtained or received from other sources upon the express 
condition that they remain confidential. 
 6. All information and documents in the possession of the Division or 
any of its employees which are related to cases or matters under investigation 
by the Commissioner or his staff are confidential for the period of the 
investigation and may not be made public unless the Commissioner finds the 315315
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existence of an imminent threat of harm to the safety or welfare of the 
policyholder, shareholders or the public and determines that the interests of 
the policyholder, shareholders or the public will be served by publication 
thereof, in which event he may make a record public or publish all or any 
part of the record in any manner he deems appropriate. 
 7. The Commissioner may classify as confidential the records of a 
consumer or information relating to a consumer to protect the health, welfare 
or safety of the consumer. 
 8. In performing his duties, the Commissioner may: 
 (a) Share documents, materials or other information, including any 
documents, materials or information classified as confidential, with other 
state, federal and international regulatory or law enforcement agencies or 
with the National Association of Insurance Commissioners and its affiliates 
and subsidiaries if the recipient agrees to maintain the confidentiality and 
privileged status of the documents, materials or other information. 
 (b) May receive documents, materials or other information, including any 
documents, materials or information otherwise confidential and privileged, 
from other state, federal and international regulatory or law enforcement 
agencies or from the National Association of Insurance Commissioners and 
its affiliates and subsidiaries, and shall maintain as confidential or privileged 
any document, material or information received with notice or the 
understanding that it is confidential or privileged under the law of the 
jurisdiction from which it was received. 
 (c) Enter into agreements, consistent with this subsection, governing the 
sharing and use of information. 
 9. No waiver of confidentiality or privilege with respect to any 
document, material or information occurs as a result of disclosure to the 
Commissioner under this section or of sharing as authorized under this 
chapter.

Sec. 199. NRS 679B.285 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 679B.285 1. The Commissioner may disclose the content of a report, 
preliminary report, or the results of an examination, or any matter relating 
thereto, to the Division or any agency of any other state or country that 
regulates insurance, or to law enforcement officers of this or any other state, 
or to an agency of the Federal Government at any time, if the agency or 
office receiving the report or matter relating thereto agrees in writing to hold 
it confidential in a manner consistent with this chapter. Access may also be 
granted to the National Association of Insurance Commissioners. 
 2. All working papers, recorded information, documents and copies 
thereof produced by, obtained by or disclosed to the Commissioner or any 
other person in the course of an examination made under this chapter are 
confidential, are not subject to subpoena, and may not be made public by the 
Commissioner or any other person, except as necessary for a hearing or as 
provided in this section and subsection 4 of NRS 679B.282 [.] and section 6 
of this act. A person to whom information is given must agree in writing 316316
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before receiving the information to provide to it the same confidential 
treatment as required by this section, unless the prior written consent of the 
insurer to which it pertains has been obtained. 

Sec. 200. NRS 679B.690 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 679B.690 1. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
all records and other information related to an investigation conducted by the 
Attorney General and the Fraud Control Unit for the prosecution of insurance 
fraud are confidential unless: 
 (a) The Attorney General releases, in such manner as he deems 
appropriate, all or any part of the records or information for public inspection 
after determining that the release of the records or information: 
  (1) Will not harm the investigation or the person who is being 
investigated; or 
  (2) Serves the interests of a policyholder, the shareholders of the insurer 
or the public; or 
 (b) A court orders the release of the records or information after 
determining that the production of the records or information will not 
damage any investigation being conducted by the Fraud Control Unit. 
 2. The Attorney General may classify as confidential specific records and 
other information if the records or other information was obtained from a 
governmental agency or other source upon the express condition that the 
contents would remain confidential. 
 3. All information and documents in the possession of the Attorney 
General and the Fraud Control Unit that are related to cases or matters under 
investigation are confidential for the duration of the investigation and may 
not be made public unless the Attorney General finds the existence of an 
imminent threat of harm to the safety or welfare of the policyholder, 
shareholders or the public and determines that the interests of the 
policyholder, shareholders or the public will be served by publication thereof, 
in which event he may make a record public or publish all or any part of the 
record in any manner he deems appropriate. 

Sec. 201. NRS 680A.270 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 680A.270 1. Each authorized insurer shall annually on or before 
March 1, or within any reasonable extension of time therefor which the 
Commissioner for good cause may have granted on or before that date, file 
with the Commissioner a full and true statement of its financial condition, 
transactions and affairs as of December 31 preceding. The statement must be: 
 (a) In the general form and context of, and require information as called 
for by, an annual statement as is currently in general and customary use in 
the United States for the type of insurer and kinds of insurance to be reported 
upon, with any useful or necessary modification or adaptation thereof, 
supplemented by additional information required by the Commissioner; 
 (b) Prepared in accordance with: 

317317
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  (1) The Annual Statement Instructions for the type of insurer to be 
reported on as adopted by the National Association of Insurance 
Commissioners for the year in which the insurer files the statement; and 
  (2) The Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual adopted by the 
National Association of Insurance Commissioners and effective on 
January 1, 2001, and as amended by the National Association of Insurance 
Commissioners after that date; and 
 (c) Verified by the oath of the insurer's president or vice president and 
secretary or actuary, as applicable, or, in the absence of the foregoing, by 
two other principal officers, or if a reciprocal insurer, by the oath of the 
attorney-in-fact, or its like officers if a corporation. 
 2. The statement of an alien insurer must be verified by its United States 
manager or other officer who is authorized to do so, and may relate only to 
the insurer's transactions and affairs in the United States unless the 
Commissioner requires otherwise. If the Commissioner requires a statement 
as to the insurer's affairs throughout the world, the insurer shall file the 
statement with the Commissioner as soon as reasonably possible. 
 3. The Commissioner may refuse to continue, or may suspend or revoke, 
the certificate of authority of any insurer failing to file its annual statement 
when due. 
 4. At the time of filing, the insurer shall pay the fee for filing its annual 
statement as prescribed by NRS 680B.010. 
 5. The Commissioner may adopt regulations requiring each domestic, 
foreign and alien insurer which is authorized to transact insurance in this 
state to file the insurer's annual statement with the National Association of 
Insurance Commissioners or its successor organization. 
 6. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, all ratios of 
financial analyses and synopses of examinations concerning insurers that are 
submitted to the Division by the National Association of Insurance 
Commissioners' Insurance Regulatory Information System are confidential 
and may not be disclosed by the Division. 

Sec. 202. NRS 681A.440 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 681A.440 1. The Commissioner may refuse to issue a license to act as 
an intermediary if, in his judgment: 
 (a) The applicant, anyone named on the application, or any member, 
principal, officer or director of the applicant, is not trustworthy to act as an 
intermediary;
 (b) Any controlling person of the applicant is not trustworthy to act as an 
intermediary;
 (c) The applicant, a person named on the application, any member, 
principal, officer or director of the applicant or any controlling person of the 
applicant has given cause for the revocation or suspension of a license to act 
as an intermediary; or 
 (d) The applicant, a person named on the application, any member, 
principal, officer or director of the applicant or any controlling person of the 318318
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applicant has failed to comply with any prerequisite for the issuance of a 
license to act as an intermediary. 
 2. Upon receipt of a written request, the Commissioner shall furnish a 
summary of the basis for his refusal to issue a license to act as an 
intermediary. [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the 
summary is confidential. 

Sec. 203. NRS 681B.260 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 681B.260 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section [,] and
section 6 of this act, an opinion, and any other material provided by an 
insurer to the Commissioner in connection therewith, must be kept 
confidential by the Commissioner, is not open to the public, and is not 
subject to subpoena, except for the purpose of defending an action seeking 
damages from any person by reason of any action required by NRS 681B.200 
to 681B.260, inclusive, or by regulation adopted under those sections. 
 2. A memorandum or other material may be released by the 
Commissioner with the written consent of the insurer or to the American 
Academy of Actuaries or its successor organization upon request stating that 
the memorandum or other material is required for the purpose of professional 
disciplinary proceedings and setting forth procedures satisfactory to the 
Commissioner for preserving the confidentiality of the memorandum or other 
material.
 3. If any portion of a confidential memorandum is cited by the insurer in 
its marketing or is cited before any governmental agency other than a state 
commissioner of insurance or is released by an insurer to the public, all 
portions of the memorandum are no longer confidential. 

Sec. 204. NRS 681B.280 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 681B.280 Each insurer shall report to the Commissioner every material 
acquisition or disposition of assets within 15 days after the end of the month 
in which the transaction occurs. The Commissioner shall define by regulation 
what transactions are material, prescribe what information must be reported 
and specify any person to whom a copy must be sent. [Such] Except as 
otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, such a report is confidential and is 
not subject to subpoena. 

Sec. 205. NRS 683A.0873 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 683A.0873 1. Each administrator shall maintain at his principal office 
adequate books and records of all transactions between himself, the insurer 
and the insured. The books and records must be maintained in accordance 
with prudent standards of recordkeeping for insurance and with regulations 
of the Commissioner for a period of 5 years after the transaction to which 
they respectively relate. After the 5-year period, the administrator may 
remove the books and records from the State, store their contents on 
microfilm or return them to the appropriate insurer. 
 2. The Commissioner may examine, audit and inspect books and records 
maintained by an administrator under the provisions of this section to carry 
out the provisions of NRS 679B.230 to 679B.300, inclusive. 319319

RA385



664 JOURNAL OF THE SENATE

 3. The names and addresses of insured persons and any other material 
which is in the books and records of an administrator are confidential except 
as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act and except when used in 
proceedings against the administrator. 
 4. The insurer may inspect and examine all books and records to the 
extent necessary to fulfill all contractual obligations to insured persons, 
subject to restrictions in the written agreement between the insurer and 
administrator.

Sec. 206. NRS 686A.289 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 686A.289 1. Any insurer giving information to the Attorney General, 
the Commissioner or any investigative or law enforcement agency 
concerning an act or omission alleged to be insurance fraud is entitled to 
receive, upon completion of the investigation or prosecution of the insurance 
fraud, whichever occurs later, any relevant information concerning the 
fraudulent activity. 
 2. The Attorney General, the Commissioner or any investigative or law 
enforcement agency receiving information from another person, agency or 
insurer shall: 
 (a) Keep the information confidential and not release the information 
except pursuant to subsection 1 [;] and section 6 of this act;
 (b) Provide information concerning its investigation of the insurance fraud 
to the insurer reporting the fraudulent activity upon the completion of its 
investigation or a criminal prosecution, whichever occurs later; and 
 (c) Provide any documents necessary or allow its employees or agents to 
testify in any action by or against the insurer if the insurer or its insured 
furnished the information for the investigation or a criminal prosecution. 

Sec. 207. NRS 687A.115 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 687A.115 To aid in the detection and prevention of insurer insolvencies: 
 1. The Commissioner may: 
 (a) Notify the insurance commissioners of the other states and territories 
of the United States and of the District of Columbia when he revokes or 
suspends a license, or when he makes any formal order that a company 
restrict its writing of insurance, obtain additional contributions to surplus, 
withdraw from the state or reinsure any part of its business or any other 
account for the security of policyholders or creditors. 
 (b) Report to the Board of Directors any action set forth in paragraph (a) 
and the receipt of a report from another insurance commissioner indicating 
that the action has been taken elsewhere. The report shall contain all 
significant details of the action taken or the report received. 
 (c) Report to the Board of Directors when he has reasonable cause to 
believe from any examination of any member insurer, whether completed or 
in process, that the member insurer may be insolvent or in a financial 
condition hazardous to the interests of policyholders or the public. 
 (d) Furnish to the Board of Directors the early warning tests developed by 
the National Association of Insurance Commissioners. The Board may use 320320
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the information furnished to carry out its duties. [The] Except as otherwise 
provided in section 6 of this act, the report and the information contained 
therein is not a public record and shall be kept confidential by the Board of 
Directors until it is made public by the Commissioner or other lawful 
authority.
 2. The Commissioner may seek the advice and recommendations of the 
Board of Directors concerning any matter affecting his duties and 
responsibilities relating to the financial condition of member insurers and of 
insurers seeking admission to transact business in this state. 
 Sec. 208. NRS 688C.480 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 688C.480 1. [A] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, a 
document or information furnished pursuant to NRS 688C.470 or obtained 
by the Commissioner in an investigation of an actual or suspected violation 
of NRS 688C.450 is confidential and privileged, is not a public record and is 
not subject to discovery or subpoena in a civil action or criminal prosecution. 
 2. Subsection 1 does not prohibit the Commissioner from disclosing 
documents or evidence so furnished or obtained: 
 (a) In an administrative or judicial proceeding to enforce a statute 
administered by him; 
 (b) To another federal, state or local law enforcement or regulatory 
officer, another person involved in the prevention or detection of violations 
of NRS 688C.450, or similar offenses, or the National Association of 
Insurance Commissioners; or 
 (c) To a person engaged in the business of viatical settlements who is 
aggrieved by the violation. 
 3. Disclosure of a document or evidence under subsection 2 does not 
abrogate or modify the privilege covering it under subsection 1. 

Sec. 209. NRS 688C.490 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 688C.490 1. Each licensee under this chapter shall establish and 
maintain protective measures against fraud which are reasonably calculated 
to prevent, detect and assist in the prosecution of violations of 
NRS 688C.450. The Commissioner may order, or a licensee may request and 
the Commissioner may approve, modifications of the measures otherwise 
required under this section, more or less restrictive than those measures, as 
necessary to protect against fraud. Required measures are employment of or 
contracting with investigators and submission of a plan to the Commissioner 
which includes: 
 (a) A description of the procedures for detecting and investigating 
possible violations of NRS 688C.450 and for resolving inconsistencies 
between medical records and applications for insurance; 
 (b) A description of the procedures for reporting possible violations to the 
Commissioner;
 (c) A description of the plan for educating and training underwriters and 
other personnel against fraud; and 
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 (d) A description or chart of the organizational arrangement of the 
personnel responsible for detecting and investigating possible violations of 
NRS 688C.450 and for resolving inconsistencies between medical records 
and applications for insurance. 
 2. [A] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, a plan
submitted to the Commissioner pursuant to subsection 1 is privileged and 
confidential, not a public record and not subject to discovery or subpoena in a 
civil action or criminal prosecution. 

Sec. 210. NRS 692A.117 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 692A.117 1. The Commissioner shall classify as confidential the 
financial statements of a title agent, escrow officer and title insurer and those 
records and information obtained by the Division which: 
 (a) Are obtained from a governmental agency upon the express condition 
that they remain confidential. 
 (b) Consist of information compiled by the Division in the investigation of 
possible violations of this chapter. This paragraph does not limit examination 
by the Legislative Auditor or any other person pursuant to a court order. 
 2. [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, the 
contents of the file for an escrow are confidential and, subject to the rights to 
discover the contents by subpoena or other lawful process, must not be 
disclosed without the express written consent of one party of the escrow 
other than the holder of the escrow. 

Sec. 211. NRS 692C.420 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 692C.420 1. [All] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
all information, documents and copies thereof obtained by or disclosed to the 
Commissioner or any other person in the course of an examination or 
investigation made pursuant to NRS 692C.410, and all information reported 
pursuant to NRS 692C.260 to 692C.350, inclusive, must be given 
confidential treatment and is not subject to subpoena and must not be made 
public by the Commissioner or any other person, except to insurance 
departments of other states, without the prior written consent of the insurer to 
which it pertains unless the Commissioner, after giving the insurer and its 
affiliates who would be affected thereby notice and an opportunity to be 
heard, determines that the interests of policyholders, shareholders or the 
public will be served by the publication thereof, in which event he may 
publish all or any part thereof in any manner as he may deem appropriate. 
 2. The Commissioner or any person who receives any documents, 
materials or other information while acting under the authority of the 
Commissioner must not be permitted or required to testify in a private civil 
action concerning any information, document or copy thereof specified in 
subsection 1. 
 3. The Commissioner may share or receive any information, document or 
copy thereof specified in subsection 1 in accordance with NRS 679B.122. 
The sharing or receipt of the information, document or copy pursuant to this 
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subsection does not waive any applicable privilege or claim of confidentiality 
in the information, document or copy. 

Sec. 212. NRS 693A.480 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 693A.480 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 [,] and
section 6 of this act, all information and documents obtained by or disclosed 
to the Commissioner or any other person in the course of preparing, filing 
and processing an application of a converting mutual, other than information 
and documents distributed to policyholders in connection with the meeting of 
policyholders pursuant to NRS 693A.460 or filed or submitted as evidence in 
connection with the public hearing pursuant to NRS 693A.450, are 
confidential and not subject to subpoena, and must not be made public by the 
Commissioner, the National Association of Insurance Commissioners or any 
other person, except to insurance departments of other states, without the 
prior written consent of the insurer to which such information and documents 
pertain.
 2. If the Commissioner, after giving the insurer and its affiliates who 
would be affected notice and opportunity to be heard, determines that the 
interests of policyholders, shareholders or the public will be best served by 
the publication of such information and documents, the Commissioner may 
publish all or any part thereof in such a manner as he determines appropriate. 

Sec. 213. NRS 693A.615 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 693A.615 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 [,] and
section 6 of this act, all information and documents obtained by or disclosed 
to the Commissioner or any other person in the course of preparing, filing 
and processing an application to reorganize pursuant to NRS 693A.580, other 
than information and documents distributed to policyholders in connection 
with the meeting of policyholders pursuant to NRS 693A.595 or filed or 
submitted as evidence in connection with the public hearing pursuant to 
NRS 693A.585, are confidential and not subject to subpoena, and must not 
be made public by the Commissioner, the National Association of Insurance 
Commissioners or any other person, except to insurance departments of other 
states, without the prior written consent of the insurer to which such 
information and documents pertain. 
 2. If the Commissioner, after giving the insurer and its affiliates who 
would be affected notice and opportunity to be heard, determines that the 
interests of policyholders, shareholders or the public will be best served by 
the publication of such information and documents, the Commissioner may 
publish all or any part thereof in such a manner as he determines appropriate. 

Sec. 214. NRS 696B.550 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 696B.550 1. The Commissioner shall hold all hearings in summary 
proceedings privately unless the insurer requests a public hearing, in which 
case the hearing must be public. 
 2. The court may hold all hearings in summary proceedings and judicial 
reviews thereof privately in chambers, and shall do so on request of the 
insurer proceeded against. 323323
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 3. In all summary proceedings and judicial reviews thereof, all records of 
the insurer, other documents and all Division files and court records and 
papers, so far as they pertain to or are part of the record of the summary 
proceedings, are confidential except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this 
act and except as necessary to obtain compliance therewith, unless the court 
after hearing arguments by the parties in chambers, orders otherwise, or 
unless the insurer requests that the matter be made public. Until the court 
otherwise orders, all papers filed with the clerk of the court must be held by 
him in a confidential file. 
 4. If at any time it appears to the court that any person whose interest is 
or will be substantially affected by an order did not appear at the hearing and 
has not been served, the court may order that notice be given and the 
proceedings be adjourned to give the person an opportunity to appear, on 
such terms as may be reasonable and just. 

Sec. 215. NRS 704B.320 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 704B.320 1. For eligible customers whose loads are in the service 
territory of an electric utility that primarily serves densely populated 
counties, the aggregate amount of energy that all such eligible customers 
purchase from providers of new electric resources before July 1, 2003, must 
not exceed 50 percent of the difference between the existing supply of energy 
generated in this State that is available to the electric utility and the existing 
demand for energy in this State that is consumed by the customers of the 
electric utility, as determined by the Commission. 
 2. An eligible customer that is a nongovernmental commercial or 
industrial end-use customer whose load is in the service territory of an 
electric utility that primarily serves densely populated counties shall not 
purchase energy, capacity or ancillary services from a provider of new 
electric resources unless, as part of the proposed transaction, the eligible 
customer agrees to: 
 (a) Contract with the provider to purchase: 
  (1) An additional amount of energy which is equal to 10 percent of the 
total amount of energy that the eligible customer is purchasing for its own 
use under the proposed transaction and which is purchased at the same price, 
terms and conditions as the energy purchased by the eligible customer for its 
own use; and 
  (2) The capacity and ancillary services associated with the additional 
amount of energy at the same price, terms and conditions as the capacity and 
ancillary services purchased by the eligible customer for its own use; and 
 (b) Offers to assign the rights to the contract to the electric utility for use 
by the remaining customers of the electric utility. 
 3. If an eligible customer is subject to the provisions of subsection 2, the 
eligible customer shall include with its application filed pursuant to 
NRS 704B.310 all information concerning the contract offered to the electric 
utility that is necessary for the Commission to determine whether it is in the 
best interest of the remaining customers of the electric utility for the electric 324324
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utility to accept the rights to the contract. Such information must include, 
without limitation, the amount of the energy and capacity to be purchased 
under the contract, the price of the energy, capacity and ancillary services 
and the duration of the contract. 
 4. Notwithstanding any specific statute to the contrary, information 
concerning the price of the energy, capacity and ancillary services and any 
other terms or conditions of the contract that the Commission determines are 
commercially sensitive: 
 (a) Must not be disclosed by the Commission except to the Regulatory 
Operations Staff of the Commission, the Consumer's Advocate and his staff 
and the electric utility for the purposes of carrying out the provisions of this 
section; and 
 (b) [Shall] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, shall be
deemed to be confidential for all other purposes, and the Commission shall 
take such actions as are necessary to protect the confidentiality of such 
information.
 5. If the Commission determines that the contract: 
 (a) Is not in the best interest of the remaining customers of the electric 
utility, the electric utility shall not accept the rights to the contract, and the 
eligible customer is entitled to all rights to the contract. 
 (b) Is in the best interest of the remaining customers of the electric utility, 
the electric utility shall accept the rights to the contract and the eligible 
customer shall assign all rights to the contract to the electric utility. A 
contract that is assigned to the electric utility pursuant to this paragraph shall 
be deemed to be an approved part of the resource plan of the electric utility 
and a prudent investment, and the electric utility may recover all costs for the 
energy, capacity and ancillary services acquired pursuant to the contract. To 
the extent practicable, the Commission shall take actions to ensure that the 
electric utility uses the energy, capacity and ancillary services acquired 
pursuant to each such contract only for the benefit of the remaining 
customers of the electric utility that are not eligible customers, with a 
preference for the remaining customers of the electric utility that are 
residential customers with small loads. 
 6. The provisions of this section do not exempt the electric utility, in 
whole or in part, from the requirements imposed on the electric utility 
pursuant to NRS 704.7801 to 704.7828, inclusive, to comply with its 
portfolio standard. The Commission shall not take any actions pursuant to 
this section that conflict with or diminish those requirements. 

Sec. 216. NRS 704B.325 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 704B.325 1. An eligible customer that is purchasing energy, capacity 
or ancillary services from a provider of new electric resources may purchase 
energy, capacity or ancillary services from an alternative provider without 
obtaining the approval of the Commission if the terms and conditions of the 
transaction with the alternative provider, other than the price of the energy, 
capacity or ancillary services, conform to the terms and conditions of the 325325
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transaction that was originally approved by the Commission with respect to 
the eligible customer. 
 2. If any terms and conditions of the transaction with the alternative 
provider, other than the price of the energy, capacity or ancillary services, do 
not conform to the terms and conditions of the transaction that was originally 
approved by the Commission with respect to the eligible customer, the 
eligible customer must obtain approval from the Commission before those 
nonconforming terms and conditions are enforceable. 
 3. If the eligible customer files a request with the Commission for 
approval of any nonconforming terms and conditions, the Commission shall 
review and make a determination concerning the request on an expedited 
basis.
 4. Notwithstanding any specific statute to the contrary, information 
concerning any terms and conditions of the transaction with the alternative 
provider that the Commission determines are commercially sensitive: 
 (a) Must not be disclosed by the Commission except to the Regulatory 
Operations Staff of the Commission, the Consumer's Advocate and his staff 
and the affected electric utility for the purposes of carrying out the provisions 
of this section; and 
 (b) [Shall] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, shall be
deemed to be confidential for all other purposes, and the Commission shall 
take such actions as are necessary to protect the confidentiality of such 
information.

Sec. 217. NRS 710.159 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 710.159 1. If, at the primary, general or special election, it is shown 
that a majority of the ballots cast favors the sale or lease of the telephone 
system, the board of county commissioners shall contract with a reputable 
and qualified expert in rural telecommunications to appraise the value of the 
telephone system. [The] Except as otherwise provided in section 6 of this act, 
the appraisal is confidential and must not be disclosed before the completion 
of the sale or lease of the telephone system. 
 2. Upon the return of the appraisal, the board of county commissioners 
shall advertise the sale or lease, for a term of years agreed upon by the board, 
of the telephone system by notice published at least once a week for 
5 consecutive weeks by five weekly insertions a week apart in a newspaper 
published within the county and having a general circulation therein. After 
publication of the first such notice, the board or its authorized representatives 
may enter into negotiations for the sale or lease of the telephone system. If 
the notice is for the sale of the telephone system, the board shall not accept a 
sum less than the amount of the appraisal of the telephone system. If the 
notice is for the lease of the telephone system, the board shall not accept a 
sum less than an amount to realize not less than 7 percent per annum upon 
the value of the telephone system as so appraised. If the telephone system is 
leased, the board shall safeguard the county's interest by demanding a bond 
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for the faithful performance of the covenants contained in the lease. The 
board may reject any and all offers made for such a sale or lease. 
 [Sec. 10.] Sec. 218. 1. [For] Except as otherwise provided in this 
subsection, for the purposes of section 6 of this act, a person may [not] apply 
to a district court [before] on or after October 1, [2017,] 2007, for an order 
directing a governmental entity to allow the person to inspect or copy a 
public book or record, or a part thereof, [regardless of whether] if the public 
book or record [will have] has been in the legal custody or control of a 
governmental entity for a period of [10] 30 years or more [before that] on the 
date [.] of the application. A person may apply to the district court on or after 
October 1, 2007, for an order directing a governmental entity to allow the 
person to inspect or copy a public book or record that pertains to a natural 
person if, on the date of the application, the public book or record has been in 
the legal custody or control of a governmental entity for a period of 30 years 
or more or the natural person has died, whichever is later. 
 2. As used in this section, "governmental entity" has the meaning 
ascribed to it in NRS 239.005, as amended by section 7 of this act. 
 Senator Care moved the adoption of the amendment. 
 Remarks by Senator Care. 
 Amendment adopted. 
 Bill ordered reprinted, engrossed and to third reading. 

 Senate Bill No. 172. 
 Bill read second time. 
 The following amendment was proposed by the Committee on Taxation: 
 Amendment No. 432. 
 "SUMMARY—Proposes to exempt sales of certain durable medical 
equipment, mobility-enhancing equipment , hearing aids and hearing-aid 
accessories from sales and use taxes and analogous taxes. (BDR 32-865)" 
 "AN ACT relating to taxes on retail sales; providing for the submission to 
the voters of the question whether the Sales and Use Tax Act of 1955 should 
be amended to provide an exemption from the tax for certain durable medical 
equipment and mobility-enhancing equipment; providing for the submission 
to the voters of the question whether the Sales and Use Tax Act of 1955 
should be amended to provide an exemption from the tax for hearing aids and 
hearing-aid accessories; providing for such an exemption from certain 
analogous taxes if the voters approve [the] such an amendment to the Sales 
and Use Tax Act of 1955; and providing other matters properly relating 
thereto."
Legislative Counsel's Digest: 
 Existing law creates the Sales and Use Tax Act of 1955, which was 
approved by the voters in a referendum on November 6, 1956. (Chapter 372 
of NRS) Under existing law, if the voters approve a statute or resolution in a 
referendum, the statute or resolution is the law of the State and may not be 
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